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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

For the year ended December 31,

HZ12A3ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20235 20225 20214 20205
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTFR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Revenue A 4,565,434 4,712,107 4,119,478 3473930 2,699,647
Gross profit EF 386,433 414,698 337,352 283,449 186,860
Loss for the year FAEE (361,832)  (246,707) (1,371,764) (3,748,503) (1,042,029)
Loss for the year attributable NEEEA
to owners of the parent EiEENEE (323,736)  (255,768) (1,370,572) (3,740,455) (1,042,781)
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) FRLARER
for the year (R s
RHIFE) (271,913)  (150,095)  (258,682)  (365,084) (258,563
As of December 31,
HZ12A31R8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023% 20225 20214 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total assets BmEE 2,265,292 2815040 2929554 2,892,819 2478598
Total liabilities BeE 1,063,706 1,183,889  1,095422 8,323,729 4,270,245
Equity attributable to owners of VN/NGIETZ=IN
the Company fE{h s 1,225,359 1,618,859 1,836,901  (5,429,224) (1,796,652)
Total equity/(deficits) Exm/ (B4 B8 1,201,586 1,631,151 1,834,132  (5,430,910) (1,791,647)

BRRENFEERAT —S-NEEH 5



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE D

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Company is committed to establishing China’s leading commercial
healthcare payment system and service network for China’s working
population and their families through its unique “health insurance +
healthcare management” one-stop service model.

By leveraging our professional healthcare resource management
capability, robust technology platform, and operation capability
reinforced by data & Al, we connect patients, doctors, healthcare
institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers within China’s
healthcare system to create an industry ecosystem that generates
shared value.

We anchor development in the health insurance services business (the
“Health Insurance Services’)"”® supported by healthcare service
network and pharmaceutical supply chain network built through
physician research assistance (the “Physician Research Assistance”)
business and the specialty pharmacy business (the “Specialty
Pharmacy Business”). This unique model has equipped us with the
capability to deliver healthcare services to our health insurance clients
and has given us a competitive edge over traditional players.

Our Health Insurance Services business provides clients with a
one-stop healthcare solution, which provides employers, their
employees, and their families more comprehensive and advanced
healthcare payment method, as well as flexible and high-quality health
management and healthcare services.

Note: the Chinese name of Health Insurance Services has been changed from “ &

FERBER” to “BEEERBRET” mainly due to market practice in China.
The business substance remains unchanged.
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Compared to peers in health insurance industry, our key advantage
is to integrate exceptional healthcare service expertise and data
capabilities into our insurance solutions, and realise a one-stop
“pharmaceutical-healthcare insurance” service model. Based on
our extensive data and big data model, we tailor the optimal health
insurance and healthcare service solutions for corporate clients. Such
solutions offer full-process service support from design, delivery to
claims. Additionally, backed by robust healthcare service provider
network and the Specialty Pharmacy Business, we offer members
high-quality health management services that cater every need, such
as preventive healthcare, customized premium drug and specialty
drug (including innovative medicine) catalogs, corporate medical room
services, GP service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas
healthcare network, which effectively addresses numerous pain
points faced by corporate clients. With our strengths in data analysis
and actuarial capabilities, we have collaborated with multiple major
insurance companies to jointly develop differentiated and competitive
health insurance plans. As of the end of 2024, we provided professional
services to 476 leading enterprises across various industries
nationwide. Such services covered over 1.1 million members, and the
renewal rate reached approximately 103.5%, which demonstrated that
our clients recognized and trusted in our business capabilities and
values.

Our Physician Research Assistance business is mainly engaged in
SMO business, which supports pharmaceutical companies in their
drug research and development process across all phases of clinical
trials. It also provides our Health Insurance Services business with a
national network of specialized hospitals and healthcare experts. As
of December 31, 2024, we had completed 914 SMO projects and
807 SMO projects were ongoing. Through our excellent professional
services, we are favored by doctors and leading pharmaceutical
companies both at home and abroad, including all of the top ten
listed pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in research and
development of innovative drugs. During the Reporting Period, we
achieved a 100% client retention rate with respect to our top ten SMO
clients.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Our Specialty Pharmacy Business provides specialty pharmacies
and value-added professional pharmacist services, and focuses on
innovative medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical
illnesses. At the same time, it provides a better pharmaceutical supply
chain network for health insurance services to meet their development
needs. As of December 31, 2024, we operated 53 specialty
pharmacies across mainland China, covering major provincial capitals
and economically developed areas. Our specialty pharmacies also
collaborated with payers to establish direct payment mechanisms with
the social health insurance system and major insurance companies,
offering diverse payment solutions to patients.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, guided by the objectives of the 14th Five-Year Plan, the
construction of China’s multi-level health security system is being
accelerated. As a crucial part of a multi-level health security system,
health insurance has constantly attracted higher attention and emphasis
from the government and all sectors of society. The government is
actively working on providing policy support to create more favorable
conditions for the expansion and high-quality development of health
insurance. Against this backdrop, health insurance is gradually evolving
into an important undertaker alongside China’s basic health insurance,
and this trend has become inevitable.

Since 2019, the Company has been continuously exploring and
conducting business in the field of health insurance. Relying on its
unique data platform, abundant healthcare resources, and professional
healthcare service capabilities, the Company has gradually established
remarkable and differentiated competitive advantages, which provides
momentum to the rapid growth of its business. Amid the favorable
shifts in the current industry landscape, the Company is profoundly
aware of the unprecedented development opportunities and believes
that the time is ripe to step into the next stage.

To this end, the Company has decided to leverage its data and Al
capabilities and comprehensively and strategically upgrade itself to
become a leading commercial healthcare payment system and service
platform, in a view to accelerate the achieving profitability through
scaling.
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To achieve this goal, the Company has made adjustment on its
strategies in response to the development needs of the Health
Insurance Services business in a comprehensive manner. On the
one hand, it has concentrated its resources to promote the scale
growth of health insurance business; on the other hand, it has been
committed on building two major support networks, namely the
healthcare service network and the medicine supply chain network,
to continuously enhance the healthcare service delivery capability of
the health insurance business. This strategic initiative aims to create
an ecosystem that deeply integrates health insurance and healthcare
management, and provide customers with more comprehensive and
efficient healthcare services.

The management has decided, after profound study, to reorganize
its resources and organizational structure to restructure and upgrade
the Specialty Pharmacy Business and the Hui Min Insurance business
segment (one of health plan solutions offered by us under the Health
Insurance Services business), in order to further enhance business
synergies and operation efficiency. The Company has initiated the
restructuring process of the Specialty Pharmacy Business at the end
of 2024, aiming to strengthen the drug management capability of
the pharmacy business that supports the health insurance business,
optimize the store layout and accelerate the turnaround of losses. The
restructuring of the Specialty Pharmacy Business will continue during
the year of 2025. At the same time, the Company plans to commence
the restructuring of the Hui Min Insurance business in the year of 2025,
with a focus on optimizing the operational efficiency and profitability of
projects, giving full play to the synergies between the Hui Min Insurance
business and the Health Insurance Services business, and further
enhancing the overall competitiveness of the business.

Meanwhile, the Company persistently promotes overall operation
efficiency. By utilizing digital infrastructure and artificial intelligence tools
to facilitate organizational and process optimization, we pursue better
profitability and strengthened competitiveness in an all-round way,
thereby laying a solid foundation for the Company’s long-term business
development in the future.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

During the Reporting Period, the Company achieved the following key
results in implementing its core development strategies:

1. Constantly refine the “dual-drivers” model to
realize an one-stop “healthcare insurance” service
ecosystem

Since 2019, the Company has strategically expanded its health
insurance business. Through the organic development of our
businesses, we initially established a “dual-drivers” system
featured with “health insurance + healthcare management”. This
model underwent further refinement in 2024. Through our industry
expertise and data analysis, we are able to deeply analyze the
core needs of corporate employees in health management and
healthcare service. By delivering customized integrated solutions
for health insurance and healthcare services, we have realized a
true “healthcare insurance” one-stop service system.

Premium: Healthcare Management Needs and Healthcare Expenses

—

Enterprise Health Insurance
approximately 1.1 Million Members

Municipal Hui Min Insurance @
approximately 14 Million Members

—

Diversified Insurance Schemes and Healthcare Service Options

FE: EEERERNERER

—

FE eSS
W0EEE @

RERES
Medbanks

W ERER @
£1,4008E5

—

ERRIRE BTSRRI R

Note: the above operating data is as of December 31, 2024
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Through full integration of cross-sector healthcare resources
within the group ecosystem, we have transcended traditional
health insurance boundaries, evolving into an ecological chain
nexus that bridges payers, providers, and products. By leveraging
our robust healthcare provider network and pharmaceutical
management capabilities, we are able to offer our members high
quality healthcare management solutions that cater to every
need, including preventive care, licensed drugs list development,
corporate clinic services, general practitioner services, specialist
referrals, telemedicine platforms, and overseas healthcare
networks, effectively addressing critical challenges faced by
corporate clients.

Major items of a typical integrated solution for healthcare
insurance and healthcare management are illustrated as below:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Major services portfolio of the Company are illustrated as below:

Services Portfolio of the Company

ADATNRBAR

Solution Consulting

S

Daily Operations
AREY

AAFEZRBFARTHLLNT :

Supplier Management

HEmEE

Outsourced Benefits Management

Quality Monitoring
BHEEE

Marketing Planning Operation

BAIMER

Through our professional consulting and services, we are able
to assist enterprises, employees, and insurers to achieve better
healthcare expenditure management by proactively prioritizing
preventive health management and value-based healthcare,
thereby forging a multi-stakeholder win-win ecosystem.

For employees of our corporate customers, we deliver
comprehensive health management services and general
healthcare support to precisely address their healthcare
management needs, significantly enhancing their health protection
standards. For corporate employers, our solutions effectively
assist them to control insurance premium costs while reducing
time spent by employees on external healthcare service and
minimizing the rate of labor loss, thereby improving overall
operational efficiency and strengthening employees’ perception
of and satisfaction with corporate welfare. For insurers, our
effective health management reduces their healthcare expenses
and unnecessary healthcare behaviors, which optimizes claim
processing costs, thereby forging a multi-stakeholder win-win
situation.
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As of the end of 2024, we provided professional services to 476
leading enterprises across various industries nationwide, covering
over 1.1 million employees and their families, representing an
increase of approximately 45% as compared to the end of 2023.
Throughout 2024, we operated 39 corporate infirmaries across
the country, with over 120,000 employees Vvisit, representing a
more than threefold increase as compared to the year of 2023.
While continuously expanding the scale of our services, the
premium renewal rate reached to approximately 103.5% in 2024,
demonstrating the recognition of our service value and quality by
enterprises and further consolidating our leading position in the
industry.

Restructure and upgrade the Specialty Pharmacy
Business: focus on the development needs of
health insurance to accelerate the turning of losses
into profits

Starting from the second half of 2023, the management
decided to streamline the medication distribution business
under the Specialty Pharmacy Business, as such business is
no longer in line with the Company’s long-term development
strategies designed based on the “health insurance + healthcare
management” model. Such initiative enabled us to focus more
on enhancing and optimizing the core business and improve
working capital efficiency. As a result, revenue generated from
medication distribution business for the financial year 2024
declined by approximately 58.4% to approximately RMB161.8
million, accounting for only approximately 3.5% of the Group’s
consolidated revenue generated during the Reporting Period.
The core business of the Company, namely the Health Insurance
Services, the Physician Research Assistance and the Specialty
Pharmacy Business (excluding medication distribution business)
generated revenue of approximately RMB4,403.7 million in
aggregate during the Reporting Period, representing an increase
of approximately 1.9% as compared to the year of 2023.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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To further implement the “health insurance+ healthcare
management” strategy, the Company launched a restructuring
and upgrading plan for the Specialty Pharmacy Business in
2024. The aim of this restructuring is to build a healthcare
service support network that caters to more needs to assume
the pharmaceutical supply chain service function within the
commercial insurance business and enhance drug management
capabilities, so as to accelerate the turning of losses into profits.
To achieve this, we actively implemented several initiatives. On
one hand, we optimized the strategic layout of offline pharmacies
by focusing on areas with significant growth potential in the
health insurance market, which covered provincial capitals
and economically developed cities, to promote the service
geographical coverage and capacity of each store. On the other
hand, we accelerated digital transformation by leveraging Al tools
and our data capacity, so as to achieve better operation efficiency
and refined Medication Management. As of December 31, 2024,
the Company operated 53 specialty pharmacies in 40 cities
across mainland China, all of which are provincial capitals and
economic hub cities. The Company will continue this restructuring
project in the first half of 2025. As of the date of this annual
report, this restructuring project was proceeded in line with the
plan. For the financial impact of this restructuring plan in the
financial year 2024, please refer to the section “ Financial Review
— Restructuring Cost” on page 21 of this annual report.

Research and Develop Technologies as well as
Explore the Application of Al

Technology and R&D capabilities are core to our business. We
have developed our technology and digital infrastructure to
enhance our operations and services. By leveraging our expertise
and statistics accumulated from daily operations, our technology
and digital infrastructures effectively support our Specialty
Pharmacy Business, Physician Research Assistance and Health
Insurance Services business, as well as build contacts among
various business segments to provide holistic insights into the
dynamics of the healthcare industry across products, providers
and payers.

We dedicate significant time, attention, and resources to
improving our technology and digital infrastructure. Therefore, we
can strengthen our data processing and analysis capabilities, and
develop new solutions that complement existing ones, aiming
to explore better ways to serve our members, patients, doctors,
pharmaceutical companies, and insurance companies. Our R&D
personnel primarily consists of data engineers, data scientists,
software engineers, technology infrastructure architects, health
management specialists and actuaries.

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

BTE—TERIBEERRRR+ERE
fEEEE IR BiRE - R A R2024F X E) T
SHBE RSB EARTE R E
HEEBER NTEENEERBE I ERN
7 ECEL R AR ZE TS Y B2 O 4 E B IR TS
e IRAZEGREEE S IMRERT
BEE AL BPIEEGHEESZIFE
B — 7 HEBLRTEEEHBME B
ERERBMSERBENANMLE B
ELASPMNEERER T R E/R
RIS FEMARISRE S S — ™ Nk
HES T ER  ABBA T EMEBUER
BE IRFAIBE MR EBA &R EIEK
Fo B £=2024F12H31H  RAEEH
& B N E &R FFEEE S - B 24018,
M AEEWHAMLER LT A
NEHER20255F - FHEHEZEMR
HE HEAFERSAH ZEHE
BERrEIHE - BRZEEATERN
2024 FHBA IS & BR A ARFE R
S EN B ISR - ERK AR E -

Tt 3% B 9l e R R AL BE

Bty K Bt 3% e 0 = B I R AF R =D » IR
PIF%E B & B R B F L BRI
PABR = T APT 0 58 S AR A < B B I A At
B EEEPRINFRMNBE N8R -
BT By M B R B R S AP
BEEXG BEMRAHBHOLEEER
PR R TS 75 B 2 B IR IR P O ST HF
WHE SRR B0 2 S B B A 5 B R 2
BTENER HERERXNTOHEHE
RHEZEAPRR

BARARNERE BHRER UK
Z W APIR BT R B (A BE SR - h0oR
AT BIRERIE o MTRE S - R IR
BRADTREMOHBRTR ARF
KEFHRFRMNEE BE &
HERNTRRRBRAF - HMNHAEAR
TEEEABIREM BEMNER W
T2 Em - Bl S5 SR pe R B A - (2 R
BIEERMIEHEAD-



We are actively exploring the application of Al tools in R&D and
technology. Currently, we have gained access to the DeepSeek
R1 671B large model through Tencent Cloud’s LLM knowledge
engine. This marks a significant milestone in our efforts to apply
Al in commercial health insurance and the healthcare sector,
positioning us as a leader in the innovative transformation of
industry service models.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2025, the Company will continue to advance the restructuring
of its pharmacy and the Hui Min Insurance business. We target to
complete the establishment of a pharmaceutical supply chain support
network for commercial health insurance services, and accelerate the
expansion and penetration of its commercial health insurance business.
Meanwhile, the Group aims to achieve an overall turnaround from
loss to profit through adjusting the structure of business segments,
optimizing layouts, and implementing multiple measures to enhance
quality and efficiency.

Looking at the medium to long term, as China accelerates the
construction of a multi-tiered healthcare security system, more
encouraging and supportive policies are expected to be introduced
to safeguard the industry’s development. The commercial insurance
market and healthcare service system in China are expected to
gradually mature, presenting vast development opportunities for the
Company’s health insurance business.

As a pioneer in the “health insurance + healthcare management”
model, the Company is committed to providing high-quality solutions
for the diverse healthcare needs of the general public. Moving forward,
the Company will continue to optimize its strategic layout by focusing
on the following directions to build a more sophisticated industry
ecosystem:

1. Further advance the integration of “insurance
+ healthcare” to create a one-stop health
management platform

Product innovation: the Company plans to develop more
insurance products that are deeply integrated with health
management services. For example, the Company will customize
insurance and health management plans for those who require
chronic disease management or suffer from sub-healthy
conditions, to meet the diversified needs of customers.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Service upgrade: the Company plans to integrate online and
offline healthcare resources to provide insurance members with
a full-process service ranging from health consultation, disease
prevention, diagnosis and treatment to rehabilitation management,
S0 as to enhance the service experience and value.

Data utilization: the Company plans to utilize big data and artificial
intelligence technologies to build user health profiles, and achieve
accurate risk assessment, personalized health management and
intelligent insurance services.

Strengthen the pharmaceutical supply chain
network and enhance the pharmaceutical
management capabilities to build an online-offline
integrated pharmaceutical service system

Continuously optimize business layout: the Company will focus
on core cities and regions to improve the service capabilities and
accessibility of the pharmaceutical supply chain.

Enhance professional services: the Company will strengthen
the construction of the pharmacist team to provide professional
medication guidance and health consultation services.

Explore new business models: the Company will actively explore
new business models such as online health consultations and
doorstep medicine delivery, to build an integrated pharmaceutical
service system that combines online and offline channels.

Strengthen the application of technology to
improve operation efficiency and service quality

Digital transformation: the Company will continuously promote the
digital and intelligent upgrading of business processes to improve
operation efficiency and reduce costs.

Data platform construction: the Company plans to build a unified
data platform to achieve data interconnection and provide data
support for making business decision.

Artificial intelligence application: the Company will explore the
application of artificial intelligence technology in fields such as
disease prediction, health management, and insurance claims
settlement to improve service efficiency and accuracy.
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Build an industry ecosystem and create value
together with partners

Deeply cooperate with insurance companies: the Company
plans to jointly develop innovative insurance products and share
customer resources to achieve mutual benefit and win-win results
with insurance companies.

Closely cooperate with healthcare institutions: the Company
plans to collaborate with high-quality commercial healthcare
institutions to provide insurance members with better and more
convenient healthcare services such as referrals and online health
consultations.

Cooperate with leading pharmaceutical companies at home and
abroad: the Company plans to share patient data analysis to
achieve precise promotion of drugs. It will also cooperate with
pharmaceutical companies to explore the supply chain service
system for innovative drugs, with an aim to provide patient with
better access and innovative payment solutions.

Jointly seek innovation with technology companies: the Company
will explore the application of technologies such as artificial
intelligence and big data in the healthcare field, with an aim to
promote the digital transformation of the industry.

In conclusion, the Company will continue to adhere to its
“customer-centric” philosophy. Driven by technology and
connected through collaborations, the Company is committed to
creating a China’s leading one-stop health insurance + healthcare
management platform, thus to provide the best healthcare for
China’s working population and their families.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual report.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group realized robust growth in
revenue generated from Health Insurance Services business, strong
uptrend of Physician Research Assistance and a decline in Specialty
Pharmacy Business. The movement in revenue reflected the strategic
shift of the Group to further focus and propel its Health Insurance
Services business. The following table sets forth a breakdown of
revenue by segments and year-on-year growth:

Bt 5[] B
ME

ATalm VERRNFEREEMELIBEEN
RS ER MM YR —BFRIE -

L'ON

REHA $EIE’JFﬁ% S RIRIR RS %

BRAER TRYER BETMEHER
2RBB LIRBE M EEREZH KA
B P T B o U A B B SR BR T AN S B A R S
B E-IREITHPDEHEERRBIR
BEB TREINIRD B E D HOUA K FILE
R

Year-on-year  Year-on-year

2024 2023 Change Change
20245 20234 [F] £t [l L 22 &)
Revenue PN RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARET T ARBT T ARBFTT %
Health Insurance Services BE- LA
Business Ei S 192,958 162,246 30,712 18.9
Physician Research Assistance 88 4 fiff 9T 17 B) 2 75
Business 397,610 361,781 35,829 9.9
Specialty Pharmacy Business — #F Z5 &2 ¥ 7% 3,974,866 4,188,080 (213,214) 5.1
Total KaEt 4,565,434 4,712,107 (146,673) -3.1

Health Insurance Services

Revenue generated from Health Insurance Services business increased
by approximately 18.9% from approximately RMB162.2 million in
2023 to approximately RMB193.0 million in 2024. Meanwhile, revenue
generated from enterprise health insurance business segment under
the Health Insurance Services business upsoared by approximately
39.6% to approximately RMB68.7 million in 2024, mainly attributable to
the vigorous growth in the number of customers and members insured
thanks to our competitive edge in healthcare management capabilities
and successful implementation of business development plans.

18 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

% B R R R R

7 3 B8 B IR PR AR 745 35 755 FT 13 LA FR20234F Y
HAREE162.28 B JTi8 I 4118.9% £20244F
HHANREIGB0EE L R mEBER
BRIRBEEBETHNEERRRERDBAAE
u&m%& 1 #939.6% Z=20244F K 4 A R #68.7
BET T2ZaRERMEBERREER
FERBRFED UK EEESERTE
SRPREERRAZBKIEIE -



Physician Research Assistance

Revenue generated from Physician Research Assistance business
increased by approximately 9.9% from approximately RMB361.8 million
in 2023 to approximately RMB397.6 million in 2024.

Specialty Pharmacy Business

Revenue generated from Specialty Pharmacy Business decreased
by approximately 5.1% from approximately RMB4,188.1 million in
2023 to approximately RMB3,974.9 million in 2024, which was mainly
attributable to the strategic streamlining of medication distribution
business.
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Cost of Sales HE R
Year-on-year  Year-on-year
2024 2023 Change Change
20244 20234 @) £k & At & &)
Cost of sales HER AR RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AR®BTR AR®Tr ARBTT %
Health Insurance Services BE LA
Business EyS 70,687 58,123 12,564 21.6
Physician Research Assistance & 4 fiff 95 177 B) 2 75
Business 276,091 247,164 28,927 11.7
Specialty Pharmacy Business — f B5 & = % 7% 3,832,223 3,092,122 (159,899) -4.0
Total @t 4,179,001 4,297,409 (118,408) 2.8

Cost of sales decreased by approximately 2.8% from approximately
RMB4,297.4 million in 2023 to approximately RMB4,179.0 million in
2024, which was primarily due to the decrease in procurement cost for
medicines relating to the streamlined medication distribution business.
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin ERNRER =R
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Gross Profit Gross Margin Gross Profit ~ Gross Margin
EF EFE EF ESVIES
Gross Profit and Gross Margin =~ £ R ERIR RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T R % AR®FT %
Health Insurance Services Business 78 3% B & (R IR 15 % 7% 122,271 63.4 104,123 64.2
Physician Research Assistance BEMERERR

Business 121,519 30.6 114,617 31.7
Specialty Pharmacy Business SES 142,643 3.6 195,958 47
Total st 386,433 8.5 414,698 8.8

During the Reporting Period, the Health Insurance Services business
exemplified remarkable increase of approximately 17.4% in the gross
profit, and maintained a generous gross margin of approximately
63.4%. Total gross profit in 2023 and 2024 were approximately
RMB414.7 milion and RMB386.4 million, respectively, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 6.8%. Gross margin showed
a slight decrease from approximately 8.8% in 2023 to approximately
8.5% in 2024 mainly due to the decline in gross margin from Specialty
Pharmacy Business.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants, interest
income, gains on financial assets at FVTPL.

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 51.0% from
approximately RMB76.5 million in 2023 to approximately RMB37.5
million in 2024, which was primarily due to decrease in the government
grants and interest income.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of staff costs,
marketing and promotion fees, depreciation and amortization expenses,
travel and business related expense and others.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by approximately 4.8% from
approximately RMB292.3 million in 2023 to approximately RMB278.4
million in 2024, mainly resulting from the efficiency improvement
initiatives related to Specialty Pharmacy Business and Health Insurance
Services business.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses consist primarily of staff costs, consulting and
service fees, travel and business related expense, depreciation and
amortization expenses and others.

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 6.8% from
approximately RMB347.8 million in 2023 to approximately RMB324.0
million in 2024, mainly resulting from the organizational optimization
and improvement of the administrative efficiency.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses primarily consist of staff costs
and outsourcing cost and others. Research and development expenses
decreased by approximately 51.4% from approximately RMB45.9
million in 2023 to approximately RMB22.3 million in 2024, mainly due
to the corresponding optimization in research and development as the
upfront research and development investment has been paid off.

Restructuring Cost

Restructuring cost of approximately RMB22.3 million was primarily
arose from the Specialty Pharmacy Business strategic transformation,
including (1) employee optimization severance cost of approximately
RMB10.5 million; (2) impairment losses of licenses of approximately
RMB8.4 million; and (3) losses on other assets of approximately
RMB3.4 million, including disposal of property, plant and equipment,
termination of lease etc.

Other expenses

Other expenses increased by approximately RMB62.3 million to
approximately RMB99.2 million in 2024, primarily due to (1) increase
in impairment losses on goodwill from previous pharmacy acquisition;
(2) increase in impairment losses of other intangible assets which
were mainly licenses acquired through previous pharmacy acquisition;
and (3) increase in the provision, which pertains to an administrative
investigation in connection with national basic health insurance
schemes that occurred in 2024. The Company is in seek of review of
the case as at the date of this annual report.
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Income Tax

Income tax expense increased by approximately 20.0% from
approximately RMB1.0 million in 2023 to approximately RMB1.2 million
in 2024.

Normalized Net Loss

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also use normalized net
loss, in conjunction with non-IFRS measure, as an additional financial
measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with,
IFRSs. While the Company is going through a strategic shift in business
focus, we believe normalized net loss better reflects the Company’s
ongoing operational results and facilitates comparisons of company to
company by eliminating potential impacts of non-recurring items and
non-operational items. Our presentation of the normalized net loss
should not be construed as an implication that our future results will be
unaffected by unusual or nonrecurring items.

We believe normalized net loss provides useful information to investors
and others in understanding and evaluating our combined results of
operations in the same manner as it helps our management. However,
our presentation of normalized net loss may not be comparable to
similarly titted measures presented by other companies. The use of
normalized net loss has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for an analysis of, our
results of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRSs.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliations of our non-IFRS
financial measures and normalized net loss for the period presented to
the nearest measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, which is loss
for the period indicated:
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2024 2023
20244 2023F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
Normalized net loss: EEFES:
Loss for the year FREE (361,832) (246,707)
Add Y/
Share-based payment compensation PARR A7 B B 7 =2 1+ /0 3 B 67,624 96,612
Including: Selling and marketing expenses BIE HEREHEMAT 4,405 4,647
Administrative expenses THAX 62,492 90,919
Research and development expenses MEMS 727 1,046
Restructuring cost BEHEKAE 22,295 -
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) FRLAZEE (EERB
for the year BB EERTE) (271,913) (150,095)
Add/(deauct) . Cat)
Government grants BN B (2,943) (25,326)
Impairment losses on goodwill HEREEE 34,098 31,281
Impairment losses of other intangible assets Hin B EERERE 5,026 -
Individually assessed credit loss for receivables due EWBEIRH & BERBES
from national social medical insurance fund ZERFHEEEEE 17,348 -
Impact from refunding and potential refunding in HERERABERREFEEH
relation to national basic medical insurance MERRREERRNTE
scheme 46,923 33
Provision for potential administrative penalty BETBUES G 44,385 -
Normalized net loss for the year FREELFEE (127,076) (144,107)

Capital Management

During the Reporting Period, we primarily funded working capital
requirements through capital contributions from our shareholders
including net proceeds from the Global Offering. We monitor and
maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
to finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. Net cash used in operating activities was approximately
RMB59.4 million in 2024.
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, we recorded net current assets of
approximately RMB943.5 million. As at December 31, 2024, the
gearing ratio, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was
approximately 47.0%, as compared with approximately 42.1% as at
December 31, 2023.

As our business develops and expands, we expect to generate net
cash from operating activities, through the sales revenue of our future
commercialized products. Going forward, we foresee our liquidity
requirements will be satisfied by using funds from a combination of
cash on hand and cash generated from operating activities. As of
December 31, 2024, we had cash and selected financial assets of
approximately RMB1,191.9 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Subscription of Wealth Management Products from
China Construction Bank

Sipai Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd. (BER@EEX KR EBR A
7)) (“Sipai Healthcare Investment’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, subscribed for two wealth management products each
with a principle amount of RMB100 million from China Construction
Bank on April 16, 2024 and April 24, 2024 respectively, for treasury
management purpose.

Bixun (Guangdong) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (thifk (ER ) E&&
B AR A F) (“Bixun Guangdong”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company subscribed for a wealth management product with a
principle amount of RMB100 million from China Construction Bank on
July 2, 2024 for treasury management purpose.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had wealth management
products from the China Construction Bank with a fair value of
approximately RMB304.6 million, which accounted for approximately
13.4% of the total assets of the Group. The fair value gain from
such wealth management products during the Reporting Period
was approximately RMB4.6 million. As of December 31, 2024, the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the wealth management
products subscribed from China Construction Bank was RMB300.0
million.
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On January 22, 2025, each of Sipai Healthcare Investment and Bixun
Guangdong redeemed the wealth management products for an amount
of RMB200 million and RMB100 million, respectively.

For details of the above subscription of wealth management products,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated April 24,
2024, July 2, 2024 and January 23, 2025.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, there were
no significant investments, and material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group.

Capital Expenditure
Principal capital expenditures relate primarily to the purchase of office

equipment, softwares as well as leasehold improvements. The following
table sets forth capital expenditures for the periods indicated:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

R2025%F1 F22H  BIREREZERE LB
(BR)ZSBEOSED R A ARK200H &
TR AREI00E B ITHIET EM -

ERLAREBERVMERZFR BF2H84EARQ
7] B Bl B2024 4 A248 20247 A28 &
202551 A23R 2 N e

B EXPIIEEIN RSN AREY &
BEXRE MEEAUBENLENB AR B

BARRSELE-
EXREX
FEAAHS I EEBERATRE B

ARBEMERERR TREIINHATH
AHE ARG :

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AREFT

Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME BELRE 8,464 5,361
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHMEVEE 2,240 388
Total et 10,704 5,749

Currency Risk

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China and
a majority of its transactions were settled in Renminbi, the functional
currency of the Company’s primary subsidiaries. The Group is exposed
to foreign currency risk as a result of certain cash and bank balances
denominated in non-functional currency. We currently do not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Pledge of Assets

The pledged deposits pledged by the Group for letters of credit and
bills payable decreased from approximately RMB147.12 million as
of December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB105.44 million as of
December 31, 2024.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31,
2024.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 3,247 employees, an
increase of 151 employees as compared to December 31, 2023,
primarily due to the business expansion in our Physician Assistance
Service business and Health Insurance Services business. Most of
them are stationed in China. We recruit employees based on a number
of factors, including work experience, educational background and the
requirements of a relevant vacancy. We assess our employees based
on their performance to determine their salary, promotion and career
development.

We enter into standard employment agreements and confidentiality
agreements or clauses with all of our employees. We also enter into
non-compete agreements with senior management and core personnel.
These agreements include a standard non-compete covenant that
prohibits such employee from competing with us, directly or indirectly,
during his or her employment and for a certain period after termination
of his or her employment. We maintain a good working relationship
with our employees, and we have not experienced any material labor
disputes.

We are committed to establishing a competitive and fair remuneration.
In order to effectively motivate our employees, we continually refine
remuneration and incentive policies through market research. We
conduct performance evaluation for our employees at least once a
year to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

Future Investment Plans and Expected Funding

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD & HIEREIE
Repurchase of Shares B8 O] % 19

Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total R EE B A AT REE X O & &
of 3,810,600 Shares with an aggregate consideration of approximately  3,810,6008% J& 15 + 42 ﬁf‘f %) /518,942,460
HK$18,942,460 on the Stock Exchange and held as treasury Shares. It S35 {EEZARD « BRI 2 EHE T
Particulars of the Shares repurchased are as follows:

No. of Shares Aggregate
Repurchased Price Paid per Share Consideration
BORHEEB SRERE REARE

Highest Lowest

=40 &K
Month of Repurchase fBE A 4 (HK$) (HK$) HK$)
(&) (A7) (A7)
January 2025 2025411 1,329,400 5.28 4.62 6,540,142
February 2025 202542 A 2,481,200 514 4.67 12,402,318
Total @t 3,810,600 18,942,460

Subscription of Wealth Management Product fromThe Q& B LBEZHT([ELLR
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation (“HSBC”) 17|) 2B BIE &M

S

On February 24, 2025, the Company had subscribed for a wealth 202542 A24H ' KA 5 C 28 1 ELEFT
management product offered by HSBC with the principal amount of  E &Y IBBf & & - 4N £ 58 /449,500,000 It ©
US$49,500,000. As of the date of this annual report, save as disclosed & ZEARFEEFHRERBE B I XFAHEE I
above, the aggregate amount of outstanding wealth management BEZRITRENRELIETERES %57%
products subscribed from HSBC was US$5,945,222.03. For details, 5,945222.03F% L B @z IEZ 28 A A

please refer to the announcement of the Company dated February 24,  Bi A2025%2 B24H 2 AN

2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the [ EXFIIHEEIN - RAEERESHE K&

Group has no significant events occurred after the Reporting Period B ER&E BB W M3 A E/Em ik Bl 77 %
that require additional disclosure or adjustments. HEAKEIHo
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Mr. MA Xuguang (B /BE) , aged 54, co-founded with Mr. Li Sipai
(Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( BJk (dt ) BERF AR
‘A 7)) (“Sipai Beijing Network”) in March 2014 and the Company in
May 2015, and has been the Director, Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer since then. Mr. Ma was re-designated as the
executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years’ sales & marketing and management
experience in healthcare industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma
served as a district sales manager of Schering-Plough Corporation,
currently a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. (a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, stock code: MRK), from June 1997 to
October 2004. He then joined Schering AG (currently known as Bayer
HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc.), a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), as the
head of sales from August 2004 to September 2012. From January
2013 to March 2014, Mr. Ma served as the chief executive officer of
Guangijijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. ([E#Z M (1L 3)
BEREMRERRAA) .

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’'s degree in clinical medicine from Harbin
Medical University (5 8872 2 £ A E) in July 1994.

Mr. LI Ji (Z4#£) , aged 47, co-founded with Mr. Ma Sipai Beijing
Network in March 2014 and the Company in May 2015. He has been
the Director since August 2015 and President since March 2020. Mr. Li
was re-designated as the executive Director in July 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the district manager of
Schering-Plough (China) Co., Ltd. (5L &M (R ) BRAA]) from
January 2002 to June 2008. Mr. Li served as a regional sales manager
of Bayer (China) Ltd., a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company listed on
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), from June 2008
to March 2010. Mr. Li re-joined Bayer (China) Ltd. and served as a
regional sales manager from February 2011 to December 2012. He
then joined Guangijijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (/& #
EF (dbR) BERIEBR A A]) as the general manager from January
2013 to March 2014.

Mr. Li graduated from the Shanxi Medical University ( 11 75 8& %} A £2)
in July 2000, majoring in medical image. He then received his MBA
degree from the Beijing Jiaotong University (1t 32 @K 2) in January
2011.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. YAO Leiwen (k& X) , aged 43, joined the Group in October
2019 and has served as the Director since then. He was re-designated
as a non-executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Yao was an associate at Deutsche Bank from February 2005 to
August 2008 and an investment director at Shenzhen Mindray Bio-
Medical Electronics Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to June 2011. Mr. Yao
has been the non-executive director of Kingsoft Corporation Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3888) since August 2022 and a non-executive director of TUHU Car
Inc. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 9690) since October 2019. He has served as a Vice General
Manager of Tencent Investment Department of Tencent since June
2011.

Mr. Yao received his baohelor’s degree in Economic Information
Management (£& % {5 B8 2 ) and master’s degree in finance from
University of International Business and Economics ( ¥ 7h 48 % &
S KE)in July 2002 and July 2005, respectively. He obtained his
master’s degree in Business Administration from Institut Européen
D’administration des Affaires (INSEAD) in France in 2010.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. FAN Xin (32fiX) , aged 46, has served as the chief financial officer
of Bilibili Inc. (Nasdag: BILI; HKEX: 9626) since September 2017 and its
vice president of finance since April 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Fan served
as a finance director at NetEase, Inc. (Nasdag: NTES; HKEX: 9999)
from 2011 to 2016. Prior to 2011, Mr. Fan held various positions at
KPMG Huazhen for an aggregate of eight years and served as a senior
manager there from 2008 to 2011. Mr. Fan served as an independent
director of MicroPort NeuroScientific Corporation (HKEX: 2172) since
June 2024.

Mr. Fan received his bachelor’s degree in international accounting
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2001. Mr. Fan
is a regular member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a certified public accountant in China. He also holds
licenses as chartered global management accountant and chartered
certified accountant in the United Kingdom.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEE

Mr. HE Haijian ({01 #), aged 43, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from
the Listing Date).

Mr. He has been the chief financial officer and executive director of
Kingsoft Cloud Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Nasdag,
stock code: KC and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3896) since January 2020 and December 2022
respectively. Mr. He served as an executive director in the corporate
finance department at Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC from September
2015 to January 2020. Mr. He was an associate at Bank of America
Merrill Lynch from May 2014 to September 2015, and a vice president
at Citigroup Global Markets Inc. from October 2010 to May 2013.

Mr. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in information system from
Southeast University (R K2 ) in June 2003, a master’'s degree
in electromagnetic field and microwave technology from Southeast
University in April 2006, and received an MBA from University of
Chicago in March 2014. Mr. He is also a CFA charter holder.

Ms. HUANG Bei (Z7%£) , aged 47, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from the Listing
Date).

Ms. Huang served as a vice president of Fidelity Ventures in Shanghai
office from November 2011 to February 2015. She has served as the
president of Bonre Orthopedics Hospital Group Co., Ltd. (& &I &
br & B BX 5 B R A 7)) since March 2015.

Ms. Huang received her bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from
Zhejiang University in June 2000, her master’s degree in engineering
from University of Michigan-Ann Arbor in the United States in
December 2004, and her MBA degree from University of Pennsylvania
in the United States in June 2009.

Other Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules

Save as disclosed in this annual report, each of our Directors confirms
with respect to himself or herself, to the best of his or her knowledge,
information and belief, that as of the date of this annual report, (1) he or
she did not hold other long positions or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares, debentures of our Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO); (2) he or she
had no other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders of our Company; (3) he or she did not hold
any other directorships in the last three years in any public companies
whose securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
and/or overseas; and (4) there were no other matters concerning his
or her appointment that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders and the Stock Exchange or shall be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Each of our Director confirms that he or she does not have any
interest in a business, apart from the business of our Company,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our
business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na ({E#8) , aged 47, was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company in July 2021. Ms. Ren joined in
the Group in July 2020 and has served as the general counsel since
then.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Ren worked in the legal department of
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. (fi/NFEBEBRAF]), a subsidiary
of CPMC Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0906)) from May 2010 to October
2011. From November 2011 to November 2014, Ms. Ren served as
the group legal manager of PAIG (China) Automobile Investment Co.,
Ltd. (ZE 5 (PE)/FELEAFR AT . She then served as a legal
specialist of ZhongAn Online P & C Insurance Co., Ltd. ( R & E &5
ERBIRMDABRAET), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6060), from March 2017 to July 2020.

Ms. Ren obtained her bachelor’s degree in international economic law
from East China University of Political Science and Law ( R BUA KX
E) in July 2000 and master’s degree in international and transnational
law from Chicago-Kent College of Law, lllinois Institute of Technology in
the United States in May 2016.

Ms. LI Ching Yi (Z&18) , has been appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on March 13, 2023. Ms. Li is a senior
manager of the Listed & Fiduciary Corporate Services Department of
Trident Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services
firm. She has over 10 years of professional experience in company
secretarial field. She is currently the company secretary of Yadong
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1795), and a joint company
secretary of Laopu Gold Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 6181), Yidu Tech Inc.
(stock code: 2158), Pop Mart International Group Limited (stock code:
9992), Acotec Scientific Holdings Limited (stock code: 6669) and 3D
Medicines Inc. (stock code: 1244), all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). She obtained a bachelor’s degree in social
sciences in October 2011 from Lingnan University in Hong Kong and a
master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate governance
in July 2015 from City University of Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is committed to establishing China’s leading commercial
healthcare payment system and service network for China’s working
population and their families through its unique “health insurance +
healthcare management” one-stop service model.

Our Health Insurance Services business provides clients with a
one-stop healthcare solution, which provides employers, their
employees, and their families more comprehensive and advanced
healthcare payment method, as well as flexible and high-quality health
management and healthcare services.

Compared to peers in health insurance industry, our key advantage
is to integrate exceptional healthcare service expertise and data
capabilities into our insurance solutions, and realise a one-stop
“pharmaceutical-healthcare insurance” service model. Based on
our extensive data and big data model, we tailor the optimal health
insurance and healthcare service solutions for corporate clients. Such
solutions offer full-process service support from design, delivery to
claims. Additionally, backed by robust healthcare service provider
network and the Specialty Pharmacy Business, we offer members
high-quality health management services that cater every need, such
as preventive healthcare, customized premium drug and specialty
drug (including innovative medicine) catalogs, corporate medical room
services, GP service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas
healthcare network, which effectively addresses numerous pain
points faced by corporate clients. With our strengths in data analysis
and actuarial capabilities, we have collaborated with multiple major
insurance companies to jointly develop differentiated and competitive
health insurance plans.

32 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

EETTMAREEREERARDFEH £2024
F12A318 It FE MK EZE HI R -

FEXRK

RABANRNBEBB TN [HEERRR+EE
&fﬁi’gﬁj—JS‘EHW%&’*”%EPIFKE’JE
FERERARTPEELNBERECERS
11 88 Z B AR A% 4R4%

B EmEEERRIRGSESEAERFIRME
—BANBERERERIIR BEEX
HEBMRAREEZ2E FLEMNEERS
HAER UEREE BENREREEEREER
7 o

HEEREMEERROBTHEL HMAEZ
?ﬁﬁ’]lﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁ’] S AR5 BE 1 A EK
EHEERENEAERARRT RS BHRT —
uh = [ @@1%}%%%@@01&1[13%%?(%%
BRARANSBBEAELERZ REXEFPE
5 EBIRECR R FE B R IRREBE R REE
BHR BREEDRE XMNFEENER
T2 ARG SR o AR - AR T PTI98 R R0 BE R AR 7%
HERRENHSEEEXE HMAEER
HerunsndB8RREEE BEEH
R BEERNSE(BEANE) BT
%IJ CEBRERY 2MEBLERE EXE
2 BLBRRSINEEERE DERRT
CEEPNEZ R - BRELMERE RS
EEEENTHNES RMACESZREIE
rERARAEE KARETAFBZE(CHEF
N BRI E &



Our Physician Research Assistance business is mainly engaged in
SMO business, which supports pharmaceutical companies in their drug
research and development process across all phases of clinical trials.
It also provides our Health Insurance Services business with a national
network of specialized hospitals and healthcare experts. Through our
excellent professional services, we are favored by doctors and leading
pharmaceutical companies both at home and abroad, including all of
the top ten listed pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in
research and development of innovative drugs.

Our Specialty Pharmacy Business provides specialty pharmacies
and value-added professional pharmacist services, and focuses on
innovative medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical
ilnesses. At the same time, it provides a better pharmaceutical supply
chain network for health insurance services to meet their development
needs. Our specialty pharmacies also collaborated with payers to
establish direct payment mechanisms with the social health insurance
system and major insurance companies, offering diverse payment
solutions to patients.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 192 to 314 of
this annual report.
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DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no dividends have been
paid or declared by the Company.

The Company intends to retain most, if not all, of the Company’s
available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and
growth of the Company’s business and has not yet adopted a dividend
policy to declare or pay any dividends in the near future.

The Board has discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject
to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law and the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), namely
that the Company may only pay dividends either out of profits or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may
a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being unable
to pay its debts at they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In addition, our Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a
dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by
our Board. Even if our Board decides to declare and pay dividends,
the timing, amount and form of future dividends, if any, will depend on,
among other things, our future results of operations and cash flow, our
capital requirements and surplus, the amount of distributions, if any,
received by us from our subsidiary, our financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board of
directors.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Friday, June 20, 2025.
The notice of the AGM will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
June 17, 2025 to Friday, June 20, 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. The record date
for entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Friday, June 20, 2024.
In order to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM, all completed
transfers forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, MUFG Corporate Markets Pty Limited (formerly known
as Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited), at Suite 1601, 16/
F, Central Tower, 28 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong Central no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 16, 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as well as the outlook of the Group’s
business are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 27 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced the Group can be found throughout this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred after December 31, 2024, if any, can also be found in the
notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by
reference to financial key performance indicators and environmental
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, are provided in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Each of
the above-mentioned relevant contents form an integral part of this
Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business of the Group involves certain risks as set out in the
section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus. The following list is a
summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
some of which are beyond its control.

° its ability to manage the growth of business and operations or
implement business strategies;

° its ability to properly manage, create values or maintain a
symbiotic ecosystem for various participants in the healthcare
industry, including patients, doctors, medical institutions,
pharmaceutical companies and payers;

o its ability to adopt new technologies or adapt our products or
services to changing customers’ requirements or emerging
industry standards, and our efforts to invest in the development of
new technologies may be unsuccessful or ineffective;

° its ability to maintain compliance with data protection and
privacy-related laws and regulations;

° its ability to obtain and maintain the requisite licenses, permits
and approvals applicable to its business;

° all material aspects of its research and development activities;
and

° risks relating to industry, business and operations.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of,
or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG governance
and strives to integrate the concept of sustainable development
with the overall corporate development strategy. It has established a
top-down ESG governance structure with clear responsibilities. The
Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the overall ESG
objectives, management strategies and management approaches,
including identifying, evaluating, prioritizing and managing material ESG-
related issues. The Group conducted its first materiality assessment
on ESG issues during the Reporting Period and prioritized the
management and improvement of material issues. The Board reviewed
and confirmed the outcomes of the materiality assessment, considered
material issues as part of the formulation of the Group’s overall strategy
and oversaw the management and performance of these issues.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2024 is set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section in this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the Reporting Period are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of any
related party transactions which also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions not fully exempted under Rule
14A.73 of the Listing Rules are disclosed below. Unless otherwise
stated, capitalized terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those used in the Prospectus.

Payment Services Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a payment services framework agreement
dated December 6, 2022 with Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems
Company Limited ORJI AT E# XS AR 2 7l) (“Tencent
Computer”) (the “Payment Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Tencent Group will provide the Group with payment
services through its payment channel to enable the members of the
Group to pay their insurance premiums for the health insurance plans
on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment channel. The Group
collects such insurance premiums on behalf of insurance carriers and
pay a withdrawal fee to Tencent Group. This connected transactions
is also a related party transaction, which is disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by Tencent Group is calculated as a
percentage of the total insurance premiums collected and withdrawn
by the Group on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment
channel. Such pre-determined fee rates are published on the website
of Tencent’s subsidiary providing such payment services which also
applies to other third parties, and are generally comparable with those
offered by Tencent Group’s competitors for services of a similar nature
and volume. The service fee rate currently applicable to the Group is
0.60%.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Payment
Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess its business
needs and compare the terms (including the service fee rate) proposed
by Tencent Group with those offered by other comparable service
providers. The Group will also take into account () the synergy with
its online platform such as its Weixin official account, (i) the quality
and stability of such payment services, and (iii) the familiarity with its
business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees charged by Tencent Group for the
payment services for the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted
to RMB12.5 million. Upon the expiration of the Payment Services
Framework Agreement on December 31, 2024 and as of the date of
this annual report, parties were still in negotiation about the renewal
of the Payment Service Framework Agreement (the “Renewal’), the
Company will make further announcement(s) on the progress of the
Renewal in compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
and applicable laws, as and when appropriate.

Health Management Services Framework Agreement

Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a health management services framework
agreement dated December 6, 2022 with Medpion Cayman (the
“Health Management Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Excluded Group will provide the Group with
health management services for the individual members enrolled in
the Enterprise Health Plans, including physical and mental health
consultation. The Group has offered such health management services
as part of the promotion efforts for its Enterprise Health Plans. Individual
members enrolled in the Enterprise Health Plans will have free access
to such health management services provided by the Excluded Group
as and when necessary during the term of the Enterprise Health Plans.
This connected transactions is also a related party transaction, which
is disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by the Excluded Group is calculated based
on arm’s length negotiation between the Group and Excluded Group
with reference to the fees charged by other market players for similar
services. The Group historically paid, approximately RMB500 to the
Excluded Group for each individual member enrolled in its Enterprise
Health Plans who consumes such health management services.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Health
Management Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess
its business needs and compare the terms (including the service fee)
proposed by the Excluded Group with those offered by other service
providers for comparable services. The Group will also take into
account (i) the quality and stability of such health management services,
and (i) the familiarity with its business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees payable by the Group for the
health management services for the year ended December 31, 2024
amounted to RMB28.0 million. Upon the expiration of the Health
Management Services Framework Agreement on December 31, 2024,
parties agreed to not to renew the agreement due to commercial
consideration.
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Contractual Arrangements

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the
Company conducts online insurance brokerage service as part its
Health Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China. As of the date of this annual report, the Company
indirectly held 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, but effectively control the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
are able to derive substantially all of their economic benefits through
contractual arrangements.

On December 7, 20283, the Board announced that, in view of the
current requirements on the ownership of the operation of commercial
internet information services under relevant PRC laws and regulations,
for the purpose of satisfying the “narrowly tailored” requirement
under the Chapter 4.1 under the Guide for New Listing Applicants to
achieve the business and operation purposes of the Company under
the current PRC regulatory framework so as to minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Company adopted
the New Contractual Arrangements to replace the Existing Contractual
Arrangements through steps of 1) shareholding adjustment of Sipai
Beijing Network and the Transitional Contractual Arrangements; 2)
capital injection by Sipai Healthcare Investment; and 3) reproduction of
the Existing Contractual Arrangements.

In light of the above, (i) the Existing Contractual Arrangements were
terminated with effect from December 7, 2023; (ii) the Transitional
Contractual Arrangements were entered into on substantially the
same terms as those currently in place under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements with effect from December 7, 2023; (i) RMB1.08 million
were injected from Beijing Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd. (£ &
IR ER AT AR A A]) to Sipai Beiing Network and acquired 50% of
the increased registered capital of Sipai Beijing Network; and (iv) the
New Contractual Arrangements were entered into on substantially the
same terms as those currently in place under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements concurrently with effect from the termination of the
Transitional Contractual Arrangements.
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As a result, Sipai Beijing Network was owned as to approximately
27.69%, 22.31% and 50% by Mr. Ma, Mr. Li and Beijing Sipai Health,
respectively. As a result of the New Contractual Arrangements, the
Company is interested in 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through Sipai Healthcare Investment’s equity interest in
Sipai Beijing Network and obtain control of the rest 50% of the equity
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through Sipai Healthcare
Investment’s contractual rights and, at its sole discretion, is able to
receive all the economic interest returns generated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Since the New Contractual Arrangements are reproductions of the
Existing Contractual Arrangements as provided under the conditions
of the VIE Waiver, the Company has sought the confirmation from the
Stock Exchange, and the Stock Exchange has confirmed, that the
transactions contemplated under the New Contractual Arrangements
shall continue to fall within the scope of the VIE Waiver and are exempt
from (i) the announcement, circular and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the transactions contemplated under the New Contractual
Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (i) the
requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the
New Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules,
and (i) the requirement of limiting the term of the New Contractual
Arrangements to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing
Rules, for so long as its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
subject to compliance with the same conditions of the VIE Waiver.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
December 7, 2023 and December 28, 2023. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalised terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined
in the announcement dated December 7, 2023.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Group under the
New Contractual Arrangements:

The Company
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“—»" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest.

“----»” denotes contractual relationship. Under the New Contractual
Arrangements, Sipai Healthcare Investment shall provide technical services
to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
shall pay service fees to Sipai Healthcare Investment directly.

————— ” denotes the control by Sipai Healthcare Investment over the registered
shareholders through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights
in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) exclusive options to acquire
all or part of the equity interests in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and (jii) equity pledges over the equity interests in each of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are the certain risks that are associated with the New Contractual
Arrangements, including:
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If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, the Company could
be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification of
the New Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of its
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

The Company relies on New Contractual Arrangements with the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their shareholders for a portion
of its business operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

The ultimate shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
may have conflicts of interest with the Company.

The New Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities.

The Company does not have any insurance which covers the

risks relating to the New Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.
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° The Group’s current corporate structure and business operations
may be affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 7, 2023.

Summary of the Material Terms of the New Contractual
Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment and Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries entered into an exclusive business cooperation agreement
on December 29, 2023 (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”), pursuant to which Sipai Beijing Network has engaged
Sipai Healthcare Investment as the exclusive provider to provide Sipai
Beijing Network and its subsidiaries with comprehensive technical
service, technical consulting and other services, including operation
and business support, technical service, network support, business
consulting, financial consulting, intellectual property licensing, property
lease, market consulting, product research and development, system
maintenance, management consulting and other related services as
requested by Sipai Beijing Network and its subsidiaries to the extent
permitted under PRC laws.

Without the Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Sipai
Beijing Network shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, (i)
receive services which are identical or similar to the services covered
by the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement from any third party,
or (i) enter into any similar cooperation with any third party.

In consideration of the services provided by Sipai Healthcare
Investment, Sipai Beijing Network shall pay services fees to Sipai
Healthcare Investment, which, subject to Sipai Healthcare Investment’s
adjustment at its sole discretion, shall consist of all the consolidated net
profit of Sipai Beijing Network and its subsidiaries (net of accumulated
deficit in the previous financial years (if any), costs, expenses, taxes and
payments required by the applicable laws to be reserved or withheld).
The service fees shall be paid annually by Sipai Beijing Network.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall become effective
upon signing and remain effective until, among other things, Sipai
Healthcare Investment or its designee acquire all the equity interest in
and/or all assets of Sipai Beijing Network pursuant to the Exclusive
Purchase Option Agreement below. Sipai Beijing Network shall not
unilaterally terminate the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.
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Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries (if applicable), Mr. Ma and Mr. Li entered into an exclusive
purchase option agreement on December 29, 2023 (the “Exclusive
Purchase Option Agreement”), pursuant to which Sipai Beijing
Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li have granted Sipai Healthcare Investment
or its designee an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at any
time and to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i)
from each of Mr. Ma and Mr. Li all or any part of their equity interests in
Sipai Beijing Network and/or (i) from Sipai Beijing Network all or any of
its assets or interests in any of its assets.

Without Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Sipai
Beijing Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li shall not sell, transfer, pledge or
otherwise dispose of the shares or assets with a value of more than
RMB1 million (as the case may be) of Sipai Beijing Network.

The purchase price payable by Sipai Healthcare Investment or its
designee in respect of the transfer of shares or assets shall be the
nominal value or the lowest price permitted under the PRC laws,
and Mr. Ma and Mr. Li shall return the purchase price in full to Sipai
Healthcare Investment or its designee to the extent permitted under the
PRC laws applicable then.

The Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement shall become effective upon
signing and remain effective until that (i) Sipai Healthcare Investment or
its designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets of Sipai
Beijing Network; and (i) Sipai Healthcare Investment and its subsidiaries
are permitted to carry out the business of Sipai Beijing Network under
the applicable PRC laws. Sipai Beijing Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li shall
not unilaterally terminate the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement.
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Equity Pledge Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries (if applicable), Mr. Ma and Mr. Li entered into an equity
pledge agreement on December 29, 2023 (the “Equity Pledge
Agreement”), pursuant to which, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li has pledged
all of their respective equity interests in Sipai Beijing Network to
Sipai Healthcare Investment as the first priority security to guarantee
performance of their contractual obligations under the New Contractual
Arrangements and all liabilities, monetary debts or other payment
obligations arising out of or in relation with the New Contractual
Arrangements.

Without Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li shall not transfer or otherwise dispose of all or part of the
pledged shares.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the
Equity Pledge Agreement), unless it is successfully resolved to Sipai
Healthcare Investment’s satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified
by Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Healthcare Investment may
exercise its right of pledge at any time, including (i) requesting Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li or Sipai Beijing Network to pay Sipai Healthcare Investment
any due payments, debt or any other payment under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement and/or any loan, or (ii) dispose
the pledged equity interests in accordance with the Equity Pledge
Agreement or otherwise as permitted under PRC laws, including selling
the pledged equity interests at discount or by way of auction. Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li have agreed to irrevocably waive their pre-emptive right as
existing shareholders when Sipai Healthcare Investment exercises such
right of pledge.

The Equity Pledge Agreement shall become effective upon signing
and remain effective until, among other things, (i) all obligations of
Sipai Beijing Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li are satisfied in full, or (i) Sipai
Healthcare Investment or its designee acquire all the equity interest
in and/or all assets of Sipai Beijing Network, and Sipai Healthcare
Investment and its designees are permitted to carry out the business of
Sipai Beijing Network under the applicable PRC laws.

The Company has registered the pledge of all the equity interests
in Sipai Beijing Network with the relevant administration for market
regulation of the PRC.
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Voting Proxy Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries (if applicable), Mr. Ma and Mr. Li entered into a voting proxy
agreement on December 29, 2023 (the “Voting Proxy Agreement’),
pursuant to which Mr. Ma and Mr. Li have appointed Sipai Healthcare
Investment and/or its designee as their exclusive agent and attorney to
act on their behalf on all matters concerning Sipai Beijing Network and
to exercise all of their rights as shareholders of Sipai Beijing Network.

Without Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li shall not exercise any rights attached to the shares of
Sipai Beijing Network which have been authorized to Sipai Healthcare
Investment or its designee.

As a result of the Voting Proxy Agreement, the Company, through
Sipai Healthcare Investment, will be able to exercise management
control over the activities that most significantly impact the economic
performance of Sipai Beijing Network and its subsidiaries.

The Voting Proxy Agreement shall become effective upon signing
and remain effective until, among other things, (i) Sipai Healthcare
Investment or its designees acquire all the equity interest in and/or all
assets of Sipai Beijing Network, and (i) Sipai Healthcare Investment and
its designees are permitted to carry out the business of Sipai Beijing
Network under the applicable PRC laws.

Spouse Consents

The spouse of each of Mr. Ma and Mr. Li has executed a consent
letter, pursuant to which she has unconditionally and irrevocably agreed
to the execution of the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the
Equity Pledge Agreement and the Voting Proxy Agreement, and has no
objection regarding the New Contractual Arrangements.
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The spouse of each of Mr. Ma and Mr. Li further agrees that (i) any
equity interests held by her spouse as a registered shareholder in Sipai
Beijing Network are not their communal properties; (i) he/she does
not have any interest in the equity interests of Sipai Beijing Network,
and will not raise any claim on the equity interest of Sipai Beijing
Network; (iii) she will not take any measures that are in conflict with the
New Contractual Arrangements; and (iv) she will take any necessary
measures to procure the performance of the relevant agreements
underlying the New Contractual Arrangements.

The Foreign Investment Law

On March 15, 2019, the NPC promulgated the Foreign Investment
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {fF#E AR LFBE SN E
7&) ) (the “FIL”) and replaced effective on January 1, 2020. After the
FIL comes into effect, the FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures ( (RINE B E L) ), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures ( {4MNE EAL & 2 3%) ) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises ( {(#N&E13£%) ) and became the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC.

The FIL stipulates three forms of foreign investment, but does not
explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign
investment. The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. The FIL does not
mention concepts including “de facto control” and “controlling through
contractual arrangements” nor does it specify the regulation on
controlling through contractual arrangements. Furthermore, the FIL
stipulates that foreign investment includes “Foreign Investors invest
in China through many other methods under laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council”. There
are possibilities that future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions promulgated by the State Council may regard Contractual
Arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which time it will be
uncertain whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how the
above-mentioned Contractual Arrangements will be handled. Therefore,
there is no guarantee that the Contractual Arrangements and the
business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will not be materially
and adversely affected in the future due to changes in PRC laws and
regulations. In the event that such measures are not complied with, the
Stock Exchange may take enforcement actions against us which may
have a material adverse effect on the trading of the Shares.
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Reasons for Adopting the New Contractual
Arrangements

The Company conducts online insurance brokerage service (the
“Relevant Service”) as part of its Health Insurance Services business.
The Company currently operates the Relevant Service through the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities as PRC laws currently restrict foreign
ownership of value-added telecommunications service providers.

As a result of the restrictions imposed by PRC laws, the Company is
unable to directly own or hold more than 50% of equity interest in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the term ‘ownership’ or
the relevant concept, as applied to the Company in this annual report,
refers to an economic interest in the assets or businesses through the
New Contractual Arrangements without holding any equity interest in
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The New Contractual Arrangements,
through which the Company is able to exercise control over and derive
the economic benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, are
narrowly tailored to achieve its business purpose and minimize the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws.

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List)
for Foreign Investment Access (2021 Edition) (4} & & A4 Bl
EEE (BMESE) (2021), the “Negative List”), provision of
value-added telecommunications services falls within the “restricted”
category. As such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor
in companies engaged in value-added telecommunications services
(other than electronic commerce, domestic multi-party communication,
storage-forwarding and call center) shall not exceed 50%. In addition,
pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Internet Information
Services (BBt {z B IR & B #t)%, the “Administrative
Measures”), a provider of “commercial internet information services”
(2T B E B IR, namely provision of information or
website-design services through the internet to internet-users for a fee)
is required to obtain an ICP license.
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The online insurance brokerage service of the Company involves
operation of commercial internet information services under the
Administrative Measures, such as online exhibition and sales of
insurance products, online information search and online claim initiation.
Such commercial internet information services is a sub-category of
value-added telecommunications services under the Negative List and
is therefore subject to foreign ownership restrictions and an ICP license
is required.

In addition to the foreign ownership restrictions above, pursuant
to the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (2016 Revision) (98 & & = 1
¥ B T (20161&%]) , the “FITE Regulations”) which has been
further amended by the Order No. 752 below, a “major foreign investor”
(i.e., a foreign investor who contributes more than 30% of the foreign
investment and is the largest investor among all the foreign investors)
who invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in, and a proven track record of good
performance of, operating value-added telecormmunications businesses
(the “Qualification Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet
these requirements must obtain approvals from the MIIT which retain
discretion in granting such approvals.

On April 7, 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to Amend and
Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations ( B 7585 B8 7AM& 24 Fl EE | F 26
DITBUERRARE, the “Order No. 752”), which among other things,
removed the Qualification Requirements with effect from May 1, 2022.

The Group’s online insurance brokerage service is conducted by Sipai
Beijing Network and Beijing Sipai Brokerage each of which holds an
ICP license.
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The Company discussed with its PRC legal adviser to understand
the current ownership requirements in relation to the operation of
commercial internet information services and recent market practice.
As advised by the PRC legal adviser, in respect of the ownership
requirements in relation to the ICP licenses held by relevant subsidiaries
of Sipai Beijing Network, currently there is no legal impediment for Sipai
Healthcare Investment to directly hold no more than 50% of the equity
interest in Sipai Beijing Network.

In light of the new guidance that the Company received above, in
view of the current requirements on the ownership of the operation of
commercial internet information services under relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company considered that a new VIE structure in which
Sipai Healthcare Investment directly holds 50% of the equity interest in
Sipai Beijing Network while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li holds the rest 27.69%
and 22.31%, respectively, has become more appropriate for the
purpose of satisfying the “narrowly tailored” requirement under Chapter
4.1 under the Guide for New Listing Applicants to achieve its business
and operation purposes under the current PRC regulatory framework
so as to minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced during
the Reporting Period. There was no material change in the New
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the New Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound on the basis that none of
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the New Contractual
Arrangements had been removed. As of December 31, 2023, our
Company had not encountered interference or encumbrance from
any PRC governing bodies in operating its businesses through
its Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the New Contractual
Arrangements.
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The table below set out the annual caps and the actual transaction
amount of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions for

the year ended December 31, 2024
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2024 31, 2024
Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
B Z20245F
B Z20245F 12A31A8 Lk
12A31H 1t FEH
EENFELR ERRZEH
HEXZ BEAL BEREZ k] (AE¥BER) (ARBEER)
Payment Services Tencent Computer ~ Tencent Computerisa  Tencent Group will provide 12.5 4.26
Framework Agreement subsidiary of Tencent,  the Group with payment
one of the substantial  services through its
Shareholders payment channel to
enable the members of
the Group to pay their
insurance premiums for
the health insurance plans
on the platform of the
Group through Tencent
payment channel.
SN PRBIER T = M E BAAERARAN RBASESBRAHINE
MEAR B BRATEEREZMAR
FEREZ— B EREENEEEH
BBEANIARER
AEENTS FHHERE

BRI B RIRE
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2024 31, 2024
Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
HZ2025
H22024% 12A31A L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR ERRZ¢H
BERS HEAL BEREZ Bk (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
Health Management Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman is the  The Excluded Group will 28 0
Services Framework holding company of provide the Group with
Agreement the Excluded Group. health management
As the shareholding services for the individual
structure of members enrolled in
Medpion Cayman the Enterprise Health
substantially mirrored ~ Plans, including physical
the Company’s and mental health
shareholding consultation.
structure before
Series F financing
(including the
Founders and other
major Shareholders),
the Company will
voluntarily treat
Medpion Cayman as
its connected person.
BEEERBIERGZ Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman & ZIBEEE St M
HEEENZERR rEREERBEENE
] ° f # Medpion AEEMAEERER
Cayman M EZERE  REERE 2EHLE
ABBTTARLAE R#EH-
FiRal & < RIE AR IR
Rig (BFEIBAR
HEARR) AR
7)1 B B2 £ Medpion
Cayman 1% A E i
At

52 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEERE
Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2024 31,2024
Connected Transaction ~ Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
HZ204%F
220245 12A31A L
12A318 L FEM
FENFELR BERXZEE
HERS BEAT BEREZ Bkl (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
New Contractual Mr. MA Xuguang ~ Each of Due to regulatory restrictions N/A N/A
Arrangements Mr. LI Ji Mr. MA Xuguang on foreign ownership
and Mr. LI Jiis an in China, the Company
executive Director of conducts online insurance
the Company brokerage service as part
of its Health Insurance
Services business through
the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China.
ManRH SIRELE SREEERZELE P EHMNERAEN NEM @R
FlgsE HRARTHITESE  EERE AARARBE

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the

PENGAHEERRN
REBBRBELRE
ERABZERRRR
BERBH D

BUFNTEZCBH LAKERERS

above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed RSB :
that the transactions had been entered into:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (1) REAEBRER—REBHBEFREIL:

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and Q) I REEERIEEBRRET L &

REREZEX SN HRZATFEER
A PR BB N 2R A R FRAT AL

(38) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are (3
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.
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The auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the above mentioned continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The auditors of the Group had informed the Board and confirmed
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the listed issuer’s board of directors;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the listed issuer’s group if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the listed issuer’s group;

(8)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.

In respect of each of the above-mentioned non-exempt connected
transactions, we have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted us, a waiver from strict compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, there was no connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction of the Group which has to be
disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules, save for the foregoing.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last
five financial years are set out on page 5 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 3,247 employees in total.
Most of them are stationed in China.

The Company enters into standard employment agreements and
confidentiality agreements or clauses with all of its employees. The
Company also enters into non-compete agreements with its senior
management and core personnel. These agreements include a
standard non-compete covenant that prohibits such employee from
competing with the Company, directly or indirectly, during his or her
employment and for a certain period after termination of his or her
employment.

The Company is committed to establishing a competitive and
fair remuneration. In order to effectively motivate its employees,
the Company continually refines its remuneration and incentive
policies through market research. The Company conducts conduct
performance evaluation for our employees at least once a year
to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for its
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

The Company believes that it has maintained good working
relationships with its employees. During the year ended December
31, 2024, the Company was not subject to any material claims,
lawsuits, penalties or administrative actions relating to non-compliance
with occupational health and safety laws or regulations, and had not
experienced any strikes, labor disputes or industrial actions which have
had a material effect on its business.

Major Customers

The Company has a broad base of customers. Its top customers are
pharmaceutical companies for the Specialty Pharmacy Business and
Physician Research Assistance business, and insurance carriers for the
Health Insurance Services business. The Specialty Pharmacy Business
customers consist of individual patients that purchase medicines
at the specialty pharmacies, and pharmaceutical distributors and
pharmaceutical companies that procure medication from Guangdong
Dahui. During the Reporting Period, a substantial portion of the
Specialty Pharmacy Business revenue was generated by medication
retail sales to individual patients.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers accounted for approximately 4.59% of the
Group’s total sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 1.91%.

So far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or executive
officers of the Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates
or any Shareholders of the Company holding more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company immediately following the
completion of the Global Offering, had any interests in any of the five
largest customers during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report.

Major Suppliers

The top suppliers of the Company are primarily pharmaceutical
manufacturers and distributors for the Specialty Pharmacy Business.
Suppliers of the Health Insurance Services business are mainly
companies providing business promotion and fee processing services
to the Company. Since the Group provides professional services by
itself in the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
does not need third party suppliers. We typically had more than three
years of collaboration with our medication suppliers.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 34.89% of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 17.81%.

All of the five largest suppliers during the year ended December 31,
2024 are Independent Third Parties. So far as the Directors are aware,
none of the Directors or executive officers of the Company or its
subsidiaries, their respective associates or any Shareholders of the
Company holding more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company immediately following the completion of the Global Offering,
had any interests in any of the five largest suppliers during the year
ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2024, the issued share capital of the Company
was 764,182,114 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2024 are set out on pages 196 to 197 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any distributable
reserves.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group didn’t have any unsecured bank loan as at December 31,
2024 (2023: RMB2 million). Details of the bank loan are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of
25% as required under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:

BhRBEERE
HBERMASFASHEEZNTEEREESL
BEENG BEARAR AR HIRIIRE
&% R B &S AR D ©

EENGHNEERE
HE2024F12A31B L FEMNBEEAFRA
B ARNREENSRERBENWT

Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term
" E R DT 2B RESHNZEEAH
Directors
B=
Mr. MA Xuguang Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer May 19, 2015
BEELE WITES ESEIFEREFNITE 201557 19H
Mr. LI Ji Executive Director and President August 17, 2015
XSk HITESRAH 20158 A17H
Mr. YAO Leiwen Non-executive Director October 29, 2019
kA EMITES 20199F10H29H
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi  Independent Non-executive Director July 30, 2021
(3R, alias R B EMITES (effective from the
&) (resigned on May Listing Date)
21,2024) 2021%7H30H (H
CHANG Stanley Vi (3& T BEERER)
i Rl BREE) &
(/‘b"é2024¢5ﬁ 21H
BEE)
Mr. FAN Xin Independent Non-executive Director May 10, 2023
BRESE BYIFITES 2023458108
Mr. HE Haijian Independent Non-executive Director July 30, 2021
gL E BN IEHITES (effective from the
Listing Date)
202147 H30A (A
T BEERER)
Ms. HUANG Bei Independent Non-executive Director July 30, 2021
mEXL BN IEHITES (effective from the
Listing Date)
202147 H30A (A
T BEHERER)
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Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term
A RAR B 2B RETHNEEEH
Senior management

BREEE

Mr. MA Xuguang Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer May 2015
SIBESE EEgXIERAEBHITE 2015454

Mr. LI Ji President August 2015
UL B 201548 A

To the best of the Board’s knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management
do not have any relationship amongst them.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 28 to 31 of this annual report.

WEF AR B NS BRAFRATE
BENEEZNSRERE ZHIL BT
&e

EELRAEREENBEFBIENAFRE
28%31H °
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company under which they agreed to act as an executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing
served by either the executive Directors or the Company.

The non-executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive Director for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing served by
either the non-executive Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30
days’ notice in writing served by either the independent non-executive
Director or the Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement
and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and
remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company
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EEERE

R2024F 128318 AR R EE R ESITH
ABRARQR S HEAMEE A (EER F
FREIEEH) EXVED) G - BRERD &
BEEEPHEERE GBHERBEKR) EXV
HETRSDEHE MG AR F) KB R FTHE S
KAR (BIERE (BHEEPEGEG) NERH
BEXHEES R BHERNERLAR) IR
B (BHERBEED) E3B258 8N EFE
MELMAOER AR  RIRBIZETR S
THEARAR R ATHES OB IT

RS2 R AT K M BE IR 42 Ay e

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (EERATREN
EEng B, REmME HERAAZY BMAOT D (%)
Mr. MA Xuguang (“Mr. Ma”)®® Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 (L) 12.69%
interest held jointly with another person
BEELEE (TBxE]) REZIEEE R R
HE—ZATHERBENER
Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. LI")?® Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 (L) 12.69%

interest held jointly with another person

TS E ([FRE]) Y RSB MRS

A B AT HEHANER

Notes:

(1)  As at December 31, 2024, the Company had issued 764,182,114 Shares in
total. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  On August 5, 2021, Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS
LIMITED (“Wise Approach”), CREATIVE PIONEER INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(“Creative Pioneer”) and Sail Far Holdings Limited (“Sail Far”) entered into
a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted in concert in the
management, decision-making and all major decisions of the Group. On
December 7, 2023, the Company announced that each of Wise Approach,
Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is no longer intended to be bound by the
concert party agreement, while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li will continue to be bound
by the concert party agreement acting in concert with each other in the
management and operation of the Group.

(1) M2024%F12A318 * A QA H317764,182,114
BRE& (5 - TR L] I8 A TRRD LT A -

@ M2021FE8HAH B A FHx 4L
WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS LIMITED
([Wise Approach |) - CREATIVE PIONEER
INVESTMENTS LIMITED ( [ Creative Pioneer |)
J% Sail Far Holdings Limited ([Sail Far])&] 32
—HTEHHE UERARSEEAERNER
AREMPTE BARRE R —HITE) - 2023512
A7H ARG E i - Wise Approach - Creative
Pioneer } Sail Far & B N B X —SIT8) A TR
PR MELEERTEERBBEIEAEEN
f@%%ﬁﬁé%@ﬂP?Bilit—ﬁlﬁibﬁ’ﬂ—ﬁlﬁib/\i%
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Lucky Seven Healthcare Co., Ltd. (“Lucky Seven”) beneficially owns
57,000,000 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated in the BVI. As of the date of this annual report, Lucky Seven was
owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul International Holdings Limited (the
“Simul”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93%
by Salutem Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia Investment Holdings
Limited (“Hygeia”), both of which are the holding companies pursuant to the
family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Simul and
Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession Limited (“Spire-succession”) beneficially owns 40,000,000
Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI. As of the date of this annual report, Spire-succession was
owned as to approximately 0.0002% by Shining-succession Limited
(“Shining-succession”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in
BVI of Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession Holdings Limited
(“Sper-succession”), a holding company pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Li,
respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Shining-succession and Mr. Li
is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Spire-succession.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, the following persons (not being
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (EERATREN
BRRMEE BB 54 ERMtE HERAEH"Y BMOEDH(%)"
Mr. Ma®@ ¥ Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 12.69%
55 2 A OO interest held jointly with another
person
REEEE R
HE-ATHRAFEOEZR
M, Li©&He) Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 12.69%
2= 5 4 OO interest held jointly with another
person
REEEE R
HE—-ATHRAZFEOEZR
Wise Approach® Beneficial owner 40,410,926 5.29%
EREEA
Lucky Seven® Beneficial owner 57,000,000 7.46%

BEaBAA
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Total number

Approximate
percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (AR DTREN
BRME AR 20 £-3:3-1 HEROGAHY BMOB D (%)"
Simul® Interest in controlled corporation 57,000,000 7.46%
REIEEE R ER
Spire-succession® Beneficial owner 40,000,000 5.23%
EmEAA
Shining-succession® Interest in controlled corporation 40,000,000 5.23%
REIEEE R R
Tencent Mobility Limited® Beneficial owner 168,266,382 22.02%
(“Tencent Mobility”) BEDEAA
TPP Follow-on | Holding H Limited®  Beneficial owner 40,852,974 5.35%
(“TPP Follow-on”) EmEBA
Tencent® Interest in controlled corporation 209,119,356 27.37%
R REIEEE R R
Eight Roads Investments" Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 68,231,737 8.93%
corporation B
EanfEn NXEAE#ER
Cliff Trail LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.01%
REEEE R R
Crow Lane Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.01%
MEREEENER
Eight Roads Management Limited"” Intqest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.01%
REIEEE R R
Eight Roads Holdings L.P. ” Interest in controlled corporation 68,231,737 8.93%
REEEE R R
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 68,231,737 8.93%
REIEEE N #ER
Pandanus Partners L.P” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.01%

NEIEE R
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (AR DTREN
BERME EB B EmtE HERGEHY MAOED (%)
Pandanus Associates Inc.” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.01%
REIEEE R ER
Impresa Fund IIl Limited Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 69,191,196 9.05%
Partnership” corporation
Enfs RXIEEEN#ER
Impresa Management LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.07%
MREEEE N ER
Abigail P. Johnson” Intqest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.07%
R EEBE N ER
Edward C. Johnson V" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.07%
MREEEE N ER
FMR LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.07%
R EEBE N ER
Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang® Interest in controlled corporation 38,982,854 5.10%
BEEEEY MREEEE N ER
Jeneration Group Limited Intqest in controlled corporation 38,982,854 5.10%
R EEB N ER
Ms. Leung Catherine Ho Yan Interest of spouse 38,982,854 5.10%
ARt [iRg
Purple Panther Intgest in controlled corporation 38,982,854 5.10%
REIEEE N R
ARK Trust (Hong Kong) Limited Trustee 40,410,926 5.29%
2EEA
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All interests stated are long positions.

The table above assumes the Preferred Shares will be automatically converted
into Ordinary Shares of par value US$0.0001 each upon completion of the
Global Offering.

On December 7, 2023, the Company announced that each of Wise
Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is no longer intended to be bound
by the concert party agreement, while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li will continue to be
bound by the concert party agreement acting in concert with each other in
the management and operation of the Group.

Lucky Seven beneficially owns 57,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Lucky Seven was owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul,
a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93% by Salutem
Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia, both of which are the holding
companies pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under
the SFO, each of Simul and Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity
interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession beneficially owns 40,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Spire-succession was owned as to approximately 0.0002%
by Shining-succession, a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of
Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession, a holding company pursuant
to the family trust of Mr. Li, respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of
Shining-succession and Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the equity interest
held by Spire-succession.

Tencent Mobility beneficially owns 168,266,382 Shares of the Company and
is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent. TPP Follow-on beneficially
owns 40,852,974 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which is controlled by
Tencent. As such, under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in the
equity interest held by each of Tencent Mobility and TPP Follow-on.
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Eight Roads Investments directly holds 28,752,315 Shares. In addition, it has
more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures lll L.P.,, ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP as a limited
partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Eight Roads Investments is deemed to
be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held by Asia Ventures Il L.P,
12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and 11,843,827
Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP
respectively.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is the sole shareholder of Eight Roads
Investments. In addition, Eight Roads GP is indirectly wholly owned by Eight
Roads Holdings Limited and Eight Roads GP is the general partner of Asia
Partners Il LP and ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP. Therefore, under the
SFO, Eight Roads Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 334,952
Shares directly held by Asia Partners Ill LP, 286,849 Shares directly held
by ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP and 68,231,737 Shares in which Eight
Roads Investments is interested.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is owned as to more than one-third by Eight
Roads Shareholdings Limited and Pandanus Partners L.P., whose general
partner is Pandanus Associates Inc. Therefore, under the SFO, each of
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited, Pandanus Partners L.P. and Pandanus
Associates Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Eight Roads
Holdings Limited is interested.

Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership directly holds 29,711,774 Shares. In
addition, it has more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures Il L.P,
ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV
LP as a limited partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa Fund Il Limited
Partnership is deemed to be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held
by Asia Ventures Ill L.P., 12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and 11,843,827 Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners
Healthcare Fund IV LP respectively.
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Eight Roads Investments B # 5 428,752,3150%
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1M Eight Roads GP % Asia Partners Ill LP & ERVC
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Impresa Management LLC is the general partner of Impresa Fund Ill Limited
Partnership. Therefore, under the SFO, it is deemed to be interested in
the 69,191,196 Shares in which Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership is
interested. In addition, Impresa Management LLC is the managing member
of Impresa Holdings LLC, which is the general partner of F-Prime Capital
Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa
Management LLC is also deemed to be interested in the 133,243 Shares
directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP.

Impresa Management LLC is controlled (as defined under the SFO) by each
of Abigail P. Johnson and Edward C. Johnson IV and owned, directly or
indirectly, by various shareholders and employees of FMR LLC. Therefore,
each of Abigail P. Johnson, Edward C. Johnson IV and FMR LLC is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Impresa Management LLC is
interested.

JenCap RX and JenCap RX Partners L.P. beneficially owns 13,581,724 and
24,065,391 Shares of the Company.

JenCap RX, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands, is wholly owned by
Jeneration Capital Partners Il L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership of
which Jeneration Capital GP Il is the general partner. As such, under the SFO,
Jeneration Capital GP Il is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held
by JenCap RX. Jeneration Capital GP Il is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy
Ching-Hsin Chang. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is
deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX. JenCap RX
Partners L.P. is a Cayman Islands limited partnership of which JenCap RX GP
is the general partner. As such, under the SFO, JenCap RX GP is deemed to
be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX Partners L.P. JenCap
RX GP is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang. As such,
under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is deemed to be interested in
the equity interest held by JenCap RX Partners L.P.

Purple Panther, a company incorporated in Cayman lIslands, is owned by
Jeneration Group Limited, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands.
Jeneration Group Limited is owned by, including JenCap RX and JenCap RX
Partners L.P..

Ms. Catherine Ho Yan Leung is the spouse of Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Catherine Ho Yan Leung is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required
to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no issuance of debentures
was made by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors or their
associates had any interests in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, save for the transactions
as set out above and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
for which the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no other related party
transactions listed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed
in this annual report, the Group had not entered into any connected
transaction which was required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the Group
conducts online insurance brokerage service as part of its Health
Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
in China. As of the date of this annual report, the Company indirectly
held 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
but effectively control the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and are able
to derive substantially all of their economic benefits through the New
Contractual Arrangements.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions — Contractual Arrangements” in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or an entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract which is significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisting during the year ended December 31, 2024 or at
the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for disclosed on this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company, or one of its subsidiary
companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended December 31, 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2024
between the Company and a person other than a Director or any
person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its
associated companies during the year ended December 31, 2024 as
at the date of this annual report.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the
date of this annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the
Company or associated companies.
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STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
relevant Director’'s experience and qualifications, level of responsibility,
performance and the time devoted to the business of the Group, and
the prevailing market conditions.

In compliance with the relevant PRC labor laws, the Group enters into
individual employment contracts with its employees covering matters
such as terms, wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety,
confidentiality obligations, non-competition and grounds for termination.
The remuneration package of its employees includes salary and bonus,
which are generally based on their qualifications, industry experience,
position and performance. The Company considers the remuneration
package of its employees to be competitive among our domestic
competitors. The Company, by itself or through third-party human
resource agencies, make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds for its employees as required by the applicable PRC
laws and regulations, and did not have any material non-compliance in
this regard during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee was set up for
reviewing the Group’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended December 31, 2024. are set out in note
10 and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:
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The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band
for the year ended December 31, 2024

TRITEE2024F 128318 ILFEESRE
1 B IR &0 B 20 H N -

Emoluments bands in D#ET ([HExl]) Number of Individuals
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$) S B 2 B 0 AR
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7t £2,500,000/% 7© 2
SHARE SCHEMES Iz 5t &l

2017 Plan 2017 5+ &l

The Company has adopted the amended and restated 2017 global
share plan (the “2017 Plan”).

The purpose of 2017 Plan is to attract and retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide additional
incentives to selected employees, Directors, and consultants and
to promote the success of our Company’s business. The 2017
Plan permits the grant of options and share purchase rights as the
Administrator may determine.

The participants of 2017 Plan include employees, directors or
consultants of our Group. The administrator may, from time to time,
select from among all eligible individuals to whom awards in the form of
options, share purchase rights, will be granted and will determine the
nature and amount of each option.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under
the 2017 Plan shall be determined by meetings of Shareholders of
the Company from time to time. The Company did not and will not
grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing. The Shares may be
authorized but unissued or reacquired Shares. The number of Shares
that are subject to awards outstanding under the 2017 Plan at any
time shall not exceed the aggregate number of Shares that then remain
available for issuance under the 2017 Plan. The Company, during the
term of the 2017 Plan, shall at all times reserve and keep available
sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements of outstanding awards
granted under the 2017 Plan.

The 2017 Plan commenced on January 5, 2018 and shall continue in
effect for a term of ten years. Termination of the 2017 Plan shall not
affect the administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it
hereunder with respect to awards granted under the 2017 Plan prior to
the date of such termination. No Shares shall be issued or sold under
the 2017 Plan after the termination thereof, except upon exercise of an
Award granted prior to the termination of the 2017 Plan.
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As of December 31, 2024, the Company had (i) issued most of the
underlying Shares of the 2017 Plan Options to Creative Pioneer and
Wise Approach before the Listing, respectively, and (i) 6,979,017
outstanding 2017 Plan Options, representing approximately 0.91%
of the total number of Shares in issue. During the Reporting Period,
the number of Shares underlying the outstanding 2017 Plan Options
divided by the weighted average number of total Shares in issue during
the Reporting Period is approximately 1.09%. All the outstanding 2017
Plan Options were granted between January 31, 2018 and October 18,
2022 (both days inclusive) and the Company did not and will not grant
further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing. Subject to the maximum
number of underlying Shares may be issued under the 2017 Plan and
requirements under the Listing Rules, no maximum entitement of each
participant was set up under the 2017 Plan. The exercise price of the
outstanding 2017 Plan Options is between US$0.018 and US$0.330.
The grantees were not required to pay any consideration for the grant
of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options. No 2017 Plan Option was
granted during the Reporting Period.
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Fair value of

per 2017
Plan Options
atthe

date of grant

Forfeited/

Approximate
percentage
of total

and the Cancelled/ number of
Granted Exercised accounting Lapsed Shares in
Outstanding during the during the Exercise standard during the  Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting price Date of and policy Vesting Validity Reporting  at December December 31,
Grantees ' 1,2024 Period Period (us$) grant adopted’ schedule period Period 31,2024 2024
SH2017F
SEBRE
RELBE
ZATE 120245
20245 Rz REEHR H2024%  12B31A4E
1A1A R R&E e it Eg gl 128318 BORGLEH
ABEA' HATE  HRERF  HREGR (%7) R EH REX’ FERER LG VS HATE WENEAL
Employees 9,085,505 - 2,636,900 0.0759 - - - 10 years 244,488 6,174,117 0.80%
&8 106
Service providers 850,000 - 45,100 0.0900 - - - 10 years - 804,900 0.11%
RFRED 106
Total 9,905,505 - 2,682,000 0.0761 - - 244,488 6,979,017 0.91%"
ast
Exercisable at 6,314,167
December 31,
2024
Ro004%
12A318
i
\Weighted average - 0.0659 0.1348
exercise price
per share’
FRIETHT
e
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Notes:

1. The grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options include current
employees, former employees and external consultants of the Group. None
of the grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options are (i) Directors, chief
executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associate; (i) granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limited;
and (i) related entity participant or service provider with 2017 Plan Options
granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital. For details, please refer to note 33 to the financial statements in this
annual report.

S8 For details of the accounting standard and policy adopted in relation to and
the basis of the measurement of fair value of 2017 Plan Options, please refer
to notes 2 and 33 to the financial statements in this annual report.

4. The discrepancies between total and sums of amounts listed above are due
to rounding.

Further details of the 2017 Plan are set out in the Prospectus.
RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the restricted share unit scheme adopted by
the Company in 2021 (the “RSU Scheme”).

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to recognize and motivate the
contributions the grantees under the RSU Scheme, provide incentives
for them to remain with the Company, and attract suitable personnel for
our further development.

Participants of the RSU Scheme include (i) the employees or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors of the Group); (i) any person or entity (including but not
limited to consultants engaged by the company services to the Group)
that provides research, development, consultancy and other technical
or operational or administrative support to the Group; and (iii) any
other persons including former employees who, in the sole opinion of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Total number of Shares that may be delivered under the RSU Scheme
are 10,004,000 Shares. Subject to the total number of Shares may be
delivered under the RSU Scheme and requirements under the Listing
Rules, no maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under
the RSU Scheme.

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date of the RSU Scheme, after which
period no further Awards will be granted. In spite of this, the RSU
Scheme in all other respects remain in full force and effect and Awards
that are granted during the Term may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.
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Further details of the RSU Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

As of December 31, 2024, all of the RSUs under the RSU Scheme,
representing a total of 10,004,000 underlying Shares, representing
approximately 1.31% of the total number of Shares in issue had been
granted before the Listing to Mr. ZHOU Teng. During the Reporting
Period, 3,501,400 underlying Shares were vested to Mr. ZHOU
Teng, with 6,502,600 underlying Shares remaining outstanding as
of December 31, 2024. During the Reporting Period, the number of
Shares underlying the outstanding RSUs divided by the weighted
average number of total Shares in issue during the Reporting Period is
approximately 1.57%.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding RSUs
throughout the Reporting Period:

SRR B BALE &M E — S H TN AR

size

H E2024F12A31H » LR HI I BE AL 2
THIFT A SBR HIR% 1D B Az (BD& 10,004,000
R AR G EBEITIRMDBLEL1.31%)
RETAHERTRARBEE - RBEHA -
3,501,400 B D SR B R A L £ H E
2024412 A31 8 - A6,502,6000% 48 8 I 17 &)
RITEE -RMEBA - WARITERZR S R
BUMEBRNHEEBRAREHRNEEHITR
PEYINIEFEEEL B1.57% °

TSR B8 (B4R 25 20 70 oK 1T 2 ) R R A
BB B s O BB

Approximate

percentage of

Fair value at Forfeited/ total number

Granted Vested the date of grant Cancelled / of Shares in

Outstanding during the during the and the accounting Lapsed during Outstanding issue as of

at January Reporting Reporting Purchase Date of standard and Vesting  the Reporting at December  December 31,

Grantee 1, 2024 Period Period price grant policy adopted schedule Period 31,2024 2024
EEZ0U4F

REHAHZ REEBR 120245 1273168

H20245151A REEHR REEHR AFERRMZ -3 Ve 128318 BORGER

ERA HRTE BRF EEE BEE RBH B ERIRHE FRERER F3 HRATE BOEI
ZHOU Teng 10,004,000 - 3,501,400 - - - - 6,502,600 0.85%

2023 Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the 2023 Share Award Scheme (“2023
Scheme”) on August 30, 2023.

The purpose of the 2023 Scheme is to recognize the contributions
by certain eligible participants and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.
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Eligible participants under the 2023 Scheme include (i) directors and
employees (including full-time employees and part-time employees)
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including persons who are
granted awards under the 2023 Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with these companies); (ii) directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow Subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company; and (i) persons who provide services to
the Company and/or its Subsidiaries on a continuing or recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests
of the long-term growth of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries, for
the avoidance of doubt, such service provider may not include placing
agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for fundraising,
mergers or acquisitions, as well as professional service providers
such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.

Subject to any early termination by the Board, the 2023 Scheme shall
continue in effect for a term of ten years from the Adoption Date (i.e.
August 20, 2023), after which no further awards will be granted.

The Administrator shall not make any further award of awarded shares
which will result in the aggregate number of the shares awarded
exceeding 3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date. On March 19, 2024, the maximum aggregate number
of the shares awarded under the 2023 Scheme was increased from 3%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
to 5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption
Date. On October 21, 2024, the maximum aggregate number of the
shares awarded under the 2023 Scheme was increased from 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date to 8%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
(representing approximately 7.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report). The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under the
2023 Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company in any 12-month period.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Scheme and the
fulfillment of all vesting conditions applicable to the vesting of the
Awarded Interests on such Selected Participant, the respective
Awarded Interests held by the Trustee on behalf of the Selected
Participant pursuant to the provision of the Scheme shall vest in
such Selected Participant in accordance with the applicable vesting
schedule, and subject to execution of requisite documents (such as
vesting instrument and transfer documents, if any) the Trustee shall
cause the Awarded Interests to be transferred to such Selected
Participant and/or a vehicle controlled by him/her (such as a trust or a
private company) in accordance with the 2023 Scheme.
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For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
August 30, 2023, November 2, 2023, November 29, 2023, January 22,
2024, March 19, 2024 and October 21, 2024. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalized terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined
in the announcement dated August 30, 2023.

During the period from October 31, 2023 to December 31, 2024, the
trustee has purchased 34,147,400 Shares in aggregate on the market.
During the Reporting Period, the trustee purchased 25,682,200
Shares in aggregate on the market at the total consideration of
HK$154,374,068 pursuant to the 2023 Scheme.

During the Reporting Period, no award Shares has been granted under
the 2023 Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company at any
time during or subsisted at the end of the year ended December 31,
2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OR SALE OF TREASURY SHARES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities or sold any treasury
Shares (as defined under the Listing Rules). During the Reporting
Period, the trustee of the 2023 share award scheme which was
adopted by the Company on August 30, 2023 (the “2023 Scheme”)
purchased 25,682,200 Shares in aggregate on the market at the total
consideration of HK$154,374,068 pursuant to the rules of the 2023
Scheme. None of the Shares reserved for the 2023 Scheme has
been granted as at December 31, 2024. As at December 31, 2024,
the Company did not hold any treasury Shares (as defined under the
Listing Rules).

78 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

HIEFELH AR A B H A2023F8A308 -
2023%11 52H 2023511 291 + 202441 A
22H 20243 A19H N2024FE10A21HH A
L MRNEIHAIEIN EXFAREER A
F2023F8 H0H M A ST AT E B HRER
%o

2023510 A31 8 22024512 4318 HAR -
XEAERTS LB B A $£34,147,4000% %
3o RIRE BN LA B RIK2023F 5181
M5 FEEE A 05 682,200 %17 2R B &
154,374,068/ 7T, ©

R¥RE A B EAR 1R20234F 51 81 3% L £
BREIRAD °

JR R4 89 165 5

RATREE2024F 12 A31B I EE RN ER]
B S R E 2024 F12 A31A IFE B 45 R
MET S F BT AR ZE 8 -

BE HEFEBELO LTRSFNE
EEEFRS

RIRE BN ANAF) S H A B R R 4R
FHMBEREHERE HENELOAQRT
A EMBESKHETMNEFRS (EER L
TR - RIREH R - AR A 202348 A
308 4 120234 I 10 22 B 51 £ ([20234F
T8 ) MR ARIE2023F 18R AN &
M5 E A HEE 525682 2000% %17 AR E A
154,374,068/ 7T © 7A20244E12 A31 A » #L & 5t
2023%F 51 &/ 78 B MY AR 10 JE 5% HH - B £20244F
128318 ARRWABHHEMEFRD (F
HEH ETRAD -



USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company commenced listing on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on December 23, 2022 by way of Global
Offering, and the total net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) received
by the Company from the Global Offering amounted to approximately
HK$120.4 million after deducting professional fees, underwriting
commissions and other related listing expenses.

The intended uses and the balance of the Net Proceeds as at

December 31, 2024 are set out below:
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Utilized
amount
during Utilized Utilized  Unutilized
the year amount amount amount  Expected
Percentage ended 31  during the as at asat timeline for
to total Net December  Reporting December December  unutilized
amount  proceeds 2023 Period 31,2024 31,2024 amount
BZ2202F
12A31H H2024E  1R2024% KB
REEN g LEE REEHE 128318 12A381A SEH
BAlt HEFE CBASE CBALE CHASE ABALE BENER
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
() Busness expansion: () FHER: 87 104,800 41,939 62,861 104,800 - -
() Further expansion of i) E-—FTEREE 3 42,200 15,813 26,387 42,200 - -
Specialty Pharmacy BEXHK
Business
(i) Further expansion of i) E-SBRERE 28 33,700 15,122 18578 33,700 - -
Physician Research REBHEE
Assistance Business
(ii)  Further expansion of i) E—FREEE 24 28,900 11,004 17,896 28,900 - -
Health Insurance BERBRER
Services business %
() Technology researchand (o) HATHI% 13 15,600 4,367 11,233 15,600 - -
development
() Improvement of the () REz45/EH 10 12,000 3,431 8,569 12,000 - -
capability of system/ BrEZERN
application development E7
team
i) Further investment i) E—-HRERH 3 3,600 936 2,664 3,600 - -

The Group has fully utilized the Net Proceeds raised from the Global
Offering by the end of the Reporting Period in accordance with the

in research and
development of improving
technology infrastructure
and new solutions

planned schedule.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 81 to 100 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management
and the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and
practices adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters,
and had also reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended
December 31, 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for

re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the
AGM.

By order of the Board

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
MA Xuguang
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 18, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board hereby presents to the Shareholders the corporate
governance report for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of its shareholders and to
enhance its corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period, save for the deviations from the code provisions C.2.1 and
F1.1.

Details of deviation are set out below in this corporate governance
report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules for dealings in securities of the Company by the
Directors and relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during
the Reporting Period.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting Period.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs as well
as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value and strategy.
All Directors should take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
establishment of ESG system, material transactions (in particular
those which may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a
view 1o ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board fully supports the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management to discharge their responsibilities.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it has given clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company adopted written terms established on division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

82 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

EExg
B

RAREBNEREEREZCAE ES
SERERENEHAAR -EFEEHFAAE
BEREBARANER URERAR A
XAcEERE - BEB MR 0 UEEXR
RAEINRKI) - 2B E = RIAKR DA M & BIK
BEREBMELIRE -

EEREEALANAEATE RRENLE

REEHERAFE BRANKRIAL N

ERRERERRM BRS A EREA

SIS BARS (RRR TS RARERY

%5) BHEH EAEERAMEANK
BEFE -

2BEEYT2ERE GG IEEER
ARAFREGEARRE UERESS
125 R BT i R AR B R AR B e 7 o

EEE-RAUNEEBATAESTSREE
K SFBUEXER BRBAARQAEE-

ARAZBEER TBRNEENRIRTIT
BN REIRE - TR IR A B e B T 1
EIBeEHrd  LASABREETENE
AR GH ABISEESHE-

EXZe2 IXBERATERSREERERE

TTHEBE-

IE]

EZeREBRERTHBEEREEER
ACHEEENEOFELRAERER LER
BB AERRA R RME LR TE St E )&
MAIARESSERMGESTSEAUE
MR °

ARAPERMNREESEHBESRE LRI D
EZeMRENBAELEEBRERNEE

ARBIEHREERSREEABRRBES
MESHERTY REFLRSABENS
ERHEERR -



Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman)
Mr. LI Ji

Non-executive Director

Mr. YAO Leiwan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias 3k 2T )
(resigned on May 21, 2024)

Mr. FAN Xin

Mr. HE Haijian

Ms. HUANG Bei

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed, there is no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship among the Directors. Biographical
details, including offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments of the Directors are set out in the section
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive directors of the Company and considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on
independence as required under the Listing Rules, (i) the absence
of involvement in the daily management of the Company, and (i) the
absence of any relationships or circumstances which would interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement. Throughout the
Reporting Period, the number of independent non-executive Directors
on the Board meets the one-third requirement under the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.
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Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors and
at least one-third of its members being independent non-executive
directors. Further, independent non-executive directors will be
appointed to committees of the Board as required under the Listing
Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views and
input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to
the independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with the
respective terms.

The non-executive Director has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall be subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company which provide
that the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Articles of Association of
the Company also provided that at every annual general meeting of
the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election or any other
Directors has a service contract that is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the businesses and operations of
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development (“CPD”) program to develop and refresh
their knowledge. Internal briefings for Directors will be arranged by the
Company and reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.
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The records of CPD relating to director’s duties and regulatory and
business development that have been received by the Directors for the
Period are summarized as follows:

Name of Directors

EERHEMERXEHEEERENMREETUR
EBBROTEERBRCEMANT

Type of Training

EEHSE EAER

Notes
B 5

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. MA Xuguang Aand B

BEELE AKB

Mr. LI Ji A and B

FlEEE AKB

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Mr. YAO Leiwan Aand B

hEm Xk E AKB

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYkHTES

Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi (R ¥f, alias 3k 2 &F ) (resigned on May 21, 2024) Aand B

CHANG Stanley Yi (3R + Bl 5% B 8F ) 5t 4 (K20244F5 21 H B HT) AKB

Mr. FAN Xin Aand B

BARSE A AXB

Mr. HE Haijian Aand B

LA AXB

Ms. HUANG Bei Aand B

mEXLT AKB

Notes: ih=an

Types of Training HFIlER

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, A: HEZIRE SBEETEAER Hiie <

conferences and workshops HR TS
B:  Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B : BIEMRBIFERT HE HT MG REBT

publications
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Board Meetings

During the Reporting Period, the Company in accordance with code
provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, has adopted the practice of holding
Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of majority
of the Directors, either in person or through electronic means of

communication.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings of the Company held during the Reporting Period

are set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

LERE/ ERRY
Remuneration
Audit and Appraisal Nomination Strategy
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meetings(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s)
BRZEE  FMRIAM REZEE  BKZES
Esps ES883 Ef Z8% - - REAE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. MA Xuguang 5/5 N/A N/A 11 N/A i
SRELE TER NEA TER
Mr. LI Ji 5/5 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A 11
FHELE TER TR TER
Non-Executive Director
FHTES
Mr. YAQ Leiwen 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
X xE TER A A TER
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTES
Mr. CHANG Starley Yi (3£, dlias 3k 28F)
(resjgned on May 21, 2024) 1/2 11 N/A 11 N/A 0/0
CHANG Stanley Yi (=10 - 5|4 k287 ) L4
(R2024%E5 21 A ) TEHA TER
Mr. FAN Xin 5/5 2/2 N/A 11 N/A 11
B4 TEA TER
Mr. HE Haijian 5/5 2/2 2/2 11 N/A 11
gt sE TEm
Ms. HUANG Bei 4/5 2/2 1/2 N/A N/A 11
BERL A TER
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Practice and Conduct of Board Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings (or such other period as agreed). For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
regular Board meeting or committee meeting (or such other period as
agreed) to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management, where necessary, attends regular Board
meetings and other Board and committee meetings to advise on
business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company.

The Articles of Association contains provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

The agenda of each Board meeting is in consultation with members of
the Board such that they are given an opportunity to include agenda
items, draft and executed Board minutes are sent in a timely manner
to all Directors for their comments and records, minutes of the Board
meetings recorded in sufficient details are kept by the Company
Secretary.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged the directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against the Directors during the Reporting
Period. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be segregated and should not be
performed by the same individual. According to the current structure of
the Board, the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are held by Mr. MA Xuguang.

The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board
requires approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the
Board comprises three independent non-executive Directors out of
six Directors, and the Board believes there is sufficient check and
balance on the Board, (i) Mr. MA Xuguang and the other Directors
are aware of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as Directors,
which require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and
in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the
Group accordingly, and (iii) the balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises experienced
and high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues
affecting the operations of the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic
and other key business, financial and operational policies of the
Group are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the
Board and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr. MA Xuguang
is one of our co-founders, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for the Group. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of
the corporate governance structure of the Group in order to assess
whether separation of the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
is necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, Nomination
Committee and Strategy Committee for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
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The majority of the member of Audit Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee consists of four members, all of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. FAN Xin (“Mr. Fan”),
Mr. HE Haijian (“Mr. He”) and Ms. HUANG Bei, (“Ms. Huang”) with
Mr. He being the chairman of the committee.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board
in providing an independent view of our financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the audit
process and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board which includes, amongst other things:

° proposing to the Board the appointment and replacement of
external audit firms;

° supervising the implementation of our internal audit system;

° liaising between our internal audit department and external
auditors;

° reviewing our financial information and related disclosures; and
° other duties conferred by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to discuss the annual results for the year ended December, 31 2023,
interim results for the six months ended June 30, 2024, audit plan
for 2024, significant issue on financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system and internal audit function.
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Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee with terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of Mr. He
(independent non-executive Director), Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. Li”) (executive
Director) and Ms. Huang (independent non-executive Director), with
Mr. He being the chairman of the committee.

The primary function of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
is to develop remuneration policies of our Directors, evaluate the
performance, make recommendations on the remuneration packages
of our Directors and senior management and evaluate and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangements which includes,
amongst other things:

o establishing, reviewing and making recommendations to our
Directors on our policy and structure concerning remuneration of
our Directors and senior management;

° determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of
each Director and members of senior management;

° reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by our
Directors from time to time;

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

o other duties conferred by the Board of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee held two meetings to review the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, adoption of share award plan of the Board,
assess the performance and remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management, and made recommendations to the Board,
where appropriate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in the notes 10 and note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. FAN Xin (independent
non-executive Director) and Mr. He (independent non-executive
Director) with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the committee.
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The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to our Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors which includes, amongst other things:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of our Board on
a regular basis and making recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes;

o identifying, selecting or making recommmendations to our Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of our independent non-executive
Directors;

° making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of our
Directors; and

° other duties conferred by the Board.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, before
making recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to discuss the nomination and appointment matters of
Directors, and review the structure, size, diversity and composition of
the Board, changes to the composition of the Nomination Committee
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

Strategy Committee

The Company has established a Strategy Committee consists of
Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. Li (executive Director) and Mr. YAO
Leiwen (non-executive Director), with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the
committee. The primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to study
and advise on the long-term strategy and operation plans of our Group.
The Strategy Committee will assist the Board, in conjunction with our
management, in addressing our Company’s overall mission, vision and
strategic direction. Areas of focus will include: providing the Board
and management, as applicable, with input and recommendations
with respect to key strategic initiatives and major R&D programs and
partnerships; and assisting management in establishing a strategic
planning process, identifying and addressing organizational challenges
and evaluating strategic alternatives.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objective and approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the achievement of our Company’s strategic objectives
and sustainable development. All Director appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation
to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to skills, professional experience, educational background, knowledge,
expertise, culture, independence, age and gender.

The Company aims to maintain a truly diverse Board which will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
merit while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised five
male Directors and one female Director, providing the Board with
a direct and diversified channel of the opinion from both genders.
In addition, the Directors believe that the composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business development of the Group and
effective leadership, taking into account the extensive experience,
skills and knowledge of each Director and the balanced mix of two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that Board
diversity (including gender diversity) has been achieved with reference
to the current circumstances of the Company, and the present
structure of the Board can ensure the independence and objectivity of
the Board and provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Shareholders. We will implement policies to ensure
gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of female
potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female
staff who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting
them to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the policy for the
nomination of directors on an annual basis.

Workforce Diversity

The Group follows the principles of “openness, equality, competition,
and merit” and does not discriminate against applicants on the basis
of gender, race, age, religious beliefs, and other factors. The Group
actively promotes diversity in the workforce and encourages the
employment of employees from all backgrounds. The Group has
established systematic external and internal recruitment management
process to ensure the quality of recruitment and select qualified and
outstanding talents.

As at December 31, 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) is 437 (male): 2,810 (female). For further details
of gender ratio together with the relevant data, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors upon the
assessment of candidates:

(1)  Review on the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least once a year, and also make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to align with the Company’s
strategies.

(2)  Fully consider the Board Diversity Policy, individual performance,
individual capability, professionalism, knowledge, experience and
time that can be devoted to the Company, personal credibility,
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and applicable laws
and regulations etc.; identify candidate(s) with appropriate
qualifications to be member(s) of the Board, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individual(s)
nominated as director(s).

(8) Make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters

regarding the director(s) and succession plans for the director(s) (in
particular, the Chairman and chief executive).
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 185 to 191 of this annual
report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of
the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to approximately RMB2.4
million and RMBO0.9 million, respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor
key risks associated with the Company with regular review for
implementation by key business processes and office functions. The
Audit Committee reviews annually the continued effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems dealing with
risk and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and regulations, and risk
management functions. The Directors through the Audit Committees
are kept regularly appraised of significant risks that may impact on
the Group’s performance. Up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee had reviewed and confirmed to the Board, that the
Group’s risk management and internal control system are effective and
adequate.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
featured with well-defined organizational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard
assets of our Group.

The management assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided
treatment plans, and monitored the risk management progress, and
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee

on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee. Any urgent matters in
relation to the relevant areas of internal control will be reported in a
timely manner. Review results and recommendations in the form of
written reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for discussion
and review. Follow up actions will be taken up by the Internal Audit
Department to ensure that material weaknesses previously identified
have been properly resolved.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls,
for the year ended December 31, 2024, and considered that such
systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Whistleblowing policy is in place to facilitate employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na (“Ms. Ren") and Ms. LI Ching Yi (“Ms. Li") were appointed
as joint secretaries of the Company.

Ms. Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the
Company and has closely communicated with Ms. Ren.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Li and Ms. Ren have received no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge in compliance with Rules 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors are
available to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. As of the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed
the policy and confirmed that it is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

This Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to set out the provisions
which ensure that the Shareholders and in appropriate circumstances,
the investment community at large (which include the Company’s
potential investors as well as analysts who report and analyze the
Company’s performance), are timely provided with information about
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments and corporate governance), in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the
investment community and the Company.

The Company also maintains a website (www.medbankshealthtech.com),
where information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

During the Period, the Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
multiple communication channels for the Shareholders in place and the
steps taken to handle Shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly implemented
and effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should
have a policy on payment of dividends. As the Company intends to
retain most, if not all, of the Company’s available funds and any future
earnings to fund the development and growth of the Company’s
business and has not yet adopted a dividend policy to declare or pay
any dividends in the near future, the Board will review the Company’s
status periodically and consider adopting a dividend policy if and when
appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On March 19, 2024 and May 23, 2024, the Board proposed the
amendment and adoption of the amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association in order to, among others, update and
bring the Memorandum and Articles of Association in line with the
amendments to the Listing Rules which mandate the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers to their
securities holders from December 31, 2023 onwards, in line with the
latest regulatory requirements in relation to the holding and resale of
treasury shares by listed issuers and the relevant amendments made
to the Listing Rules which will take effect on June 11, 2024, as well as
other housekeeping changes (the “Amendments”). The Amendments
were approved by the shareholders and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on June 20, 2024. For details, please
refer to the circular of the Company dated May 29, 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings of the Company, including the election of individual Directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Associations, general
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any one member
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
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them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman lIslands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association
for requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article
12.3 of the Articles of Association are set out above.

Putting Forward Enquiry/Requisition to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: 7/F, Building 3, Xingguangyao Plaza, No. 1888 Caoyang
Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@medbanks.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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1.1

ABOUT THE REPORT
Basis and Principles of Preparation

This Report is the third Environmental, Social, and Governance
(“ESG”) Report (the “Report”) of Sipai Health Technology
Co., Ltd. (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries and
consolidated affiliated entities (collectively, the “Group” or “we,”
“our” and “us”). The purpose of this Report is to outline our key
initiatives and progress in ESG governance and specific practical
areas, while addressing issues of interest to stakeholders. We
recommend reading this Report in conjunction with the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” in the Company’s Annual
Report 2024 for a more profound comprehension of the Group’s
ESG performance.

The Report was prepared on the basis of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) published by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”). The Report complies with
the mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply or
explain” principle stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide and
adheres to the Reporting Principles of Materiality, Quantitative
and Consistency. The appendix to the Report is the content index
of the ESG Reporting Guide, which provides cross-reference for
readers.

The Group applies the following Reporting Principles in the
preparation of the Report:

U Materiality: The Group uses materiality assessment to
identify material issues during the Reporting Period. Please
see the “Materiality Assessment” section for more details;

° Quantitative: The Group will disclose relevant information on
the standards, methodologies, assumptions and calculation
tools used to quantify indicators, where practicable;

° Consistency: The Report is the third report published by the
Group. We will explain any difference of statistical methods
or key performance indicators from the previous report or
any of their future changes.

102 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

1.1

B A ] &
4 5 4% 45 A SR

AE R BRERERMEERAR (AT
A (RAT]) REHB QR MRS
EER([AEB &M BEMRNE
“HERE - HEeKER ([ESG])HE
(&%) 5 E2IRKXM024F &
ESGEREABEREANNENEE
MEAGER WHF ARSI LN
HBREHLE-BERATHEAEEN
ESGRIR ' B AR EEHAAT (2024
FEFR) P (EEARRES) —EL

&BIE-

ABRERBEELEHAXIMBR AT
(TR )BERN(BEEBHERS
FRAERARES EMARD (T (EWR
Ry MR Corrfzfitey GRIEFE LB R
EnmasrRl) (I K<ESGHEEFAD 1)
HEITHRG BB (ESGHETRD RE
F) 58 ) 1 I B B SR e [N 38 < Bt AR 7
R WREERMN B kM
FERRA - ARER S (ESGHE TR
BABRRSI N UHEBEL2RY

7I::i'C\
AN

T RAREFETEEMEENERR
Al :

s ERMAKEABEHEERMN
EHEEERSHRNER NS
B-BRHAEE F2HAHRE
R [E2 MG —fhe

e EBEATHNELATN AKEE
BEAELEENEE -TTE R
RARAETAFHRBES -

s —HM AHMERAEBEE=RE
RS AR EAAEREN
BIRERE F—OWETR HT R
KEFAE RPGEBEBES
AR o



1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Reporting Boundary

The Report covers the environmental, social and governance
performance of the Group for the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”), with modest
extensions forward or backward.

Currency Description

Unless otherwise specified, monetary amounts in the Report are
denominated in Renminbi.

Form of Publication

The Report is available in both Chinese and English for readers’
reference. In case of any discrepancy, the Chinese version shall
prevail. You are welcome to access electronic versions of the
Report in both English and Chinese on the Company’s official
website (www.medbankshealthtech.com) and the HKEX website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

Report Feedback

If you have any questions or feedback about the Report and its
contents, you are welcome to contact us through the following
methods:

Email: ir@medbanks.cn
Address: 7/F, Building 3, Xingguangyao Plaza, No. 1888
Caoyang Road, Putuo District, Shanghai
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board Statement

With the strategic goal of “becoming a leader in the digital
transformation of healthcare industry in China”, the Group is
dedicated to continuously enhancing its sustainable development
governance structure, improving organisational efficiency, and
building a sustainable development pattern with far-reaching
impact, so as to create long-term value for all stakeholders
and achieve our vision of “making life healthier”. The Board of
Directors (the “Board”) would like to express its sincere gratitude
to the management and staff for their efforts in establishing
and continuously optimising our ESG governance framework,
and extend its heartfelt thanks to our shareholders, investors,
customers, and partners for their interest, trust, and support in
the Group’s sustainable development strategy.

In respect of ESG governance, the Group has clearly defined
the crucial role of the Board, whose core mission is to fully
integrate sustainability concepts into the Group’s overall
planning and establish a top-down ESG governance structure
with clearly established powers and responsibilities. The Board
serves as the highest level of oversight for ESG matters,
covering the identification of material ESG issues, the accurate
assessment and appropriate ranking of such issues, and finally a
comprehensive review of ESG objectives and strategies to ensure
effective management. Based on the outcomes of the materiality
assessment reviewed and confirmed by the Board, we reflect on
key matters, address them in order of priority and continuously
strengthen management efforts. The Board is responsible for
overseeing the management effectiveness and performance
in relation to material issues, helping the Group make steady
progress on its sustainability journey and achieving win-win
outcomes of economic, environmental and social value.

In respect of ESG risk management, the Board fully recognises
the critical role of the management in identifying, assessing, and
addressing ESG risks. We have identified potential risks across all
areas, including supply chain compliance, data protection, labour
rights, and anti-corruption, and incorporated them into our risk
management framework for ongoing assessment. In the future,
the Board will further strengthen the ESG risk management
system, optimise risk mitigation strategies and ensure that ESG-
related risks are closely integrated into the Group’s overall risk
management, thereby enhancing the Group’s resilience and
adaptability in the face of complex challenges.
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In respect of material ESG issues, we maintain close and regular
communication with internal and external stakeholders, in line with
our development strategy, to identify and assess material ESG
risks and drive the incorporation of sustainable development into
the Company’s development plans. With regard to environmental
management, we take full account of the environmental impact
of our daily operations and actively pursue green transformation.
For example, we continue to optimise energy-saving and
consumption-reducing measures in the specialty pharmacy
business, among other areas, so as to improve resource efficiency
and reduce carbon emissions. With regard to social responsibility,
we help optimise the allocation of healthcare resources and
improve access to healthcare services through technological
innovation and data-driven health management solutions,
contributing to a more efficient and equitable healthcare system.

The Report provides detailed disclosure of the Group’s
ESG performance in 2024, highlighting our endeavours and
the outcomes achieved on our journey toward sustainable
development. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
strengthen ESG governance and refine management systems to
better address social and environmental challenges. By doing so,
we aim to create greater value for our stakeholders and contribute
to the realisation of sustainable development.

Governance Structure

The Group continuously enhances its ESG governance system
to ensure effective collaboration from the Board to all business
units, thereby strengthening the systematization, professionalism,
and execution of ESG management. The Group has a top-down,
three-level ESG governance structure comprising the Board,
the ESG Working Group, and various functional and business
departments. This ensures the scientific formulation of ESG
objectives, the efficient implementation of strategies, and the
dynamic management of risks.
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Sipai’s Three-Level ESG Governance Structure
Board

As the Group’s highest decision-making body for
ESG management, the Board is fully responsible for
formulating sustainable development strategies and
overseeing the progress of ESG efforts. Its primary
responsibilities include:

e Overseeing the Group’s ESG matters and assessing
the Group’s overall ESG management objectives,
strategies and approaches.

e Reviewing the Group’s management systems
regularly, including identifying, evaluating, prioritising
and managing material ESG issues as well as risks
related to the Group’s businesses.

e Reviewing the Group’s ESG risk management and
internal control systems, assessing ESG-related
opportunities and guiding the formulation and
implementation of response strategies.

e Assessing the scientific validity and feasibility
of the Group’s ESG objectives, monitoring their
progress and ensuring the fulflment of sustainable
development commitments.

e Reviewing the Group’s material ESG management
matters, including but not limited to annual ESG
reports, to ensure transparency and compliance.
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ESG Working Group

The ESG Working Group is led by management and

comprises representatives from key business units. It 4

is responsible for implementing strategic ESG goals,

coordinating ESG practices across business lines, and

ensuring the effective execution of strategies. Its primary
responsibilities include:

e Researching in and setting the Group’s ESG
development objectives, formulating management
strategies and implementation paths, and advancing
the development of the ESG system.

e Coordinating and supervising the implementation
of ESG measures by functional and business
departments to ensure the consistency and efficiency
of policy implementation.

e FEvaluating the potential risks and opportunities
associated with material ESG issues, analysing their
impact on the Group’s business strategies, and
establishing an effective risk control system.

e Collecting, analysing and disclosing ESG-related
data to ensure the completeness, accuracy and
comparability of the information disclosed.

e Coordinating the preparation of the Group’s annual
ESG report, ensuring the quality of the information
therein and submitting the report to the Board for
consideration.

e Performing any other specific ESG-related tasks as
requested by the Board.

Functional and Business Departments

As the main execution bodies for ESG activities, the
functional and business departments are responsible
for implementing the ESG policies and measures in
practical operations in accordance with the guidance
and requirements of the ESG Working Group. Their
responsibilities include:

e Collecting, collating and submitting ESG-related
information and ensuring its accuracy and
traceability.

e Promoting the implementation of ESG strategies in
line with our business characteristics and ensuring
that all sustainable development measures are
effectively implemented in our daily operations.

e Assisting in ESG-related publicity and training to
improve the sustainable development awareness
of employees and conducting stakeholder
communication to build a positive brand image.
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2.3 Stakeholder Engagement

We attach high importance to stakeholder interaction and
communication. Through a diverse range of channels, we develop
an in-depth understanding of the expectations and requirements
of government and regulators, shareholders and investors,
patients/consumers, employees, suppliers and partners,
customers/members, and the community and the public.

Based on the results of such communication, we identify key
ESG issues accurately and formulate corresponding sustainable
development goals. We commit ourselves to synergistic progress
with all stakeholders and long-term value in the process of
our development. The table below outlines our stakeholder

engagement practices.

Engagement Methods
BEIN

Expectations

HEMANEE

Government and Regulators BUfF I EE & #1438

Regular announcements
Policy setting
Government visits

EHH/\L‘I:
BRI
R SR B B A

— Compliance with laws and
regulations

— Tax payment in accordance with
law

— Fulfilment of social responsibilities —

— Job creation

— Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity building

— BFERERER

— BT

- BiTHEgEMAR

— BEERE

— REEHRRRERRER

Shareholders and Investors IR E R & &
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General meetings of shareholders —

Regular announcements,
roadshows

Press conferences
Investment analyst research
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Robust investment returns

— Business and profit growth

— Transparent information
disclosure

— Prevention of risks

— RBRHOKRERDR
— EBEFNBEE
— BHMEEHE
— EE kR
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Responses

KPR E E

— Compliant operations

— Compliance with and implementation
of national policies

— Promoting employment in society

ESG governance framework

— AmEE

— ERIHAEREE
— REHERE

— ESGEREH

— Periodical information disclosure

— Convening of general meetings of
shareholders

— Improvement of internal control
system

— Revenue generation
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Engagement Methods
BEAR

Patients/Consumers £%& H& &

— Specialty pharmacy services
— Pharmacist services

— Service hotline

— Social media communication

— RBERERTS
— BERRD AR
— RFFEER

- HRERER

Employees & T

— Email, telephone, written
communication, etc.

— Employee survey

— Employee training

— Social media communication

— B BE EEEFER
— BIAW

— BT

- HRERER

Suppliers and Partners it FE75 82 & 1B £

Contracts and agreements
— Business communication
— On-site visits
— Regular evaluation
— Daily communication
— &R
— EBRR
— BRIGEWD
— TEHFHE
— BEER

Customers/Members £ F &
Contracts and agreements

— Customer meetings

— Business communication

— Health insurance sales platforms

— ARWmZE
- BF&%

— XHEE
- RERREEYS
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Expectations

HEMIHE

Safety and quality of products
and services

Responsible marketing and
promotion

Customer privacy protection
and data security
Consumer relationship
management
EmbkRBHEZTEES
BEELHESE
EFBAMREREFEEL S
HEEBREE

Occupational health and safety
Employee development and
training

Employment and labour
practices

BEERELT R
8 T 3R s

!
— EE&S TER

Supply chain management
Strengthening industry
collaboration for common
development

e
IRITEBIELRBE

Quiallity of service and
communication

Responsible marketing and
promotion

Health protection

Non-medical professional services
fRIsFBRE S
BEELHETE

fEERIRIE

HEBEHERS

BRI HEREREE

Responses

HEMavE e

Quality management of products
and services

Consumer satisfaction survey and
complaint handling

Protection of consumer privacy
and data security

EmkRFEEEEE
HEEMEE AT R FEE
RIEBEEBLEESRE

Employee health and safety
protection

Competitive remuneration
package

Extensive employee training
Clear career promotion path
BT REHEZ 2RE
BHEFHOFNEGE
=08 T

BTV B X B TR AR

Fulfilment of contracts

Open tenders

Engaging in cooperation
Promoting industry exchange

BITA MR
NGRS
FREA1F
TRETTERIN

Improvement of the quality of
products and services
Enhancement of customer
communication

Protection of privacy and data
security

RAEMKERBES

g% FiEm

— RIEEEBILEFE
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Engagement Methods
BEAFR

Expectations

HEMIHE

The Community and the Public &2 R

Responses

My E e

— The Company’s official website ~ — Fulfillment of social responsibilities —  Strengthening community
— Social media communication — Community relations engagement
— Community charity activities — Emissions management — Volunteer activities

— Use of resources
— Tackling climate change

— REIEW® - BrHg AR
- HRERER — EBEE
— HRAFED — BMmERE
— BRFA
— FHERIREL

Materiality Management

The Group proactively identifies key issues that materially impact
its sustainable development. We conduct online surveys to
understand the concerns and expectations of our stakeholders.
The results of these surveys and analyses have informed the
development of a materiality matrix, which provides a key
reference for shaping the focus of the Report and further
strengthens the relevance and effectiveness of the Company’s
ESG management.

2.4.1 Materiality Analysis

110

We conduct proactive materiality analysis and assessment to
understand and respond accurately to the issues of interest to
our stakeholders, thereby identifying and managing the risks and
opportunities associated with our development more effectively. In
2024, the Group performed its materiality analysis in three steps:
identification of materiality issues, evaluation of materiality issues
and review of materiality issues. The process is as follows:
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Materiality Assessment Process EEMBRETERE
Step 1
TR—

Identification of materiality issues

2 e )

Step 2
TR=

Assessment of materiality issues

T

Step 3
SR=

Review of materiality issues

The Group established its list of material ESG issues in 2024 with reference to
standards including the HKEX ESG Reporting Guide, the GRI Standards, the
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“UN SDGs”), peer benchmarking
on materiality, the Company’s business characteristics and industry trends.
DEBZIFTIES) - GRIZZE -UN SDGs FIRHEEK - HIZRAEEEMZEE &
BRRIEBFHERTERREBRS BUAREE2024FESCGEEM H#REE -

Internal and external stakeholders were invited to assess the significance of the
issues identified through an online questionnaire. Nine stakeholder groups were
engaged, including the management, employees, government and regulators,
shareholders and investors, customers, suppliers and partners, local community
and charitable organisations, industry associations and business associations,
and the media.

BB ERBEA BBERARANISBMEBEAFAREEZL  Bs5AER
EHOEN AR, BREARERE BT BUTKEEHE RRIIREE -
BR - -HERSGIERY BB AREMS TER SIS EMS KRS

S

N

Ranking of materiality issues: The responses to the questionnaire were
analysed to produce a comprehensive quantitative assessment, which helped
us assess and rank the materiality issues based on “importance to the Group’s
sustainable development” and “importance to external stakeholders” and create
the materiality matrix.

EEMBEHEF OMARRSER UGS TEHEFNAN RE Y
PEAFEERNEZ] B IHNREETNES ] MEREETTMEEE
FFREZMEBRERE.

Review of materiality issues: External experts provided advice on the
materiality issues and their rankings; the management of the Company reviewed
the materiality issues and their rankings.
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2.4.2 Materiality Matrix 242

In 2024, we identified 21 material ESG issues, including four
environmental issues, 13 social issues, and four governance
issues, and developed a materiality matrix accordingly. Issues
of high significance are highlighted in the Report to effectively
address stakeholder expectations.
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5.00
B ® Safety and quality of products and services
ERRBBENRZ2RRAE
Protection of customer privacy and information security
4.00 @ Green offce EFELRERERRE
BEHRA PY Compliance risks management
@ !nclusive medical care EREREE
£l B @ ESG governance
3 3.50 ESGEA @ Responsible marketing and promotion
B BEFENREY
;".\' Employee training and development
3 @ Advancing the medical industry = ~ :
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HOETMFERRNEEM Importance to the Company’s sustainable development

Environmental Issues Social Issues
RIS HEEE
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3. OUR SERVICES

The Group is committed to providing quality and accessible
medical services to the public. We have established a
comprehensive quality control system to ensure medication safety
for consumers from in an all-round way; continuously optimize
service processes to enhance quality while protecting consumer
privacy; uphold integrity in our operations with rigorous marketing
practices; promote access to quality medical resources, reduce
healthcare costs, and focus on rare diseases. Our goal is to
promote more equitable access to quality healthcare services to a
larger population.

UN SDGs addressed in this chapter:

PARTNERSHIPS

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION 1
FOR THE GOALS

RESPONSIBLE 1
AND INFRASTRUCTURE

CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

3.1 Stringent Product Quality Control

In strict accordance with the Civil Code of the People’s Republic
of China, the Drug Administration Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations for the
Implementation of the Drug Administration Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Regulations for the Implementation of the
Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Measures
for the Supervision and Administration of Drug Business and
Use Quality, and the Measures for the Administration of Internet
Drug Information Services, among other laws and regulations,
the Group has established a comprehensive quality management
system and drug traceability and recall system. In addition, we
pay close attention to the protection of intellectual property rights
and strive to ensure customer health and safety by providing safe
and reliable products and services.

3.

EX - AlF
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R HERERBE
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3.1.1Quality Management

114

We implement stringent product and service quality management
measures in accordance with the Management System of Quality
Management System Documents, the Management System for
Assessment of the Implementation of the Quality Management
System, among other policies. We enforce effective quality
control measures throughout the procurement, inspection,
warehousing, sales, and delivery processes to ensure drug
quality. Regular reviews and improvements are conducted to
keep our quality management systems aligned with evolving
regulatory requirements and market demands. At the same
time, we reinforce training on quality awareness, ensuring that
every employee thoroughly understands and upholds our quality
principles. We conduct semi-annual inspections and assessments
of the implementation of our quality management systems and
have a performance-based reward and penalty system in place
for relevant employees to ensure the effective execution of all
quality management measures.

Quality Management Measures in Operations

BERHTEEEER

3.1.1

BEEERE

BfRE (EEEEBAXMEESE)

(AEEEFENTERAREBEZIE
Fr) 1= 3 37T B A HO 22 am M AR
BEEL2ERER HERNES:
EmRi B HE R IBERN
BYMEEESER ERERLE-
BREHHEEE AR EETER
BRNE - DU T T B RE R 2SR A
mEHER-FER KMRECEINEE
Bmigdl s {8 THRERZIE
BUBTRMANEERS -BXFHE
EEEEGERTERAREEER Y
ABNEUEEAEREEE 2 REH
W EREIELEEEERE S AR RS
s

Rigorously select suppliers and products to ensure product quality

Before stocking in products, strictly verify the consistency of documents,
accounts, and goods. Check transportation methods, temperature records during

Procurement
REE B EREERER REERES
Acceptance

transportation, and transport duration.
Bk EmAER - BEZEHE R

Warehousing

BB REEH IR BHBENBEERLHE .
138 155 B TS

Conduct regular quality maintenance, inspections, and management and monitor
storage conditions.

Establish temperature-controlled warehouses to maintain optimal storage
conditions for pharmaceutical product quality and safety.

Certain specialty drugs are stored separately in a secure and controlled
environment, managed by professionally trained personnel.

EHETESHE RERERE BEEH#TFHRMNE

RICBIERE #FESBEEMEE T 2NRFHRG

ATHEERERTFRELRERZENRET UHXEEXBINABETE
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Quality Management Measures in Operations
EERTEEEERR

R HERERBE

Sales and Delivery e Inspect and ensure product quality before shipment.

e Confirm the drug products with the customer at the time of delivery.

e Designated after-sales specialists handle quality complaints and take effective

measures for proper resolution.

HERZMN o BEZHNMEIMRAINERMNEE

o RNEMBEEFEREMR

s ERHBAFERIEENHFMRIAMEHLZHR

3.1.2Drug Recall and Traceability

We adhere to the Drug Traceability Management System, the
Drug Recall Management System, the Operational Procedures
for Drug Recovery and Recall and the Management System for
Quality Incident, among other policy documents, to continuously
refine our drug traceability and recall system. This helps enhance
our product quality risk management capabilities and ensure
medication safety for patients. In 2024, the Company had no
product recalls due to safety or health concerns.

Drug Traceability System

We have established a drug traceability management system
based on an electronic traceability system, covering core
functions such as inspection of incoming materials, display and
storage, maintenance, and sales. This system ensures that drugs
are traceable from three aspects: sales channels and invoices,
fund flow, and logistics. It allows for traceability and auditability
across all stages of drug operations, thus strengthening
full-process quality safety management and risk control.

Drug Recall Mechanism

We assist pharmaceutical manufacturers in fulfilling their drug
recall obligations to ensure medication safety for the general
public. If a quality issue or safety concern is discovered after
the sale of a certain batch of drugs, we will promptly notify the
pharmaceutical manufacturer or supplier and report the issue
to the local drug supervision and administration department.
Proactive measures will be taken to suspend sales and contact
customers to recall the sold drugs.

3.1.2 ZE A KB
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Quality Incident Management BESFEUZE

Cases in which drug quality issues endanger human health BMERRAEREEMEMEENTER
and safety or result in economic losses are classified as major AFRRELEHEBEERRER
incidents and general incidents. Corresponding measures have HEEEWHRERFHM—RERHRA
been established to minimize their negative impact and economic B UHEHENEERE AZKAR

losses.

2 302 ) FORUEE SR HUE R N R 2 8

BB R -

Quality Incident Handling Procedure

Any quality incident that occurs must be reported immediately to the quality officer

For major quality incidents, the municipal food and drug administration must be
notified promptly, and a written report submitted within 15 days after identifying the

EEEHWEERE
Reporting
and the Company’s responsible person.
cause.
] BESEWEEER YAREEEAEANBEREA-

Investigation

HREREEFH MRBETRMEREBRTER 15XRANEBRERES
EmER-

In the event of a quality incident, the quality officer is responsible for investigating
and verifying its cause, identifying the stage at which the incident occurred as well
as individuals responsible for the incident.

BEEFHELR 28 NETERRANFATNMZE TIE BREWEL

Uphold the “Three No-Pass” principles: No incident shall be closed until the cause
is clearly identified; no incident shall be closed until the responsible individuals are
properly educated; no incident shall be closed until corrective measures are in

The Company’s responsible person makes the final decision on any quality
incident and takes action against those accountable in accordance with rules and

RE

REANRFEREEA-
Handling

place.

regulations.
BE

BF: [ =] RA: FROREANE TS FHEEERAXEHE TG -
BB IR U8

TPEEEANHESEEFRERKREERAT TRRTREEEA-
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3.1.3Intellectual Property Protection

3.2

We have formulated the Intellectual Property Management Work
and Process of Sipai to oversee and maintain trademarks,
copyrights, domain names, and other intellectual property assets.
We firmly protect our own intellectual property rights while
respecting and safeguarding the intellectual property rights of
others.

Lean Customer Service

The Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations,
including the Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulations on the Supervision of Internet Insurance
Business, the Good Clinical Practice for Pharmaceutical Products,
and the Regulations on the Registration of Licensed Pharmacists
to standardize business operations, optimize the customer
service system, and enhance customer satisfaction. In addition,
we adhere to the Personal Information Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Data Security Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Consumer Rights Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China to safeguard consumer privacy.
Leveraging advanced data insights and actuarial expertise, we
remain committed to expanding our health service network,
providing patients and members with trusted, high-quality health
and disease management services.

3.2.1 Customer Service Management

We refine our service system across three business lines, i.e.
health insurance services, specialty pharmacy business, and
physician research assistance. By establishing after-sales service
channels, we actively address customer feedback and ensure
that every customer receives timely, professional, and attentive
service. In 2024, the Group reported no product recalls due to
safety or health concerns.

B HEREARRE
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Businesses and Services

EBIR%

Speciality Pharmacy
Business

i
i
Vi
Nl
HE
S

Health Insurance Services

{2 R AR B AR 7%

Physician Research
Assistance

BT

Supply of Medicines: Implementing a centralized order review system to realise the
full-process informatization management from order receiving, review, packaging,
delivery and receipt.

Pharmaceutical Services: Establishing a central patient service department, providing
guidance to pharmacists at all stores, offering full-chain services including patient
documentation, medication follow-up visits, and patient education.
EnftE-BYTRESGNE BEREL EE TR KX
BlEEE-

BRERERE

BEE RS - L P REERIGHE - 558
e BEHE MR BIGIR -

EXPIURRFELERM  HEEREBERE &
Providing customized “health+medical+insurance” services for urban residents and
corporate clients.

Rigorously screening healthcare service providers, requiring necessary licenses and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Assigning dedicated doctors and managers for corporate clients.

BETARREEEPRHEEFCORE+ BFE+RENFERS -

EREEBEIRGHES 2RBEREHEELARELENEE B THE
NN

TEEBEL FEEFKLE-

Providing SMO services to pharmaceutical companies and medical institutions, so as
to manage clinical trials and facilitate drug research and development activities.

Establishing a quality assurance system to monitor and enforce quality standards,
conducting in-house training to ensure that the CRC team is familiar with international
and domestic regulatory requirements and industry knowledge, and strictly following
standardized trial protocols.

[F) B2 22 ) B S M B IR (L SMO AR 75 - LA B IR B PR S B AN (R A BE A 3R B -

BYEERFRAREEMATEERE  WHEEI ﬁEﬁ%CRCI[%*WF
MBAEEZRMITRMAS WERBREEENARND R

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Customer Complaint

Adhering to the SOP for Handling Customer Complaints of
MEDOFFERX, the Purchase and Return Procedure of Medicines,
among other policy documents, we have established a variety
of communication channels, including phone, email, WeChat,
and in-store visits. These channels allow us to receive feedback
from patients, manufacturers, doctors, and insurance companies
regarding any issues encountered during the service process, and
respond to and address any complaints in a timely manner. Each
month, we compile and analyse complaint data to continuously
refine our service processes and improve service quality to meet
the expectations of all stakeholders. In 2024, the Group received
no complaints regarding products or services, achieving a 100%
customer satisfaction rate.

Customer Complaint Handling Process

Step 1 2 — Step 2 =

e Documenting customer e Investigating the root
complaint cause

o BPIRHFER solutions

e Escalation through
hierarchical levels

s HMEREAZE

o BRRFEHESETT
o MEZER LW

e Developing and executing

R HERERBE

EP R

BMEBE(RRAEEREFIRFERE
SOP) (#EMFEBRERE) FHEX
AN EF ETEMG s T
PEESEBRRE UEBEXREES
BlEE BAE -RRBRARSERGHEBS
HEREBEEPHEMENRE KE
[B] fE I R R 1 B M R o T M & A E 2R
WRBEERLNT  TEECRERZ
RARBEE  Um R TRRISAEE S
B HR 2 o 20244F - R UCEI B A E & AR
B B MEE100% ©

EFRFRERE

Step 3 RE=

e Compiling and analysing
customer complaint
information

s BFEERFESELDN
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Rk S RER®WE

3.2.2 Consumer Privacy Protection

322 HEEEBIIRE

Adhering to the SOP for Data Security Management of BMERB(BRERNEEHEBELEEES
MEDOFFERx and other relevant policies, we strictly safeguard the [ESOP) FHIEEK  BRIgEFREE -
confidentiality of patients’ and doctors’ personal information, as BAEEAEEZRILEUR A REBEK
well as the data of our business partners. Employees who violate BEFEESETRE KEBRETL
confidentiality obligations shall be held liable according to the law. ERESHMERERBHET - 20245
In 2024, the Group had no negative events involving penalties REARILBEERALNESEEET
related to consumer privacy violations. Effo

Data Security Protection Measures

BEzE2RERR

Strengthening Internal
Policies and Management
Standards

REABHEMETERE

Enhancing Internal Technical
and Data Infrastructure

MR AR R BT R BB E R R
i

Implement a well-established internal control system to prevent ant
unauthorized transfer of personal information to third parties.

Obtain explicit consent through consent forms, applications, or agreements
before collecting any medical data from patients and policyholders in our
specialty pharmacy business and health insurance business.

B2 RBbEstlE  BLEEMARERENEAGRERETE =7

RMARFEEFEEBMRERBREBHNEE LS SREREEMNER
B2 @RBRAEE FRRIAGBEHRERE -

Isolate internal databases and operating systems from external services to
ensure data security.

Employ robust security protocols for encrypted data transmission to maintain
maximum confidentiality.

Engage third-party cybersecurity providers for regular penetration testing to
identify vulnerabilities and assess system security.

KA BEIEEMER R R EIN DR EEE - NRBEIEL 2 -
RABZNRZ 2 haE KN EEERABRRANEETIE-

THEBFE=TERLE2RRET2BERE REER RSP IR
HEZ 2T
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Raising Confidentiality
Awareness Among
Employees

hniR A ERA B R RE

Responsible Marketing

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Anonymize consumers’ privacy data systemically and perform verification
before sharing with external parties.

Require employees to sign confidentiality agreements upon joining the
Company.

Emphasize commitment to confidentiality on a regular basis in quarterly or
semi-annual meetings.

Organise ongoing data privacy training for relevant personnel to enhance their
cybersecurity awareness and skills. Require authorized personnel to promptly
report any data security vulnerabilities.

HHEERLBIBETRONG HIMEHKARARHRE -

BT ARRAIG ERZEFRBRE W -

EEE/+FEBHRMe FEBHRTRICRE RS

REBASRUBENBERALBIATHREAMMPNELELEZEAR
REe WERKRBEABLARFRETAEEZ2MERM-

3.3 EEENEH

In strict accordance with the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Regulations on the Administration of Drug Instructions
and Labels, and other applicable laws and regulations, we
rigorously oversee the marketing and promotion strategies
of our services and products. All advertising and promotional
content, copy, and other marketing materials intended for external
publication undergo a standardized review process. In 2024, the
Group had no negative marketing incidents.

We strictly prohibit the publication of prescription drug
advertisements on any website we operate and require that all
promotional materials related to medical treatments, medications,
or medical devices refrain from making any claims or guarantees
about their efficacy, safety, or cure rates. This ensures that
consumers and potential consumers receive scientifically accurate
information about treatments and medications.
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34 ERERETRM

3.4 Accessibility of Medical Services

Upholding the corporate value of “doing things that benefit
doctors and patients”, the Group has continuously expanded
its network. Through in-depth cooperation with innovative
pharmaceutical companies, expert networks, and health
insurance companies, we aim to provide consumers with better
medical services and more comprehensive medical payment
solutions.

Rare Disease Treatment

We specialize in oncology, specialty medications, rare diseases,
and chronic illnesses. With a professional pharmacist service
team and an innovative health follow-up system, we aim to
provide patients with pharmaceutical consultation services
and full-process disease management. In collaboration with
MedPISOn, we offer on-site management services for clinical trials
in oncology, supporting researchers and institutions in conducting
high-quality, efficient clinical studies, advancing the development
and application of cancer drugs.

Reducing Patient Burden

We have developed products such as Hui Min Insurance and
Wellness Insurance to ease the financial burden of medical
expenses and enhance healthcare coverage for the community.
As of 2024, Wellness Insurance covered a total of 1.2 million
employees across 476 companies, including well-known
enterprises such as ByteDance, Alipay, and Tencent. Hui Min
Insurance had over 68 million policyholders across 27 cities,
including Chengdu, Guangzhou, Wuhan, Zhengzhou, Kunming,
Xuzhou, Linyi, Jiangmen, and Shaoguan.
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Case: Hui Min Insurance helps establish a multi-tiered medical
insurance system for urban residents

Integrated with basic medical insurance, Hui Min Insurance offers
policyholders one-stop “insurance coverage with end-to-end
healthcare services”. Beyond providing health insurance products,
we provide comprehensive patient support throughout the entire
medical journey, i.e. before, during, and after treatment. This
approach shifts the focus from treatment to proactive health
protection, helping patients better manage their health and
prevent diseases.

OUR GOVERNANCE

Our group adheres to compliant operation, collaborates with
our partners, and is committed to providing safe, efficient and
high-quality products and services. By establishing a sound
internal control system, conducting regular risk assessments
and audits, fostering a corporate culture of integrity and probity,
and standardizing supplier management and procurement
management, we ensure the stable operation of the company.

UN SDGs addressed in this chapter:

PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

1 PEACE, JUSTICE 1
AND STRONG
INSTITUTIONS
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4.1

124

Internal Control and Compliance Management

The Group adheres to the Internal Audit Management Provisions
to enhance the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems at an institutional level. We have established a
risk management framework to identify and manage compliance
risks in our business operations, ensuring compliance with laws
and regulations through audit supervision.

Our risk management process consists of three key phases, i.e.
assessment, analysis, and response, which enable us to address
various operational risks. Through the coordinated operation of
the “Three Lines of Defense”, we achieve comprehensive risk
management coverage and full-process control, providing a solid
foundation for the Group’s stable development.

First Line of Defense: Risk Management Mechanisms
and Measures in Business Operations

Our business departments serve as the frontline of risk prevention
and control. In daily operations, these departments conduct
comprehensive risk identification and assessment and implement
appropriate risk control measures based on the assessment
results. Below are the primary risk categories we have identified
along with corresponding control measures.
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Business Risk Category
XBEBER

Service Quality and Safety

Product Quality and Safety
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Market Competition Risks

M35 5 5 [ B

Control Measures
[ B B 1

Identify potential operational risks across the three main business
segments (i.e., specialty pharmacy business, physician research
assistance, and health insurance services). Adopt and take various
measures to ensure the effective implementation of risk management
processes.

BRI = REBIRIE (B EELEE X7 - & éEﬁHaﬂﬁ%ﬁjJLA&@m% % RS )
REZBRETNEERR RALERZIEE R BREREIEREFA
BB o

With a primary focus on the quality and safety of products sold in the
specialty pharmacy business, this category covers the strict screening
of pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors, logistics, product
inspection, warehousing, and sales delivery. Risks are controlled at every
stage to ensure product quality and safety.
ITEHHREERHENEREERT SR @%éiﬁ'ﬁ%ﬁjﬁ& ﬁﬁ?ﬁ
MBS ERE - MIRER  EmmR ERIEERXNABARE  BEEL
Ffg REEMEERLZE-

Explore high-value-added services to increase overall revenue; strengthen
the digitalisation of pharmacy operations to improve efficiency and reduce
costs; enhance service quality to build brand advantages.
RESWMENRE ReGFaB A NREFEEEIMER REES
M R RIARGE S & mRES -
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Control Measures
R EE

Business Risk Category
XK EBER

Operational Risk Management

R HERERBE

Establish internal procedures for risk management in response to flaws

or defects in internal processes, employee errors, [T system failures, or
financial risks caused by external events.

B®RiIERREE HUAMRIEN T TZ

TR B RERR

Human Resource Risks

SERpE B TRR - EERBERAWES NS
CHIE AR ETRRER -

Improve recruitment strategies, optimise talent acquisition and retention

mechanisms, and strengthen employee relations management. To address
bribery and corruption risks, establish a code of conduct and organise
periodic training to manage potential human resource risks.
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Regulatory and Compliance Risks

Carry out effective compliance and legal risks management across all

aspects of business operations and employee activities, further enhance
the internal accountability system, and strengthen training and education
efforts to improve employees’ compliance awareness.

EEAHAR

HEXBELMNE RPN ETARRARNA R ERARER

E-FR2AFHEEE MR E TARBBIBIEHE -

Second Line of Defense: Functional Departments

As the second line of defense in risk prevention and control, the
Company’s functional departments are responsible for overseeing
internal operations to ensure adherence to domain-specific
laws and regulations and our internal compliance procedures.
Functional departments conduct regular compliance training and
education on specific management requirements to enhance
employees’ compliance awareness, ensuring that all business
decisions and operations are conducted within the legal and
regulatory framework.

Third Line of Defense: Supervision through Auditing

We have established sound internal and external audit
mechanisms to identify and prevent corruption-related risks.
Regular internal audits assess operational compliance across
various areas, report findings to management, and promote
rectification actions. An accountability system is in place for
employee violations of laws, regulations, and internal policies.
To ensure the accuracy of our financial information and the
effectiveness of our internal controls, we regularly engage
independent third-party auditors to conduct audits, including
in-depth reviews of business processes, internal controls, and
potential corruption risks.
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Internal Audit The internal control and audit department takes a risk-oriented approach
to conduct risk assessments, interviews with management, data analysis,
on-site observations, walk-through testing, document comparisons, etc., to
identify, assess, and manage risks faced by the Company. It also evaluates the
effectiveness of the internal control system to ensure that the risks remain within
acceptable limits.

NEETIBRFRREMRA - TRR G EEEDR BEIN By
B FTAE BERHEERRF #5 FHEMNMERECREENER FEA
BIEH RGN ANE  BREERREF EXBEN -

R EB T

External Audit In 2024, we engaged an independent third-party auditor to provide assurance on
the Company’s funds, inventory, amounts of incoming and outgoing transactions,
balances, and internal controls. Through the professional perspective of the
external auditor, we promptly identify and address potential issues, further
enhancing our financial transparency and risk management. In 2024, our external
audit expenses were RMB3.14 million.
2AFHMEFERXRBUNE =SB LA HAREL FE AXXIHH
HAE REMABERSHRTEIREF BRAFE =BT RINEERRA
KB EF WA E ] s TF AE MR AR - — I 08 A RV B 7538 PR B AN B B 8 32
B 20245 - BN BEET HE X L R348 T -
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4.2 Integrity and Ethical Operations

We act in strict accordance with the Anti-Unfair Competition Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering

126

Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Monopoly Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Interim Provisions on
Prohibiting Commercial Bribery, among other relevant laws and
regulations. We set clear legal red lines to prevent commercial
bribery, monopoly agreements, extortion, fraud, money
laundering, false advertising, and any other illegal activities.
Committed to lawful and compliant operations, we maintain open
whistle-blowing channels, strengthen risk prevention, and foster a
corporate culture of integrity and uprightness.

In 2024, the Company had no lawsuits or major administrative
penalties due to unfair competition.
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4.2.1Integrity Building

We have formulated rules and policies including the
Whistle-blowing Management System for Sipai Health Technology,
Gift Surrender Management System for Sipai Health Technology,
Internal Audit System for Sipai Health Technology, Capital
Management System for Sipai Health Technology, and the
Employee Handbook. The internal control and audit department,
the legal and risk control department and the management
team of each business line are responsible for the day-to-day
implementation of anti-bribery measures, reviewing and evaluating
the anti-bribery measures of each department, reviewing
complaints and reports from internal and external sources,
conducting investigations, implementing corrective measures
accordingly, and reporting to senior management on a regular
basis. We have clearly defined the responsibilities and authorities
of each department and position and implemented a stringent
authorisation system and a cross-checking mechanism to prevent
unfair competition.

e Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery

We strengthen internal auditing and monitoring mechanisms
to rigorously oversee key business processes such as
procurement, sales, and finance. This helps prevent internal
personnel from seeking personal gains through improper
means and harming the fair competitive environment. We
have formulated the Gift Surrender Management System for
Sipai Health Technology, which sets forth the procedures
for handling gifts received by employees during interactions
with external partners. In addition, we incorporate potential
bribery and corruption risks into our routine and special
audit projects in high-risk areas. Special audit projects are
conducted once to twice per month on a regular basis to
prevent and control corrupt behaviour.

e Anti-Money Laundering

We have formulated the Fund Management System of Sipai
Health Technology and corresponding systems to regulate
financial activities. All funds must be applied for, recorded,
and reviewed through the OA system, ensuring strict control
and compliance with fund activities.
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e Anti-Commercial Bribery

We actively communicate compliance measures and
professional ethics to all stakeholders (including customers
and suppliers). Anti-corruption and anti-bribery clauses
are included in most of our business contracts, requiring
suppliers and third-party agencies to comply with applicable
laws and regulations. To ensure the compliance of
suppliers, we require suppliers to sign an annual compliance
declaration when executing product sales contracts. During
the reporting period, 100% of the Group’s suppliers signed

the compliance declaration.

e Training and Advocacy

We place great emphasis on promoting integrity and ethical
operations through training and publicity efforts. Rules and
guidelines on professional ethics, anti-fraud mechanisms,
negligence, and corruption are included in our Employee
Handbook and Code of Conduct, which have been
distributed to all employees. During the reporting period, no
corruption lawsuits have been filed or concluded against the

Group or its employees.

In addition, we organise specialised and regular training
sessions and meetings on anti-bribery, anti-corruption,
anti-fraud, and anti-fair competition. These sessions convey
and help implement compliance requirements, urging
employees to observe internal policies and external laws
and regulations in their daily work. In 2024, the Group
conducted 10 anti-corruption training sessions for directors
and employees, which covered two directors and over 700

employees.
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In Q4 2024, the Group’s core management team held
a special meeting with pharmacy managers to conduct
in-depth training, discussions, and provide directives on
issues such as medical insurance policies and requirements,
preventing fraud and abuse, and safeguarding the medical
insurance fund.

Table: Anti-Corruption Training

*®: REFEI

R HERERBE

2024FNZE[E  AEEZLERE
HEFAEARTEERESS HE
RBEEMEBSK BB ERFERIR - 4
EEBRESLEZEZEZE FARFA
FIEE - TR A ESRRiZ -

Indicator Unit 2024 2023

EE By 20244 20234

Number of anti-corruption training sessions Session 10 4
received by directors and staff during the
reporting period

HEHANEEREIRRRESHEIKE 5

Hours of anti-corruption training received by Hour 20 4
directors and staff during the reporting period

HEHANEEFLEIRRRESHIRE  /DE

Number of directors trained against corruption Person 2 2
during the reporting period

HRERAN2ERETHEINES AR A

Number of staff trained against corruption Person Over 700 Over 100
during the reporting period

HEPRN2ERESHEINETAH A 700A A E 100 A A

4.2.2 Oversight and Whistle-blowing

We have formulated the Whistle-blowing Management System for
Sipai Health Technology to establish a comprehensive oversight
and whistle-blowing mechanism. Employees and stakeholders
can report fraudulent, corrupt, or other unethical behaviour
through various channels, including emalil, letters, interviews, and

phone calls.

Public Whistle-blowing Channels:

E-mail:
Mailing Address:

Postcode:
Addressee:

hegui@medbanks.cn

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd., 7/F, Building
3, Xingguangyao Plaza, No. 1888 Caoyang
Road, Putuo District, Shanghai

200333
Head of Internal Control and Audit
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4.3

Placing high importance on safeguarding the confidentiality of
whistle-blowing reports, we strictly protect the content of the
reports and the personal information of the whistle-blowers. We
have taken various measures to ensure confidentiality throughout
the entire process of report handling and investigation:

1)  Report envelopes are sealed, clearly marked with “For
Addressee Only”;

2)  From the receipt of the report to the completion of the case,
all investigation-related information is treated and managed
as confidential;

3) Any form of retaliation against the whistle-blower is strictly
prohibited. Any act of retaliation will be dealt with seriously
according to national laws and regulations, as well as the
Company’s internal policies.

Supply Chain Management and Green Procurement

The Group strictly abides by applicable laws and regulations,
including the Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Implementation Measures of the Bidding Law of the
People’s Republic of China, to carry out procurement activities
in a compliant manner. We actively communicate the concept
of sustainable development to our suppliers. For procurement
related to our core business, including drugs, medical devices,
and health supplements, we have formulated the Store Supplier
Information Creation and Maintenance Procedures, among other
systems, to standardise the management of supplier information.

4.3.1 Supplier Management

130

We have formulated a pharmaceutical supply chain management
team to ensure standardised management of product quality
control, logistics, returns, etc. through overseeing all aspects of
the supply chain, such as supplier entry and exit. We continuously
identify and mitigate potential environmental and social risks in
the procurement process. In supply chain digitalisation, we utilise
a pharmacy inventory management system to enable digital and
intelligent management of procurement, inventory, sales, among
other steps, enhancing operational efficiency.
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Supplier Entry

HAEREEA

Supplier Assessment

HER G

Supplier Exit

e & H

Supplier Engagement
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We conduct background checks on supplier qualifications, brand reputation,
and reliability during supplier registration and information updates, new product
introduction assessment, and contract execution. Suppliers that fail to meet our
qualification requirements are strictly barred from entry.
EHERGERAERGEERE FTmol ABT EncaRRIIFRETHHERE
B mERAETETERRE HREEETHaERNEREE -2 TFE
Ao

We conduct regular comprehensive assessments of suppliers. During the
monthly reconciliation between our outlets and suppliers, we collect issues
related to dispatch efficiency, packaging materials, and packaging quality, follow
up on the issues and urge improvements.

HEEETHRARZEGES TG EFEEMEM A EHRBIEPIT Y HE
HMBEEME - BHoM PREESHE REREBUERNE-

We immediately terminate procurement relationships with suppliers that are found
to be in violation of laws and regulations to minimise potential environmental and
social risks within the supply chain.

HRERORREROEER BRI EAREEER UWEERDHEES
AR A RBNE G R -

We actively exchange with suppliers through key supplier meetings and other
channels to communicate our commitment to sustainability to suppliers.

HERE R R RAEAAERERZ S BREEERNERN  PNEENSEIFERS
Case: National Key Suppliers Conference EO BB HREE S HE

In 2024, we organised the National Key Suppliers Conference to 2024F - B BHREHERHEmEH
present our business performance and enhance communication FTEMAREBEERRE WESIER
for stronger partnerships. Around 80 key suppliers attended the BoXZ2EEHERMZ2MAB0OR HE
event, representing approximately 15% of our key suppliers. FESEHERRI15% °
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As of the end of the reporting period, the Company had a total of HERSGHR A A EREH632RK
632 suppliers. The table below provides the details: TREABSMER:

Table: Supplier Distribution by Geographical Region

xR HEBDMH

North Northeast East Central South Southwest Northwest
Region China China China China China China China
ith & ' FRd? Zx° E 3 Ew° ih=ad A’
No. of Suppliers 145 56 220 55 61 62 33
#HE2(X)

Supplier Distribution by Geographical Region
RO A & 7 b & 2 4 [

N¥thwest China|#adt

North China #4t

Southwest China 77 22.94%

81%

@ North China 4t

South China 2

9.65% Northeast China it
East China X
Cemraé%(')za = i Central China £

@ South China &
@ Southwest China FaFg

East China #RX .
34.81% @ Northwest China 71t

! North China: Including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, and Shanxi, excluding Inner Mongolia; 21t : B34t R~ KM JadbE - L% kB
BEASRS:

2 Northeast China: Including Heilongjiang, Jilin, Liaoning, and Inner Mongolia; 1t : B13E BEETE S #ME BEBEEURANE &

East China: Including Shanghai, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Anhui, Fujian, Jiangxi, and Shandong; 23 : 813& /81 JI&FE WL E  LHE

BEE IHE ILEE:

¢ Central China: Including Henan, Hubei, and Hunan; 2/ : B 45a 4 4t 4A R & 48K

° South China: Including Guangdong, Guangxi, and Hainan; 2655 : B iEERE Btk 8 AR EE4E

e Southwest China: Including Chongging, Sichuan, Guizhou, Yunnan, and Xizang; i fd : BiEEE™M W)I|14 - EME - EEE AR A4
[&

7 Northwest China: Including Shaanxi, Gansu, Qinghai, Ningxia, and Xinjiang; 781t : B RE - Hfd 584 EEREAARE #8
HERBRRE.
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4.3.2 Green Procurement

We strictly adhere to internal policies and management
procedures for non-operational procurement, including but not
limited to administrative supplies, engineering supplies, equipment
and facilities, outsourced services, professional services, and
human resources services. Pharmaceutical procurement is
conducted in accordance with the Drug Administration Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Good Manufacturing Practices for
Drugs, and local regulatory policies.

We actively fulfill corporate social responsibilities in our supply
chain management practices and are committed to driving
the low-carbon transition of the supply chain. We prioritise
the procurement of low-carbon and environmentally friendly
products, such as biodegradable and reusable plastic bags and
insulated containers. We regularly conduct quality verification of
the environmentally friendly products and services sourced from
suppliers, encouraging supplier adoption of green products and
services.
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Sipai-branded bio-degradable packaging bag
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5.

5.1

134

OUR EMPLOYEES

We firmly believe that our employees are the most valuable asset,
an eternal driving force, and an inexhaustible source for our
sustainable development. The Group continuously improves its
modern talent management system through ensuring diversity and
equality in its employment policy, implementing a science-based
training system, and creating a healthy and supportive work
environment. We aim to build a platform that supports employee
growth and fosters team cohesiveness, thereby promoting
coordinated development between employees and the Company
through joint value creation.

UN SDGs addressed in this chapter:

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

/e

GENDER
EQUALITY

REDUGED
INEQUALITIES

A
(=)

v

DECENT WORK AND 1
ECONOMIC GROWTH

i T

Safeguarding Employees’ Basic Rights and Interests

The Group strictly complies with national laws and regulations,
including the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Interim Regulations on the Collection and Payment of Social
Insurance Premiums and the Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labour. Internally, we have formulated policies and
systems, including the Employee Handbook, to define the code of
conduct and professional ethics, uphold the principles of fairness
and equality in employment, and ensure equal opportunities
for all candidates. We have established a sound compensation
and benefits system and effective channels for employee
communication and support, thus fostering a diversified team of
talents.
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5.1.1 Diversity and Quality in Employment

We adhere to the principles of “openness, equality, competition,
and merit-based selection” in our recruitment practices. We
have established multiple channels for recruitment, including
online applications, internal applications, and internal referrals, to
extensively attract talent for the Company’s development. As we
continuously optimise our recruitment management processes
and rules, we strictly prohibit the use of child labour and explicitly
stipulate that candidates under the age of 18 are ineligible for

R HERERBE

511 %t BT EEE

BARF 2R FHF - HF FEIN
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BELRBARR WURBHEETE

employment. Any applicant found to be under 18 will be deemed

ineligible immediately, and the screener will be held accountable AR -
for significant oversight, ensuring the prevention of child labour at
its source.

BMBORREITEYS 28 &
BN TIERE SRREBABSES
SWEIT HERERMER Bk F& =
REMNSRRYEIBEELNHER R
AR T ZAFEHMERERN-

We are committed to creating an equal, inclusive, and
non-discriminatory workplace for all employees. We encourage
the hiring of individuals from diverse backgrounds and strictly
prohibit any discrimination based on gender, race, age, religious
beliefs, or other factors, ensuring that all candidates enjoy equal
employment rights.
Onboarding Following the principles of voluntariness and equality, we sign labour contracts with new
employees, ensuring the avoidance of forced labour. If any violations are identified, the Group
will immediately assign the relevant department for investigation and take appropriate action in
strict accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

BREER FEHERA-EHABEIRITSHAR REEHETHERNEE - —BEIBMN
BERTR AEEEAZEHEBEPIRARAS  WERRKEER AR ERETLERE

ABRES

Termination We handle labour contract termination and compensation matters in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, ensuring proper communication with employees through
amicable consultation within the legal framework. To minimise the impact on other employees,
we hold one-on-one discussions when necessary based on actual circumstances.
BERRBRELSBaRNMERMBRRHESHN XN EEE  WHRREEEERNAR T
NI REETIZEER RREEIZHNEERE VERKSRBEERBEARA Y
— A o
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5.1.2Employee Compensation and Benefits 5.1.2 B T % B 548 7
We continuously improve our compensation and benefits system, BPTE TS S MAENGFEER
put in place incentive measures, and establish reasonable working ERBRE RETHITEENIRE
hours and vacation arrangements for employees, ensuring PEA KBRS - TR TEFNAE 08 1y
a balance between work and life, thus effectively enhancing BRURA B IHESREERK

136

employees’ sense of fulfillment and happiness.

Compensation
and benefits

B ER

Working hours
and rest
periods

THREKR

The Group offers competitive compensation and benefits packages, with corresponding
bonus incentives based on performance appraisal results. In addition to the social insurance
premiums and housing provident fund stipulated by national and local authorities, the Group
also provides employees with non-monetary benefits, such as supplementary health insurance
and accident insurance.

HEABRFNNFMRBANFE WEASBEIERARGTHEREZSHE sTEIH
TERREGR: REKBERRM A EBAREREIHAALERE EEARE 2N &K
MEASEIRHMBAERERE BIMRE B BRBmEEFHMEF -

We ensure employees are entitled to all statutory public holidays, as well as annual leave, sick
leave, and other holidays in accordance with the Group’s systems. In principle, the Group does
not encourage employees to work overtime. Flexible attendance arrangements are provided
for employees to commute during non-peak hours.

REBIZEMBEEEAKRB URBAEEFEZXFR RAREBRY BBETNE
THES RAI EASBETHERIE - WAEBTREBEN ALY HEEITHELT

Mid-Autumn Festival

gift for employees
M8 TE# M IRE B &R

\
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5.1.3Employee Communication 513 E T )EE
We value employee feedback and have improved our BMEGREIER BREETEIEHS-
democratic management mechanism by establishing a BYZEINBETBEBRER REBT
multi-level communication system to ensure open and effective BB RRGBENE -

communication and grievance channels for employees.

Enhancing Daily
Communication

PSR $

Improving
Grievance
Mechanism

2 HRREH

Each business department is equipped with a dedicated HRBP team that addresses
employee and business needs promptly, ensuring efficient information exchange. Employees
can communicate directly with HR and management through platforms such as WeCom
and the corporate email system. In 2024, we held over 140 one-on-one dialogues between
senior executives and employees, as well as 30 cross-level forums, strengthening two-way
communication.

EEBBFICBEZEEHRBPEN IR EEETHERFI R BRELANERE-EIARA
BEEME SEBAEREEFEHRMNEREER BB - 2024F RtHERGEHEE T
— ¥ — 8140885 BER A G305 L ERERE -

To protect employees’ rights and interests, we have established a tiered, confidential grievance
mechanism. Employees experiencing discrimination or harassment can file grievances to their
direct supervisor, department head, higher management, or HR at any time, with options for
anonymous or escalated grievances.

HEBISERRE RIS BREBHFEE - B TEBEREXRER  AIBRAEEE &
FIBEA ERBEE HRREB EEREBHRFAF-
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5.1.4Employee Care

138

We have organised a variety of initiatives to care for our
employees, including diverse cultural, sporting, and team-building
activities characteristic of the Company, enriching both the work
and personal lives of our employees. In 2024, we hosted an
online sports event and themed activities like “Sporty Sipai” and

=

514 B TR

]

BMMRZEELHRCHETHEER -
HESEEEMAERREENE
BEH 2B T TEMAENE- 2024
FBRMARTHELEY S [REEF]
Dk N2 EE B T eI A B Bk
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B EE—FEHRR R
EHRANNEREY
GEDETFALE—TA?
TARRREROR, DEFHESHDRITHRSG
TANTR®, TR5R, BREH

TARR—PERRERGE, GEBAOHKE. AR

“Sipai Power” program to
enhance teamwork
HAETRNE] ETBEE)
RAEKRIEN

“Sipai Power”, continuously enhancing team cohesion.

AR, FEEEE/SENRYR AR
EFACER
HiE/ GRESRT AR A EFHR
BESEES RS
MEMAE RN T
AEEARE

“Children’s Day with
Sipai” to enhance the
parent-child relationship
B R—EBK] =TT
BTHEZFORFEE

B e

PHEEEES

TES, BasAGESO—B
HREWNNIS NI CER.
EARBASAROBRS N

L maman. ePnanzE
(¥  trow=wA.
BXEE. Rem.

PRBARANA-—KIEMS %
=, MENUBELHFR
EHE. 0ifFi9iE, EREAD

“Mid-Autumn Poetry
Challenge” to celebrate
cultural heritage
R TR MRES]
RIUEER

Team building at Sipai’s 10th
anniversary celebration
BR+BFEERREAF

“Children’s Day with Sipai” art exhibition:
Parents at work through children’s eyes
[R—EBk] EREMR—
EHOBEFESEBHHRE
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5.2 Employee Training and Development 52 ETHEIIEERE
The Group places great importance on employee training and NREFBSEHEHEBE THIEIEEE B
development, recognising it as a key driver of mutual growth HE A ATHE T HRAELSHEE
for the Company and our employees. We continuously improve B ) o TETEBLES )52 X ERBY 3 & i
our training system and career advancement mechanisms, fl AETIREZ TEMEZHLR D
offering employees with diverse guidance and experience-sharing T HEETITEBEAIGE YEBETEH
opportunities to inspire value creation and support their all-round I ©
development.

5.2.1 Commitment to Talent Development 521 BESF A SIS
Upholding a talent-first principle, we are committed to building BPBFAAEBLOES BOITES
a diversified, multi-tiered, and systematic talent development T - ZRBA - EGEMAAIEESEX
system and pathways for learning and development. By doing so, MEBBERBE AHSE TeehTE
we aim to enhance employee capabilities continuously and foster B RECE b ESR-

a strong corporate culture.

Employee Training Performance
B TEINERK

Number of employees trained By gender Male 187
ZIIER (A) R RS8R EHET
Female 1,061
ZMHET
By position R&D and functions 873
REAL DR =T BB B AR
Business 375
ES7 3
Average training hours By gender Male 2.38
TR (M) g k| Al | EMHET
Female 2.10
ZMET
By position R&D and functions 5.40
REAL DA ZE T BB B R
Business 3.14
E$7 3
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Type of Training
EIE|E

Onboarding

ABE

Professional Skills
Training

EX KR

Description
BFIRE

Onboarding is conducted monthly, covering a wide range of modules, such as company
overview, organisational structure, internal administrative, financial, and HR processes
and information, and business ethics. Onboarding helps new employees integrate
into the team and familiarise themselves with the Company’s daily operations and
regulations.
FAEMETAREI ARRECREN AMBER 1TB M5 AFHBERER
BREEE UNEABMNEEFRZRE sIEBMEIRABRL RELQFHE LERIE
EREHIE -

This training cultivates awareness of quality accountability and efficient CRC habits and
equips employees with essential knowledge and skills. It emphasises fostering team
spirit, communication skills, and leadership among new employees.
BIINAREEERETEREE SHCRCEEENE FE AETRHBEMUENA
BN ITEEBFEINERAERS BERTOIMNEZE -

Management Capability Covering modules such as financial management, strategic management,

Training

BB HE

communication, and collaborative innovation, this training is conducted by external
experts engaged by the Company to deliver professional and cutting-edge content.
BHNESRMBEE BREE OBBRE AFERASHBANS LEIBARTE
BINBERAR  AHERFINADTHEEEEA A -

Employees receiving Advanced CRC Training
#8485 59 e CRC P 15 31

&

® Leadsankx | BH&H
-

g 5
¥y e —— ,ﬂ, =

- o AR — / s —

e S

Sipai Leadership Development Camp —
First Cohort
BB REBIREEAKKE —HEI
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5.2.2Optimising Career Ladders

5.3

The Group enhances its employee development framework
continuously, improving career progression paths and
implementing regular performance appraisal. By fostering more
transparent upward mobility, we drive mutual growth of the
Company and our employees, thus increasing the value of our

B HEREAEE

522 B EFHEE

AEEFETSEIRFIERER &
LETREENRE THRARERE
2o AR IEREMRBES X RS
THRKE BREANEREEEE-

human capital.

Performance Appraisal

R EZ

Promotion Mechanism

BTl

Performance appraisal is performed on an annual basis, following standardised,
differentiated and science-based evaluation mechanisms developed in line with
the characteristics of each business. The process is initiated company-wide
each December and finalised in January of the following year. Appraisal results
are promptly communicated to employees by their respective business units,
ensuring a clear understanding of their performance future development direction.
RRFERRENEZEEILE KEEBNMERHN TR ZUASH -
ZE BB ZERET - FREEXEZTERSFI12ABARS /-
WHRRFIATKTE AT ERARASEBMBFIRFEE TETREBR
REILEW THRE FHEBUE R ARKKERT A -

We conduct regular promotion assessments based on employee performance
and the Company’s development needs. When a position becomes available,
we prioritise internal candidates who are well-suited for the role. If no qualified
internal candidates are available, we initiate an external recruitment process to
ensure optimal and efficient use of human resources.
BEBIERKRLRARZERERT R BB E AT H-EHRELZE
R EBERAIERESENE TEF - EAEEBEE  AIREINEEE

miz ERANEREENZELESRE-

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group places high priority on the occupational health and
safety of our employees. Adhering consistently and strictly to
applicable laws and regulations such as the Production Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Fire Prevention Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and the Emergency Response
Law of the People’s Republic of China, we make every effort
to create a safe, healthy, and comfortable workplace. We have
incorporated disaster prevention, fire safety enhancements,
emergency response, among other matters into our Employee
Handbook, thus promoting employee awareness of protecting
their own health and safety. In addition, through strengthened
emergency management, safety skills training, and health-oriented
events and activities, we continuously improve our work safety
infrastructure to safeguard the physical and mental health of our
employees. In 2024, the Group reported no safety accidents and
our work-related injuries and fatalities rate was zero.

53 BixXRENRZE

REBSEERETHNRERERLS
RIREIS B (PEARANMBZ 24
EE) (PEARKEMBIUEZE) (R
EAREMBEESHELE L) SHAE
EEER 2 NEERE BE - FED
THERE-BRMECBIFM £3T
B ETE - nog BB 22 A R TERh
REEHEFTAMNAND BEE T HHE
BEERELE BRMEBBNEERE
B BT EREEY EBERES
EFRTEHEERSELE2RE RE
BT B O REE - 20244 AN B R £
ZREW BIBTXRAS-
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Enhancing Emergency Management: To meet the emergency
response requirements of the government and regulators, we
have developed a series of emergency plans, including power
outage response plans and fire evacuation plans. In the event
of an incident, we will immediately relay relevant information
to the appropriate managers and the Human Resources (HR)
department and promptly arrange medical assistance for
injured employees to ensure their health and safety. To facilitate
quick evacuations during emergencies, we have posted clear
emergency exit signs, entry and exit guide maps, and evacuation
maps in all offices. All offices of the Group have complied with the
national fire safety acceptance requirements.

INERME S B - B M ER R RBT
PIERBEEHNEHER FITT &
EEBE BEEEESBRE -TEA
ZESHRBRE - WERESER &
EE—REEABEERPEFE RS
B A HEBREF (HR) TR L HF
BEIRABERBETRUR REB
THEMBERETZ -KMEER QISR
AhZ 2 1 0O - R B g A E
EEB BAERBREHREPABRR
BEi- AEBEMAERRSIHUFARR
HE R U E Sk -

Unobstructed

emergency exit
U538 Al A A

Training Employees in Safety Skills: We actively organise
training on emergency response, fire evacuation, and first aid to
enhance employees’ abilities to handle unexpected events and
emergencies while strengthening our overall emergency response
capabilities on a continuous basis. Our goal is to minimise or
prevent disruptions to daily operations and safeguard the lives
and property of our employees and customers.

142 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

Signs for emergency exit
and evacuation route
72 M A E % 2 5 AT B

BREETIRZRE RMABEGMEAKET
SHEBRR B Z 2R 2HEF
ERBEI RABTRHREEZHME
SRR REE FER(CBRESOE
IR FSRE D R R REEMFH DR
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Employees receiving first aid training
EBE T2 MM

B HEREAEE

First aid drill
R 2 RUE 8-

Fire drills

PR RR

Providing Medical Support and Advice: To enable effective
emergency response and ensure the health and safety of
employees and visitors, we equip all offices with first-aid kits and
other essential medical supplies, which are regularly maintained
and replenished by designated personnel. In addition, we
offer employees well-being consultations and services through
dedicated in-house doctors and periodic employee interviews,
ensuring timely access to professional medical advice and
support.

RUEBREBNEB SAMEHES
A NEREE TEPETNRELS

BAESRRGAEE N ERSEBEY
B UL EATHREENMITEm

RREBE R ER SR - T APTE
BARBEBEL TEHRRETIS
HKEFTN BREITRMHS O EELAM
R REEIRBENEREXESR
EEB -
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First-aid kits are available in office areas to address initial treatment
for common minor injuries.

ERDGMRESKNER RERREMEGRNTFEERRK-

Organising Various Health Activities: Keenly committed HRERERRID -RMEAZE IS8
to our employees’ well-being, we organise a diverse range of RE - EIEzHRERTEEZHRORE
health initiatives outside of work. These activities not only help to REBIEE HHEETHFEEME
enhance employees’ physical fitness but also strengthen team B BB ARKH B BB ERE AR M
spirit and promote a positive, active lifestyle, thus contributing to EWAEFEREE BIEREBE NNES
a healthy and dynamic work environment. In 2024, we organised PN ZERE o 2024 F 404 T [RIES 0 12
themed events such as “Sporty Sipai: Awakening Summer EEERZER] [BkFE_jEELEHS
Dopamine” and the “2nd Sipai Online Sports Games”, which drew EXBES RIIETHERS M-

enthusiastic participation from employees.

P %4
43‘ e

BESRECHLBAEES

[EER, RSER

i¢ .. EMESTFRES
WY przae
LR RERERE R

W R/(TERRIDARE
RERR, ARBLEMAENRES

P [ =

Health activities at Sipai

AR REREEY
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group upholds the concept of sustainable development and
firmly believes that environmental protection is an essential part
of realising our vision. We strictly abide by laws and regulations
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Renewable Energy Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Circular Economy Promotion Law of
the People’s Republic of China. We implement energy-saving and
emission-reduction measures, optimise resource utilisation, and
carry out green office practices continuously. These efforts have
helped to effectively reduce our environmental impact, minimise
greenhouse gas emissions and waste generation, and further
improve the efficiency of resource use.

UN SDGs addressed in this chapter:

GCLEAN WATER
AND SANITATION

1 GLIMATE
ACTION

3 2

Addressing Climate Change

The Group is keenly aware of the potential risks presented by
climate change and that these risks may affect our business
operations, particularly in the context of increasingly frequent
extreme weather events. We have implemented systematic
strategic measures to address climate change, ensuring that we
effectively identify, manage and respond to related risks while
improving our climate resilience on an ongoing basis.

TEREKH
FERIE

R HERERBE

6. EMHERER

AEBERFAFERRES BERE
RERERAABESNEZ —R-HM
EAREST (PEARKMBRRREER)
(PEARLAMBESHLERE) (P
ARKMBERIBERRE) A K (FE
ARKAMBERREEREE) FERZX
- BiEEIRERBHE I BILERER
SEERGERN AREETRREY
& FARER IR E RGP R 2
MES E—TRETERNBRE-

FECEBESETFEXREB R (SDGs) :

1 3 RARITE

3 2

6.1 EXI RISt
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6.1.1 Climate Change Strategy and Governance

Framework

The Company recognises the potential physical risks and financial
impacts of climate change on its operations acutely. In line with
the climate-related disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, we comprehensively identify climate-related
risks and opportunities and take proactive measures in response.
These efforts aim to ensure that the Company effectively manages
climate-related risks and capitalises on potential opportunities as
it faces climate challenges.

In terms of the physical climate risks, we are particularly
concerned about the impact of extreme weather events (e.qg.
storms, floods, droughts, etc.), including their potential threats
to office premises, employee commuting, and the supply chain.
To this end, we factor extreme weather risks into our day-to-day
operations, putting in place contingency plans and ensuring
interdepartmental coordination.

6.1.2ldentification and Management of Climate-Related

Risks

The Company engaged external consultants to thoroughly
identify climate-related risks and assess their potential impact on
our operations. We have focused on the following categories of
climate risks and opportunities:

6.1.1%,

6.1.2 5/,
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2024 Sipai Climate Risks and Potential Impacts
7 20245 Bk R K @z 23 5l BB R 8

Risks Identified Description

2| B 78 5 At

Policy and Legal Risks The evolving landscape of climate
BERREERE change-related environmental

regulations, energy use restrictions and
carbon emissions standards requires
the Company to adjust its business
operations. These regulatory changes
may result in additional compliance
and implementation costs, particularly
in the areas of health insurance and
pharmaceutical supply chain.

RIRECAERE R RRER - 58

{2 F% £ g 0 2% o L JRE 98 RIS
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EREBLETRHE FLEAREDHARE
BHEIARMEEELA KRR HE

Potential Impacts

BEXE

The growing stringency of climate-related
policies and regulations may lead

to increased compliance costs and
operational burdens.

ﬁﬂ%ﬁ{tiﬁ FABCRAE R B0 B 21 AR Al

ERENARRATELRLE-

Increased operating costs affect the
Company’s long-term profitability.

#

IMEERA  FERRRPANGES -



Risks Identified
0 B 58 B

Technology Risks
9 2 B

Reputation Risks
BERR

Market Risks
i Bk
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2024 Sipai Climate Risks and Potential Impacts

7 1 2024 Bk &% R B 35 7l £

Description

AEffut

Large-scale technology investments,
such as energy-efficient management
systems, may be necessary to implement
environmentally friendly technologies
and carbon reduction measures in
pharmaceutical supply and health
management services.

Mt ENEREERGRE 5
IR BT AR A B HE A 1R e BT RE R
RABROFRMZE - R NEE R

faray
HE o

The Company’s ESG performance
(particularly in relation to climate change)
can have a direct impact on brand image
and customer loyalty.

NAIMESGKRE (LHEZERIEE(LIE
HOm)SEETZEMBRERNERLH
ED

Given the increasing demand for green
practices, failure to develop eco-friendly
or low-carbon products in a timely
manner (e.g. green insurance products,
low-carbon pharmaceutical supply chain,
etc.) may lead to a decline in revenue.
HERERNBRKERER  KENFH
TR R Em (WARSRBER
B R EES) Al e EBURA TR -

By 988
B

Potential Impacts

BEXE

Promoting the implementation of
low-carbon technologies and sustainable
innovations may increase initial
investment costs and affect the market
competitiveness of the Company’s
products.

HEBY (R B BT % AT 55 48 BI 37 89 & e 7] B
BN BB L B E BT 5 5
EH o

High technology investment costs affect
the Company'’s short-term financial
performance.
RIMREKAN = BRI BRI -
Given the growing public and investor
interest in the climate change response
of enterprises, failure to make significant
progress in its green and low-carbon
transition can damage the Company’s
reputation.
ABMEEEARBETICEERIKRE(
EH PRI R RFRIMEHRER
TRGREERIESREATEBE

Reputational damage can lead to loss of
customers and affect revenue growth.
BEBEITURBHEP RN FERA
K-

Given the growing market demand for
green health insurance and eco-friendly
medicines, failure to adjust products and
services timely may result in lost market
share for the Company.

MG ZEERRERRMRRERHT K
BR QRAIERERGHAEERMRS
ARG kREMISHE -

Restricted sales growth, potential increase
in operating costs.
HERRXR - Al p1g IE S KA -
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Risks Identified
J22, e 58k B

Acute Physical Risks
SV E E R

Chronic Physical Risks
18 M Y32 A by

2024 Sipai Climate Risks and Potential Impacts

= 1 20245 Bk S 15 [ B 55 ) £ 7

Description

g

The increase in extreme weather events
can lead to delays in pharmaceutical
distribution, difficulties in staff attendance,
damage to physical facilities, etc., which
may have a direct impact on customer
service and revenue.

1R i ] SR SR R Y 3 0N AT B 38 K B2 Gn iR 2K
R BETHERE MERBEXIES
HEZEZPRBAMEA -

Sustained high temperatures and

climate change may lead to worsened
pharmaceutical storage conditions, supply
chain disruptions, and even risks to
employee health.
FESBNMAIEE (A ERER A
R EE HERETE ExE8TERER

%o
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Potential Impacts

BESE

Extreme weather events (e.g.,

storms, floods, droughts, etc.) can

cause disruption to office premises,
pharmaceutical storage, and distribution,
impacting business operations and the
supply chain.
BimRARENG (NRR K ZEF)TA
BEEBUR IS BEmA AR X A -
HEEGEENLEE -

Operational disruptions, asset losses,
decreased revenue.
EEPRE - BEEBK WATE-
Chronic climate change (e.g. rising
temperatures, climate extremes) can affect
the Company’s office environment, supply
chain stability and employee health.
REHREEE (RE L - RIRERIS
L) Rl B AR N IRIE - (HEEIBT
MRE TR

Reduced production efficiency, increased
operating costs, and compromised
employee benefits.

HEMERE EMEENE FEET
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Opportunities Identified Description

HiEE
RERERREMR

Alternative Energy

RERE R

HEE

Given the new health risks associated
with climate change, such as diseases
caused by extreme weather events

and climate-induced chronic diseases,
launching appropriate insurance products
can help attract new customers.

BEZE R Z L BRIV R R AR - 1R
I AR S| YRR - RIR S| R EE MR
W L ABERRERAIRSIFES -

Investing in and utilising renewable energy
sources (e.g. installing rooftop solar panels
on office buildings) promotes transition to
clean energy and reduces dependence on
traditional energy sources.
RBRENMAMARTBEEER (WEHQ
BEIELEKNGEEMR)  BEREREE
RERNMB4GE R WD HESEIRD
fR#E

R HERERBE

2024 Sipai Climate Opportunities and Potential Financial Impacts
BB G E

Potential Impacts

BEXE

Climate-related health issues (e.g. the rise
in climate-induced diseases) present the
Company with opportunities to develop
green health insurance products that
address market demand.

IR A2 ERME (RIKS
BERIEN) RARREHEZERER
BEMNKE KmmemBHER-

Improve operating income and market
share.

RAAEEWA B INT5HHHE-
Adoption of new energy technologies (e.g.
solar, wind) can lower the Company’s
energy consumption and costs and
enhance operational effioiency
AR B (an K5

{iW/N m/ﬁﬁﬂﬁ$<kﬂ$

e ) AIpE
%KTO

Reduce energy expenses in the long run
and improve cost-effectiveness.
fRIRREIREIRA X IRE AN
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2024 Sipai Climate Opportunities and Potential Financial Impacts

7= 2024F R RIRHBH R B EM B E

Opportunities Identified Description

BB R B
Resource Efficiency

BRME

Resilience

i e

g

Further reduce resource consumption and
improve environmental performance by
optimising the use of office equipment,
reducing paper consumption and
improving waste recycling rates.
BBBCHARBER RAMARER
ReEEYEKRXELSN - E—FREE
RBR  IRESRRER -

Implementing green office policies (e.g.
energy-efficient equipment, paperless
office) and improving the work environment
for employees (e.g. commuting route
planning, flexible working arrangements)
can help enhance climate change
resilience.

WITHERAEBR (NEnsERE B
PR BB TITERE (NAHK
mARE BEIESR) S BBREAR
1 &b & T Re
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Potential Impacts

BESE

Optimise the use of office equipment,
reduce paper consumption, improve waste
recycling rates, etc. to further reduce
resource consumption and strengthen
environmental performance. Improving
resource efficiency (e.g. paper reduction,
optimised pharmaceutical packaging,
green logistics, etc.) contributes to lower
consumption and reduced emissions.
RESERMAME (DR - B %
mBEE ZEMRE)BREEER
A BERL -

Reduce operating costs and build a
greener brand image.

BREEERE RACEZEER

It helps improve the Company'’s

resilience to climate change challenges
by continuously promoting energy
conservation and emissions reduction, and
optimising supply chain management and
facility design.
FREHEET RO R BE L E - BLHEEE
B MR R ET  FIIG R N A FE E R R
BB R R B EE S

Improve the Company’s climate resilience
and reduce potential risks.
REAARIEERENL  BEEERR-
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6.1.3 Greenhouse Gases Emission and Reduction Measures

We are committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions and
have taken a series of steps to improve the energy efficiency of
our operations and reduce our impact on the environment. We
have undertaken the following emission reduction initiatives:

o Energy efficiency: Improve energy efficiency and reduce
unnecessary energy consumption through smart office
management systems. For example, smart switchgears
have been installed in selected office areas to control lighting
and air-conditioning usage on actual demand, thereby
reducing energy wastage.

° Low-carbon commuting and workplace: \We promote
the use of public transport for commuting and encourage
low-carbon travel. In addition, we prioritise office locations
that are easily accessible and close to public transport
facilities, such as the metro, to reduce carbon emissions
from employee commuting.

° Resource conservation and recycling: We advocate
paperless office, adopt double-sided printing and reduce
the use of colour printing. Office supplies are purchased
based strictly on need, with preference given to sustainable
brands wherever possible. Recycling (e.g. leasing instead of
buying office computers) and the use of second-hand office
furniture are also encouraged.

° Waste management: \We comply strictly with waste sorting
policies, clean up waste regularly, and coordinate with
property management for disposal. Used battery recycling
bins are provided at each workplace, with regular collections
and proper disposal to minimise environmental impact.

R HERERBE

6.1.3 )i % B8 PR I SRR R ER F
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6.1.4 Climate Change Adaptability and Resilience Building  6.1.4 {2/ i@ fE AL ) B2 & 1 72 3%

6.2

To build resilience to climate change, we will continue to improve
our management systems for responding to extreme weather
events and conduct regular emergency drills to ensure the
effectiveness of these measures. We will also invest resources in
long-term monitoring and assessment of climate risks to ensure
that the Company can adapt flexibly to diverse climate-related
challenges.

By continuously monitoring the impact of climate change, we will
further promote the use of green technologies to reduce carbon
emissions, improve resource efficiency and gradually transition to
greener, low-carbon operating models.

Emissions Management

The Group is committed to continuously improving our emissions
management system. We have implemented rigorous systems
and effective measures to reduce waste generation, increase
waste recycling rates and ensure compliant waste disposal. Our
waste management systems undergo continuous enhancement
and we have taken a range of practical initiatives to meet the
growing requirements of emissions management.

6.2.1 Waste Management System

152

In 2024, we further strengthened our waste management system
to ensure that all types of waste are handled in compliance with
relevant laws, regulations and industry standards. The Company
strictly follows local regulations to ensure that all waste, both
hazardous and non-hazardous, is sorted, recycled and disposed
of as stipulated. Hazardous waste is handled in strict compliance
with the Administrative Measures for the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Electronic Waste, the Regulation
on the Administration of the Recovery and Disposal of Waste
Electrical and Electronic Products and other relevant regulations.
At the same time, we have optimised the entire waste treatment
process to reduce waste at source. We also work with property
management and qualified third-party treatment providers to
ensure proper waste management.
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6.2.2\Waste Reduction and Recycling

We work with qualified third-party environmental agencies
to improve the professionalism and efficiency of our waste
management processes. We continuously optimise these
processes and encourage active employee participation in
recycling and environmental protection efforts. This ensures
our environmental initiatives comply with national and local
regulations, while driving the Company’s transition to greener,
more sustainable operating models. Below are our measures
and performance in waste reduction and recycling across various
waste types.

Waste battery management: To reduce the environmental
impact of hazardous waste, we have set up waste battery
recycling bins in all workplaces, and regularly collaborate with
property management to collect and dispose of waste batteries.
In 2024, the Company generated 13.85kg of waste battery, with
a 100% recycling rate.

Waste lamps and cartridge management: We manage
hazardous waste including waste lamps and waste cartridge with
stringency. In 2024, the Company generated 16.43kg of waste
cartridge, with a 100% recycling rate.

Electrical and electronic waste management: We have
implemented a systematic recycling process for waste electrical
and electronic products. In 2024, the Company generated 25.5kg
of electrical and electronic waste, with a 100% recycling rate.

Non-hazardous waste management: In 2024, the Company
generated 8.5kg of non-hazardous waste, with a 100% recycling
rate. Waste sorting has been further strengthened at offices to
reduce resource wastage.
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2024 Sipai Waste Management Overview
R 2024F BIRBEEYERER

Category Indicator 2024 Unit
Al EE 20244 By
Total waste battery produced 13.85 Kg
BEEMELEE T
Total waste battery recycled 13.85 Kg
FEEME K E T
Waste battery produced per unit 0.0992 Kg/person
B BEEMELS Fr/A
Total waste lamps/bulbs produced 116 Piece
ERE/ BAEEE &
Total waste lamps/bulbs recycled 116 Piece
FEREE fpbliE &
Hazardous Waste Waste lamps/bulbs produced per unit 0.036 Piece/person
BEEREY) BRERE BAELS &/ A
Total waste cartridge produced 16.43 Kg
BREESEES T
Waste cartridge produced per unit 0.113 Kg/person
B ERaELrE o)A
Total waste electrical and electronic 25.5 Kg
products produced
BEREFEMELE T
Total waste electrical and electronic 25.5 Kg
products recycled
BEETERDKE Fu
Total non-hazardous waste produced 8.5 Kg
BEERVELE Fr
Non-hazardous Waste Total non-hazardous waste recycled 8.5 Kg
BREEZED BEREEYLIWE T
Non-hazardous waste produced per unit 0.14 Kg/person
BUBEEENELS TN
6.2.3Disposal of Waste Pharmaceuticals 6.2.3 BE & fm R 1T
We strictly adhere to drug management regulations in our TENRFBEEE R TG 7 - B PIER A R 1T 4%

specialty pharmacy business to ensure the proper disposal of
expired and waste pharmaceuticals. All expired pharmaceuticals
are handed over to qualified third parties for harmless treatment
in compliance with national and local environmental requirements.
We are committed to further enhancing the management of
waste pharmaceuticals, ensuring that the disposal process is
transparent and compliant. In addition, regular training will be
provided to employees to enhance their understanding of waste
pharmaceutical disposal and its operational standards.
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6.2.4Waste Gas and Wastewater Management

6.3

With regard to waste gas and wastewater discharges, we act in
strict accordance with relevant environmental laws and regulations
and take effective control measures to ensure the air emissions
and wastewater discharges generated from our operations are
compliant with environmental protection standards. In 2024, we
continued to strengthen the monitoring and management of air
and wastewater discharges to keep emission indicators within
regulatory limits and minimise their environmental impact.

Rational Use of Resources

The Group places high importance on the rational use of
resources and is committed to reducing the consumption of
natural resources, the burden on the environment and enhancing
operational efficiency through the implementation of energy
and water conservation measures and the optimisation of office
resources management. The following is a summary of our
consumption and recycling of water, energy and packaging
materials.

6.3.1 Water Management

We encourage employees to save water in their daily work
through a series of measures, including formulating and refining
the Green Office Management Standards and the Civilisation
Convention for Office Spaces of Sipai, and posting water-saving
signs and reminders at various offices. In line with the actual
operational needs, the Company implements water resources
management in strict accordance with the management
requirements of the Group and local water authorities to ensure
effective and rational use of water resources.

According to 2024 data, the Company’s water consumption per
unit was 0.21 cubic metre/person and total water consumption
was 32 cubic metres. We will continue to improve water efficiency
to conserve and sustainably manage water resources.
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6.3.2 Energy Management

We have been actively promoting energy-saving technologies and
improving energy efficiency. In 2024, the Company took a series
of measures to reduce energy consumption, such as upgrading
the air-conditioning system, switching to energy-efficient lighting
and improving the efficiency of office equipment, which has
further lowered energy consumption.

According to the 2024 data, the Company’s total energy
consumption is 294.92 MWh, of which 49.73 MWh is direct
energy consumption and 245.19 MWh is indirect energy
consumption, mainly from purchased electricity.

6.32 BEIRE IR

B APIFE AT HE 2 BT AL AT A B AR AN RS TR 3
KRE)IR T o E2024%F » R B O % E
AR D RERERE - BIEBE = RS

ERREE B IR AR AL S

HE—HRETRRERE-

B2024F E R RAIMEREERE A
20492k Bl HA B RERER
49.73JK FLB - E1#2 RE IR B #% 5245.190K
EE EEREINEE

2024 Sipai Energy Management Overview

® 1 2024F BIRALIRE BN

Indicator 2024 Unit
Ei=g: 20245 By
Total energy consumption 294,92 MWh
BEREREE JK LBy
Energy consumption intensity 9.08x10* MWh/person
BEREREE JKELEE, A
Direct energy consumption 49.73 MWh
BEERRERE JK LBy
Direct energy consumption intensity 1.53x10” MWh/person
BERREREER JKEEE, A
Petrol consumption 49.73 MWh
VR EREE JK LBy
Indirect energy consumption 24519 MWh
MEgEREMRE JK LBy
Indirect energy consumption intensity 7.55x10% MWh/person
MEgERERETE JKEEE, A
Purchased electricity 24519 MWh
HNEREE JKFLBF
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6.3.3Packaging Materials Management

6.4

We uphold the concept of environmental protection and
require our specialty pharmacy business to comply strictly with
degradable and recyclable standards in the use of packaging
materials. All packaging bags are made of biodegradable
eco-friendly materials. Packaging materials such as insulated
containers are made of reusable materials to reduce the
consumption of resources at source.

Adhering to the principles of reduction, light weight, and recycling
in packaging materials management, the Company minimises
its impact on the environment. We encourage employees and
partners to jointly promote the use of environmentally friendly
packaging and reduce unnecessary packaging waste through
continuous improvement of packaging design.

Improving Environmental Awareness

The Group recognises that raising employee awareness of
environmental protection is crucial to promoting its sustainable
development. Through a series of measures, the Company
continues to promote employee awareness of energy
conservation, emissions reduction and the rational use of
resources as part of a collective effort to achieve its environmental
goals through the practical actions of employees.
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6.4.1 Environmental Training

158

We organise regular environmental training to enhance
employees’ sense of responsibility and practical abilities in
environmental protection. The training provides knowledge on
energy conservation, emission reduction, waste classification,
water conservation, etc., aimed at enabling employees to fully
understand the positive impact of environmental protection on
the Company and society. The Company also promotes the
environmental behaviour of employees in their daily work through
training on the Employee Handbook and the Green Office
Management Standards.

641 FHERREI
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Environmental training
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6.4.2 Green Procurement and Office Resources 6A2 X EBRBHEPFABEREE

Management

The Company adheres strictly to green procurement standards in RAERAEROEEBREPERSEST
the sourcing of office resources, giving priority to office equipment FERBEE BLAEBHERREX
and furniture that meet environmental requirements. We also focus W ARBENRE - BB FEZERD
on the rational use of resources, using energy-efficient lighting AEFER PR AR A A E R A
devices in the office, and regulating the use of air-conditioning/ RE - TERAMERAEABBRIREEE
heating in accordance with energy-saving standards. Employees EHETHAM BEIHGR REFERAT
are encouraged to use recyclable mugs when hosting visitors to BRANANS M @REHA —RMR
prevent the use of disposable paper cups and reduce the waste HORD— RSB RBERE -

of disposable plastics.

Energy-efficient lighting at the office
MABRBAECAEEEERARE
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6.4.3Embracing Green Office Practices

160

We advocate for green office concepts and have released
documents such as the Green Office Management Standards and
the Civilisation Convention for Office Spaces of Sipai to actively
foster a culture of energy conservation and emissions reduction
within the office. For example, employees are required to turn
off computer power and air conditioning when they leave their
workplace and to ensure that all energy-intensive equipment is
powered off promptly when not in use. To better manage paper
use, the Company encourages employees to use double-sided
printing wherever possible, reduce unnecessary printing and
utilise email and electronic documents to help minimize paper
consumption.

To further strengthen employees’ environmental awareness, the
Company has set up an environmental protection publicity wall in
the office area that regularly publishes environmental protection
tips and reminders on energy conservation and emissions
reduction to increase employees’ sense of engagement in
environmental efforts. Signs such as “Power down before leaving
work” and “Save water” are also posted in the office area to
remind employees to turn off lights and electrical appliances and
use energy resources rationally.

6.4.3
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Water conservation sign at the office
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OUR COMMUNITY

The Group actively implements the “Healthy China Initiative”,
staying true to our original aspiration and fulfilling our social
responsibilities. We deliver on our roles to help improve
public health standards. We integrate social welfare into our
development strategy, creating value in health insurance services,
physician research assistance, and specialty pharmacy business
through professional services, and ensuring high-quality and
accessible medical services for all. Through high-quality medical
and health services and innovative medical payment models, we
continue to benefit the community, providing multi-dimensional
protection for people’s health, ultimately contributing to a Healthy
China.

UN SDGs addressed in this chapter:

SUSTAINABLE CITIES

12 RESPONSIBLE
AND COMMUNITIES

PARTNERSHIPS
CONSUMPTION FOR THE GOALS
AND PRODUCTION

m@

jn

Health-related Charitable Initiatives

The Group comprehensively embraces corporate social
responsibility through social welfare initiatives and provision of
high-quality healthcare services. These efforts have earned broad
recognition from the industry and community.

In Kunming, Linyi, Chengdu, Yuxi, among other cities, we have
joined hands with co-insurance partners to donate Hui Min
Insurance products to disadvantaged groups and individuals
with rare diseases. This initiative aims to ease their medical
burden, improve their risk resilience, protect them from falling into
or returning to poverty due to illness, and promote healthcare
accessibility. W regularly organize online health and awareness
seminars provided by medical professionals, covering topics such
as basic health knowledge, common misconceptions, wellness
tips, and healthy diets.
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Sipai 2024 Health-related Public Welfare Projects
Bk2024F BEAREH

Project Donation Details

HA BEER

Kunming Disadvantaged Groups As part of the “Spring City Hui Min Insurance” initiative, co-insurance partners jointly
Charitable Insurance Project launched the “Kunming Special Needs Groups Assistance Project”, donating the

2024 basic coverage plan of “Spring City Hui Min Insurance” (priced at RMB69 per
person) for 31,000 individuals from disadvantaged groups in Kunming.

ERMRERARNEREERER [FRERFRIBEARBRKEENEFREERTERRNEHRBERER] R
AN B E2024F E [EWBERR] 69T AW IRE M STHERAM KA
BERF RS LT 1RME31,000A ©

Linyi High-level Talent Charitable = Co-insurance partners of the “Linyi Bao” program launched the “Linyi High-level Talent
Insurance Project Charitable Insurance Project”, donating the basic coverage plan of “Linyi Bao”
(priced at RMB69 per person) for critical ilnesses such as cancer and rare diseases
to 1,877 high-level talents in the city.

BErmmE X AT BEIER (TR EHE RREKEEMER [BIMaBAAABRER | HEBEIMmS
BIXATBEERNZERREERER #2024 [EEITR] 6970 /R E & -
BEEER TS B XAA1877TAC

Chengdu Rare Disease Patients  The “Huirong Bao” insurance alliance introduced the “Charitable Donation Project for
Charitable Donation Project Patients of Selected Rare Diseases in Chengdu”, offering dedicated donations to
individuals under Chengdu’s reimbursement policies for phenylketonuria, as well as
patients of Gaucher and Pompe diseases under Chengdu’s rare disease medication
support mechanism. A total of 80 individuals received assistance under this project.

ETHBFERREEFREE [EARIREBERD KT HERFERREEHBEBEESHYIER ] BEH
HEERBIER MEXRNERRE R BT E ABFNZ BT K m A 2 REH ) AR
EERFEAFRHEIEZSREY BB A0
Yuxi Disadvantaged Groups Co-insurance partners of the “Yuxi Hui Min Insurance” program jointly launched the
Charitable Insurance Project “Yuxi Disadvantaged Groups Charitable Insurance Project” to support vulnerable

groups in Yuxi. A total of 2,000 individuals received the basic coverage plan of the
2024 “Yuxi Hui Min Insurance” (priced at 80 RMB per person), which helps alleviate
their financial burden in the face of health risks.

FEMERNBHBRBIELE [FEERRIBEHARBNEEUMESBE[FTETHRENEHBEEEREE ] &
EEEMSHRNEE S - HEH B 2,000  FTB X BE R BFEE2024FE [ £
EERR] 807 B HE M E ma A RIE - LU M MR S @ RERSFEEaE-
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In November 2024, Sipai received the ESG Model

Enterprise Award at the 14th Philanthropy Festival In September 2024, Sipai was awarded Responsible Enterprise

of 2024 the at the 7th Social Responsibility Conference
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In March 2024, Sipai was awarded 2024 ESG
Practice Model at the 5th Brand Innovation
Development Conference
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7.2

Promoting Industry Development through Partnerships

The Group is committed to leading the digital transformation
of China’s healthcare industry, ensuring high-quality, accessible
medical services for the public. With strong product
competitiveness and innovative service capabilities, we enhance
the quality and standards of healthcare services and set the pace
for biotechnology development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area. By fostering strategic partnerships, we
join forces with business partners to drive value creation for the
industry.

Advancing Medical Research

With regard to physician research assistance, we have established
an innovative Site Management Organisation (SMO) specialising in
oncology research based on our expertise in oncology and other
critical diseases. We support the drug development pipeline of
pharmaceutical companies, from Phase | to Phase IV clinical trials.
We have collaborated with over 100 pharmaceutical companies
and built an extensive network with 27 provincial oncology
hospitals and five national cancer treatment centers nationwide.
As of the end of 2024, we facilitated the marketing approval of 31
products across 71 indications in China, as well as three products
across five indications in the U.S. and the EU.

In addition, we have established an Independent Radiology
Committee (IRC) to provide professional medical imaging services
for efficacy endpoint assessments in the clinical trials of drugs
and medical devices. These services help ensure the scientific
rigor and accuracy of clinical trials.
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The Top 50 of Innovative Biotechnology Companies in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Award 2024
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0) EWRAELFHE IS0

Top 50 Innovative Biotechnlogy Companies in Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Award 2024
20245 BB M A B £ YR 81 # b %5058
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Strategic Partnerships for Leading Practices B S A 1ES|E

Committed to openness and cooperation, we actively exchange BB RFERBEENES Bk
and collaborate with partners, industry associations, and experts BERN HEER EREEHRER
and scholars to drive high-quality development in the healthcare MelE BFPONBETEREERRE-
sector.

Case: Sipai Health Technology reached strategic partnership with Jianyi Technology
R BRERERBNEEREREEE

In 2024, we established a strategic partnership with Jianyi Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. in
Shanghai. Guided by the principles of complementary strengths, mutual benefits, win-win cooperation, and
friendly consultation, we will leverage our respective advantages to advance the “Health Insurance + Healthcare
Management” model and promote value-based care through extensive and in-depth cooperation. Employing
robust technological platforms and data-driven operation capabilities, we aim to provide users with more
accessible, high-quality healthcare services.

20245 BMERBEERE (LB ROERARE LSEXNBEaE ERELERH EEEN &1F
EBRMEHFBEIORNEEREEYS BEABERERR+ BERRERIEX EREEEESF AR
FEZMAARNGIE BIBRANEMTE RBIB(LEERT RAFPREEZEE 7 RNEREERS -

Sipai Health established strategic partnership with
Jianyi Tech
BIRGE R AR B R EOER B A E
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Case: Sipai Health Technology 4th Strategic Partners Conference
RO BREENEENESRSEREERE

In September 2024, Sipai grandly held its 4th Strategic Partners Conference in Zhuhai. Themed as “United for
the Future”, the event brought together industry leaders, strategic partners, insurance executives, and renowned
scholars for in-depth exchanges and sharing on policy reforms, industry trends, corporate benefits, and Sipai’'s
innovative practices. The conference aimed to explore pathways for high-quality industry development, fostering
collaboration with partners to build a brighter future together.

202459 BIREWREBEERNENEHRMAIERHRG - RGU [BERTT MARKR] BEE  HBITEET
AP BESERH RBRAFTEEBENANZEE —R BEREEN TEERBE CERINBREUARE
REFEREZEETAARRNYZ  EEXRRANTESEEERNARKRBE  BEERHEFLE
HAIEIFARK

E@ﬁ%?ﬁwu
S RO
F "ﬁ | ERRANERBEMFKEAS e -a]
BN
= = ‘L‘ = ——y
T~ W — b :-3""“
i o o

Sipai Health Technology 4th Strategic Partners
Conference
BRENEBEAERHEASHZER
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ESG KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIs) 8. ESGRAREN
Environmental KPIs BIBEN
Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022
EEER By 20244 2023%F 20224
Air pollutant emissions
RRTEM°
Nitrogen oxides Kg 4.70 4.03 0.29
A8ty T
Sulphur oxides Kg 7.70x 107 7.78 x 107 213x 10"
malty T
Particulate matters Kg 0.40 0.34 0.03
FERLY) T
Greenhouse gas emissions
BEREHER
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, 161.94 1,260.06 1,276.79
equivalent
mERBYNAE WE AL iRE S
Total greenhouse gas emission intensity Tonne of CO, 4.99x10” 0.41 0.40
equivalent per
person
RERBHNAEE W—EfbiREE A
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) Tonne of CO, 12.35 12.79 0.038
equivalent
ERAERBHNE (E—) WS LI E S
Direct greenhouse gas emission intensity ~ Tonne of CO, 3.8x10° 413x10° 1.05x 10°
(Scope 1) equivalent per
person
ERAERBHNEE (B8E—) M- EbiREE A
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, 149.59 1,247.27 1,276.76
(Scope 2) equivalent
R =REBHME (BE =) WE A LiRE S
Indirect greenhouse gas emission intensity Tonne of CO, 4.61x10” 0.40 0.40
(Scope 2) equivalent per
person
BEREREBHRETE (BE ) WE—E(tIREE A

Air pollutant emissions only include emissions from the combustion of petrol in vehicles of the Company. The air pollutant emissions are
calculated with reference to “Clean Air Charter — Business Guidebook” published by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and
Hong Kong Business Coalition on the Environment, the Towngas Sustainability Report 2018 and the Non-road Mobile Source Air Pollutant
Emission Inventory Preparation Technical Guide (Trial) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC. X555 2 ¥1HE K
AHSEEREARERNTRREEENTER - KRR SAMBERNTE2ZEB ARG REEBARRRBMBERN (BFER
HNE-FHRER) HALAR (IHEFRRE2018) RHEARAMBEERLRRFEHEMN GEERBIRARTRAYIENS LR
w TR (H17) ) &R
The Group’s direct GHG emissions come from the combustion of petrol sourced from the company’s vehicles and indirect GHG emissions
come from purchased electricity consumption. The calculation of GHG emissions and emission factors refer to the How to Prepare an
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the HKEX. 78 52 [B B 2 )8 &= &, 8% BE BUR R 7 2R 7A A B B8 80 19 /i VA e = AR O BE R
FEAEREBHIRNIIMNEREE ORETRBTREAETERFNEF2EEHBMH AN (A EBRR e RERRS) -
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Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022
EEER By 20244 20234 20224
Use of resources

BREAC

Total energy consumption MWh 294.92 2,229.96 2,238.88
BERHFEEE KBy

Energy consumption intensity MWh/person 9.08x10* 0.72 0.70
BERBEREEE JKER, A

Direct energy consumption MWh 49.73 42.92 ONE3
BERRERE KBy

Direct energy consumption intensity MWh/person 1.53%10” 1.4x107 4x10°
BEERREREE JKEEE A

Indirect energy consumption MWh 24519 2,187.04 2,238.75
MEEREREE JK I By

Indirect energy consumption intensity MWh/person 7.55x10™ 0.71 0.70
MEERERERE KER, A

Diesel consumption MWh 0 0.29 0.138
LmEREE JK LBy

Petrol consumption MWh 49.73 42.63 Vi
FUHEREE JK LBy

Purchased electricity MWh 24519 2,187.04 2,238.75
SNEREE JKFLBF

Use of water resources

KERER"

Total water consumption Cubic metre 32 10,900.00 9,241.00
Ak@E K

Water consumption per unit Cubic metre/person 0.21 3.52 2.88
BUFKE SRS A

Reason for the difference from previous years® data: change in the census size, previous years’ data included speciality pharmacies and
Beijing, Shanghai, Chengdu and Guangzhou offices, while in 2024, only Beijing, Shanghai, Chengdu and Guangzhou offices are included.
HAFHEBEEZRERE RO TFHBRESREEFURIR . BF KA BMFAE 20245 EB IR 18-
BCER B M A o

Reason for difference from previous years® data: change in statistical calibre, previous years’ data included speciality pharmacy and
Beijing office, in 2024, only Beijing office is included. B2 FHIEEZERE : Siat AT B A S (L T FEBERSFERES RIERARAE
2024 FEREIRMAE-
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Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022

EEER By 20244 20234 20224

Solid waste

EpEEEY"

Total waste battery produced Kg 13.85 13 /

BEEMEEE T

Total waste battery recycled Kg 13.85 11 /

&t B 2 T

Waste battery produced per unit Kg/person 0.0992 0.0042 /

BUBENELS VN

Total waste lamps/bulbs produced Piece 116 134 /

BRETBRAELS 1&

Total waste lamps/bulbs recycled Piece 116 134 /

BERE abiE 1&

Waste lamps/bulbs produced per unit Piece/person 0.036 0.043 /

BERE EREES (EVN

Total waste cartridge produced Kg 16.43 40.30 /

BREIEAS T

Waste cartridge produced per unit Kg/person 0.113 0.013 /

BUERSELSE Fm/A

Waste electrical and electronic products  Kg 255 / /
produced

BEETEMEEE" T

Waste electrical and electronic products Kg 25.5 / /
recycled

BEEETFEmLKE T

Total non-hazardous waste produced Kg 8.5 787.50 796.80

mEREEWELES" T

Total non-hazardous waste recycled Kg 8.5 200 174.64

BEEZYOWE T

Non-hazardous waste produced per unit ~ Kg/person 0.14 0.25 0.25

BUBEERENELS F=/A

In 2022, we did not conduct a disaggregated count of hazardous waste, which generated a total of 130.65 kg, recycled a total of 55.30
kg, and generated 0.04 kg/person per unit of hazardous waste.2022% 5 EEEY K HF T EAHB S A130.65T % BEEEEMDE
W 85530F % BB EEEMELR004T 7= A-

Waste electrical and electronic products produced/recycled are newly introduced indicators in 2024. Data from the previous two years is
unavailable. i R E F  fn £ 2 MBI UL E A2024F FTIG 18T + 18 AR AR AT 48 B M A7 2 8K -

Total non-hazardous waste produced decreased due to a reduction in workplace personnel. EI18EH IS A E BB R W EEZFEEYE
KB

BREEMNEERAT —B-mFEHE 160



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERWRSE

Social KPIs HEBEM
Indicator Category Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022
EEER EEER8 By 20244 20234 20224
Employment
&=
Total number of employees Person 3,247 3,096 3,210
BB T A A
Male Person 437 495 518
Number of employees by gender EMHET A
EIERIBIDHE TAZ Female Person 2,810 2,601 2,697
ZHET A
Full-time Person 3,236 3,082 3,200

Number of employees by

employment type EREL A
2R (B S B Part-i P 11 14 1
R EERIE S0 E TAR e fad °
<31 Person 2,003 1,853 1,958
1A T A
Number of employees by age group  31-50 Person 1,180 1,186 1,212
RFEWRARNBIHHE T AR 31Z2505% A
>50 Person 64 57 40
505 A A
Mainland China Person 3,247 3,087 3,209
Number of employees by b B PO h A
geographical region :
- = H Ki P 1
EHEE S0 E AR v e 0 °
/ [=]
Employee turnover rate
BIRAR
Male % 418 4.28 31.14
Employee turnover rate by gender Bt
RIERIE SR E TRk E" Female % 24.03 24.16 32.69
g
<31 % 19.61 19.39 35.89
1A T
Employee turnover rate by age group  31-50 % 8.05 8.65 26.55
RERAREI DB TRAEX 31E505%
>50 % 0.55 0.39 16.67
508 PA £
Mainland China % 28.21 28.43 32.46
Employee turnover rate by b B PO h
geographical region :
- o S o H Ki 9 0 0 0
SRILE S5 B Tk % v "

Employee turnover rate by relevant category = number of employees leaving in the category/(total number of employees in the category +
number of employees leaving in the category at the end of the reporting period)*100% 3% A EE KB RIEI 5 ¥ B TRkt R =% 4RI B Tk
KANE CGREIRZIAR B TRH+ZERI8 Tk AZ) *100%
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Indicator Category Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022
EEEH EEEH8 By 20244 20234 2022%F
Occupational health and safety
BERREZR
Number of work-related Person 0 0 0
fatalities
NTWAR A
Rate of work-related % 0 0 0
fatalities
AT *
Number of working days ~ Day 0 149.5 83
lost due to work injuries
EIGEHRMBELNT X
==
Employee training
BT EIER
Total number of employees trained Person 1,248 1,073 630
BIXHIEAR A
Number of employees trained by l;/ale}‘le = Person 187 160 101
gender ST A
RERBAHSMENRTAL L e 1001 o1 o7
Product research and Person 873 751 87
functional positions
Number of employees trained by EM R LE A
employee category Business positions Person 375 322 593
RETHERESH2IFNET  XBH A
A# Total training hours of all ~ Hour 6,935 5,965 4,080
employees
PREIXIIARR /NEF
Male Hour 2.38 12.6 1.18
Average hours of training by gender £ 8T AN
ZEIMRESHFIEIIRKR®  Female Hour 2.10 15.6 1.29
BT /N
Product research and Hour 5.40 8.0 1.98
Average hours of training by functional positions
employee category EM Rk EELE NS
RETHEMBID )R Business positions Hour 3.14 15.6 1.21
E 373 /NEF

Average training hours for employees by relevant category = Total training hours for employees in the category/Number of employees in
the category IR IERESARIEI 9 8 TF 53RN Si=F T HAI E TMEZIINE HEHENNE LAY

Average training hours for employees by relevant category = Total training hours for employees in the category/Number of employees
trained in the category 12 ABRAXERIE| 5 B TV IR =45 F R 8 TMRAZIIRE 2 IEJINETEERNE T AR
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Indicator Category Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022
EEER EEEHE By 20244 20234 20224
Supply chain management
s
Total number of suppliers  Supplier 632 585 581
HIER A2 1@
North China Supplier 145 116 o
ik 12
Northeast China Supplier 56 45 83}
Rk 12l
East China Supplier 220 212 215
. 0 #HR {
REBHIWHERHUE Central China Supplier 55 53 a7
FErp &
South China Supplier 61 61 68
E=cge] 1l
Southwest China Supplier 62 71 73
7ar 12l
Northwest China Supplier 33 27 34
[iithls 12l

After statistical verification, supplier data from previous years has been corrected. &% &t 5+ 1% & ¥t fE 79 1+ SE BB AT IE

Suppliers are categorized by their location of registration. 1% B2 {ft & & 5+ il b #E 1T (R 18 2 5

North China: Including Beijing Municipality, Tianjin Municipality, Hebei Province, and Shanxi Province; Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region
is not included. 21k : BFEIL R - KEM JAdLE L%  RBEASHERE

Northeast China: Including Heilongjiang Province, Jilin Province, and Liaoning Province, as well as Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region. 5
b BEERELE EME EEAURAEREERE

East China: Includes Shanghai Municipality, Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province, Anhui Province, Fujian Province, Jiangxi Province, and
Shandong Province. 3 3 : & LT ) I&E I E  LHE RBESL IAL LWERE

Central China: Including Henan Province, Hubei Province, and Hunan Province. 5 : &35/ @& ~ L&  HmE

South China: Includes Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, and Hainan Province; Hong Kong SAR and Macau
SAR are not included. 27 : BiEERE - EAMAKEAE BEE  EEBRITHE GRPIRRIFTHRE

Southwest China: Includes Chongging Municipality, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, and Yunnan Province, as well as Xizang
Autonomous Region. 5@ : BEEE™ - M)I|E - EME  EEE AR ERE

Northwest China: Including Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, as well as Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region and Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous Region. FEdt : BIERAE - Himd4 584 FTEEKRERE MELTHR AR
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Indicator Category Indicator Unit 2024 2023 2022
EEEH EEEH8 By 20244 20234 2022%F
Product responsibility
EmEIE

Percentage of products % 0 0 0

returned for safety and
health reasons

PRl 2 2> B f FR 3% | [ 4K

B
Number of complaints Case 0 0 0
BB E” =
Customer satisfaction % 100 100 100
BERMEE
Intellectual property Case 0 0 0

infringement incidents

RIDKBEERF M (53

Customer privacy violation Case 0 0 0
penalties or negative
events
RILHEBEERLNERS
B EEMH
Anti-corruption
k&S
Number of concluded Case 0 0 0

legal cases regarding
corrupt practices

ERENEITRRESF

Number of anti-corruption  Session 10 4 0
training

REREIIEE %

Hours of anti-corruption Hour 20 4 0
training

REIFEFIRE /NE

Number of directors trained Person 2 2 0

against corruption

REFEINEEAE A

Number of staff trained Person >700 >100 0
against corruption

REFEINETIAZE A

Community Investment

HERE
Amount of donation RMB10,000 310.4 133.2 206
BES R =

20

21

A process of requesting consumers to return, exchange, or replace a product after defects have been discovered that could hinder
performance, harm consumers, or give rise to legal issues for the producers. 35 I3 & 4 H IR A RE R 2 HIhaE - ¥H B HEER BT FE L
EmmEAERENRER EJHEERD FRABRERNIET -

Enterprises may receive different forms of enquiry and comments from customers. Complaints may be defined by reference to the internal
definition of the enterprise, such as relevant service agreements, or by reference to industry standards, laws, and regulations. & 2 7] §£ Uk

IEPTRAEANSHAMBER BFNERAIUALELEAMES  WHBRBIH TS RBETELL R ER -
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APPENDIX — HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX Bff &% - B X Fr {<ESG 3R & =F

E =]

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BERBERE
Subject Areas Content Disclosure section
FTEHE AR BESEH
Governance Structure A statement from the board containing the following elements: ESG Governance
BRI HEFSELNBR EPHBETIAET: ESGE&’a

()  adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

) HEEFSHRR HLSRELIFTENEE:

(i)  the board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the
issuer’s businesses); and

i) BFEHRR HGRECERHHRKE  BIETE-
WM%W&E@@K%%%,EA&Emﬁ%$E(
BHETAZEBONRR)BE: &

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to
the issuer’s businesses.

(i) FEFFOMEERR HGREREWEERBRANER I
ETMImARET AXKA EE

Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the  About the Report
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG
report:

fEE R B WA REERERE LB ARERUAEATIE BRARS
HIRA

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to
identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors;
(i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a description of
significant stakeholders identified, and the process and results of
the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.
i%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁA&amﬁifﬁ%O%%i%h%zﬁ

REGRZNBEASGERELEREZMNER] () BEITA
ELH%%%%%—E%%M%%%@%%% L N B 1T AN Fr
DEDEABIE R
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
R ERE
Subject Areas Content Disclosure section
FTEEHE AR HEEE

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

2 ABRERENRE RORER (WMER) TANZE. 7
EBERESFETANER ARMERNERRESN
R IE TR -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.
—EHEBETARERE L NERAMETRES A
FARERIETNEE (B EMEMTEEERLR
HAEREE 3= -

Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report  About the Report
and describing the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in
the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason for
the change.

e ERRE A hBEomEHERDE MEAKENRLE BRARS
BAXRBAARR HLE@RERENBRE - FERLESR
P - BT NERMETR 2 e R Z B RE -

i
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

A. Environmental

ARIE
A1: Emissions

Al BERRY
A1 General
Disclosure

Al —RIFE

A1
A1.2

A1.3

A1.4

A1.5

A1.6

Information on:

BRAREREE - MK R TS  AEREEREMNE

R

(@)  the policies; and

@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

b) BTHETABEAFZENEBZEZNROINER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

R E SR R AR R B R BUE

[Deleted on 1 January 2025]

[7A2025551 A1 B Mk

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

FEXEEREEDRSE (UHEAE) R (Ea) ZE (1A

BESEM BERBTE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

PREEREREWEE (UNEEE) & (@) mE (1A

BEERM BERMTE) -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.

AL PR S BE N E B IR R R ERE L B IZPAERERAO £ 5% -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps

taken to achieve them.

Ml RIE A EREEREZEYN A Rl prE] SZa0REE B

ERREDEL B IZAEREIE R -
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Disclosure section
or explanation

REEHNRE

Our Environment

HFIHIRE

Environmental KPls
IRIBEN

See Climate Index for details
HFRRIRRSIK
Environmental KPls

RIBEN

Environmental KPIs

RIBEM
Emissions Management

HemEE

Emissions Management

HmE R
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

A2 Use of
Resources
A2 BiRfER
A2 General
Disclosure
A2 —fR IR 5
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.
BRERER (BIEREIR KR EARMEL) HIBER o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or ail) in total (KWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
RENEISNEE R HEEER (WE - fgon) @fEE (XA
FRETFERE) REFE (MASES BN  BHEKEAE) o
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BFEKERTE (NWAGEEEN BERETE)
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

i At TR SZ Y RE R A A 28 B IR S AR E RS L B IR PRERER Y
g

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

i 2t SR ER G AR /IO AT B AR DA K P AT S B9 ARk R
B R AETELBFMERN TR

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

HEmATABRMANEE (UEHE) & (ER) 8EE
BAIEE-

R HERERBE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

Rational Use of Resources

BIRaEA A

Environmental KPIs

IRIBEM
Environmental KPIs

IRIBEN
Rational Use of Resources

BIREIEEA

Rational Use of Resources

BIREIEEA

As the Group’s businesses do not
involve the production of products
and only a small amount of
packaging materials are consumed,
no statistics are provided for per unit
produced.
HRAEENEE T FMERE
E BERLENBEMEER:
WAt BEESMIGE-
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

A3 The
Environment
and Natural
Resources

A3 IRIE R KA
BIR

A3 General
Disclosure

A3 —fR 1% 5

A3.1

A4
A4

B. Social

B. &

B1 Employment

Bl Ef&

B1 General
Disclosure

B1— 5=

B1.1

B1.2

Palicies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.
BIEBETAHREBERRABREKERTZENBUR
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

R EREBHRBERRABRNEAZERERKERA
B EMNITE -

[Deleted on 1 January 2025]

[A202551 A1 B M)

[Deleted on 1 January 2025]

[A202551 A1 8 Mk

Information on:

BTN ARE BEREA TERE - BH TEKe -

Z Al RIAR DA R At 55 38 S AR N6

(@  the policies; and

@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

b) BTHETABEAZENEBERZNROINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or

part-time), age group and geographical region.

BRI EERE (N2 BEEEE) - Fiin Kit= S 58

EE#EE-

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

1B - R AR R E B MR B Rk R -
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Disclosure section

or explanation

REEHNRE

Our Environment

HIFIHIRE

Our Environment

HIFIHIRE

See Climate Index for details

HFRRIKRRSIXR

See Climate Index for details

HFRARIKRRSIX

Safeguarding Employees’ Basic
Rights and Interests

REEEA 5

Social KPIs
EEm

Social KPIs

HEEXN
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

B2 Health and
Safety

B2 f@fRELE

B2 General
Disclosure

B2 — iz 5"

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

B3 Development
and Training
B3 & B
B3 General
Disclosure
B3— MR H# 55

B3.1

B3.2

Information on:

FHRMZE2TERERREEER2BELREEN:

(@ the policies; and

@ BER:R

(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

b)) BFHBETABEATZENEBERLROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the

past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F (BHRERFRE)BFRAITHHAB L X

Lost days due to work injury.

ETBERTERE-

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

IR ERA B R R R 2fEE A REERITRERA

/?i °

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRARTHEE BT T/ERBE 6 A3 R BB BUR - a5 3
G

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RERREEER (SR EERE FAEERE)ESHZI
EEBDLL-

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

RIERI N EEERE D FREETHREINFIIRE-

BRI HEREREE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

Occupational Health and Safety

BRL2aER

Social KPIs
HEEW
Social KPIs

HEER
Occupational Health and Safety

BXRL2EER

Employee Training and
Development
BTEIEER
Social KPIs

HEEN

Social KPIs

it

T8

B
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

B4 Labour
Standards
B4 & TR
B4 General
Disclosure
B4 —RZ I EE

B4.1

B4.2

B5 Supply Chain
Management
B5 ftpEsEE 2
B5 General
Disclosure
B5 — K5
B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

Information on:

BB IEE T eks 25 THY

(@  the policies; and

@ BE: K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

b)) BFHBETATBEAZENHEBEAELALNER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid

child and forced labour.

it ig s B E AR AR R ET K% T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

e it A 3 3R 32 R B NS JHRR B RIS U PTERER B 2P 5% -

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

EIRHER ARG N @R REUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR e HEREE-

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

e RIS B EEmHEN  mERITREBIENNHERE
B ANBEERITRER A

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

el 75 B 8 5 e R (B ER B0 Y IR IR et g R B 9 1B 1 - A
NABBEHRITRER -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

it A P R PE P i 3 2 IR IREE fo M RIS RO 01 - JA %
HEARITRER A
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Disclosure section
or explanation

REEHNRE

Safeguarding Employees’ Basic
Rights and Interests

RIEEEAE S

Safeguarding Employees’ Basic
Rights and Interests
RIEEAR S

Safeguarding Employees’ Basic
Rights and Interests

RIEEEAE S

Supply Chain Management and
Green Procurement
HEEE IR R ORE
Social KPIs

HEEN

Supply Chain Management and
Green Procurement

HEHEE IR R ERE

Supply Chain Management and
Green Procurement

HEEE IR R ERE

Supply Chain Management and
Green Procurement

HEEE IR HZERE
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

B6 Product
Responsibility
B6 EmE
B6 General
Disclosure
B6 — A& I EE

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

Information on:

BREMRHERTMRENERELZS2 BS SRELES

BARBER AR
(@)  the policies; and
@ BE: K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
b) BITHETABEAFZENEBERZNROIHNER -
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
EENDEXRERERTALT T BERIEHMARWNE S
Lt e
Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.
BRI on S RISV IR R BB A MBS 77 0% -
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
it B 4 S ARIE M E R B BB I -
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
Wil E ST BmiE M EMRDIIER -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
RO B B ERMRIE RBALBER - ARMBERITRER %

R HERERBE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

Responsible Marketing

BETMNEH

Social KPIs
EEEN
Lean Customer Service

fBam e P iR1%
Stringent Product Quality Control

EBRIEEmREE

Stringent Product Quality Control
BIEEREE

LLean Customer Service

BaEFIR%
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“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 R&E’5

B7 General
Disclosure

B7 — R EE

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

B8 Community
Investment

B8 1t @iz &

B8 General
Disclosure

B8 — g EE

B8.1

B8.2

Information on:

BN LR R HGEF AR EN

(@ the policies; and

@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

b) BTHBETABEAFZENEBZEZNROINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERBAHBETAIHEERH T2 EENE THARN

HBE M FAAER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

IR EFEhE SR B WAR T ARBBMIT RER A

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

A REENE TRHENHREIFHE -

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs

of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

B RBERTREEMEHEFTENBRREELEE
SERLERNHABR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEREE (WHE RESHE BIHFR R -8
B)e

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
EFEIHBMEBAER (NS EHFRE) -

182 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

Disclosure section
or explanation

REEHNRE

Integrity and Ethical Operations

ROREREH GRS

Social KPIs

Integrity and Ethical Operations

FROREZREBELE
Integrity and Ethical Operations

FOREREBERE

Our Community

e Ao
Our Community
F a9t R

Our Community, Social KPls

AP E - HEER



Climate-related Disclosure

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

Disclosure Segment

RIREBERE HEREE
Governance

25 34

(==
Governance Climate Change Strategy and Governance Framework
Ba SRR B (b B g BL B R E SR

Strategy
B

Climate-related risks and opportunities
SRR B B R b A i B

Business model and value chain

EHEAMEER

Strategy and decision-making
B AR
Financial position, financial performance, and cash flows

MR BHRRANBERE

Climate resilience
AIRE)E

Identification and Management of Climate-Related Risks
R R\ e a8 1) B R

Identification and Management of Climate-Related Risks
R e 78 ) B R

Greenhouse Gases Emissions and Reduction Measures
B E R BB EL R BEER S

Identification and Management of Climate-Related Risks
R  Fa 58k 1) B IR

Climate Change Adaptability and Resilience Building
RIS FERE H B MR

Risk Management
[ B i 28

Risk Management
[ f 3R

Identification and Management of Climate-Related Risks
SR 10k [ B 28 7| B 2
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Climate-related Disclosure

RFEBEEE

Disclosure Segment

HEAEH

Metrics and Targets
EERBE

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
B E R BB

Climate-related transition risks (the amount and percentage
of assets or business activities vulnerable to climate-related
transition risks)

REHEERRR (HXREEEBEERRTZENEESK
EBEBNEERAEI L)

Climate-related physical risks (the amount and percentage
of assets or business activities vulnerable to climate-related
physical risks)

RIEEEYERR (HXREEEYIERRTZENEES
EBEBNEERASL)

Climate-related opportunities (the amount and percentage
of assets or business activities aligned with climate-related
opportunities)
RIRERAEE (FRREHERENEEXEXRKTDING
HEBEDH)

Capital deployment (the amount of capital expenditure,
financing or investment deployed towards climate-related
risks and opportunities)

BEGER (ARREEARBMEENEARRAS MEX
KREHEH)

Internal carbon prices
N ERHR E B

Remuneration (whether and how climate-related
considerations are factored into remuneration, or a statement
confirming they are not included)

¥ (RIREEEREAZA A LA A SR i
HEENEEER)

Climate-related targets
RIKAER B 1R
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Environmental KPIs
RIBAE N



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of SIPAl HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SIPAI
HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. (the “Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 192 to 314, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B X BEN RS

BB AR E
BRRRENRBERATARR
(REEFEZME A FRAA])

=R

HFIE BAZF102E314E Fral BIR G2 BERHE
BERAR([EARA)KENBLAR ([EF
BRNEHTBRE AHUBERRBER
2024F12A31B WM& St BRI R KRB EZ
BIEEEMAMHEBESZREMEZEKIER &
HEZEHERRAHRESTRER UREH
I HRANT BEERSTERER -

BRPRE AHUBRRERERB e
AEEe ((HARSHENESEE ) BHNE
BREF SR MER (BRI B REER ] EE
RRAhtkT HHEBEN2024F12A31H
MEHTERAREBEZE LFENEH
PHERBEEREEHBELSRE YEEREE
(CRRNED) MEEREL BRE -

RRE®R

BPEREFESAMAS ([EREFMAA
g mMOEBEAER ([FBEER])
ETRZ-RMEZFEATARENREE
R E B E A OB RRBALE
MEE] —fiPE— PRl -RIEF B
EiAg R e (FEEFEER TR ([
I - #ffPEzn BB BRMEREST
AT EMEREE - HPIEER MG
MBEZRBRALRERBMANE REM
Eito

BIRBERRIHEERART —Z-—NEE®R 185



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

REEEE

S EFEE
BARBFSEEREBERMNEXHE RS
HAHE HMEBRRNBATRAERNEZR
ZEEHEHERMEZEBAHMBRERN
HASRRETREN RATEHZES
HRHEBNER -BATREME  HME
ZES TRERMERATREZSENS
= o

BB BITARE (XA T B G
BRAAZNEMRE] —HMANEE BFEE
ZEEHEARNET At RAANEFERE
WITRF NWEHRMYEHBBRRTH
BRI AR RS - B2 (BER
BRIETHEEMAEITNEF)HERBRM
TABERI & Gt S MR B R ET B AR ER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNES AR ERRETEE

Recognition of Specialty Pharmacy Business (“SPB”) revenue

BRARREEXEL ([BEBEEXEK]) WA

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the total revenue
of the Group amounted to RMB4,565.4 million, decreasing
by 3.1% from RMB4,712.1 million in 2023. Specifically,
RMB3,974.9 million of the revenue was generated from
Specialty Pharmacy Business (“SPB”), accounting for
87.1% of the total revenue of the Group.

BLE2024F12ACIBIEFE: BEXEEAKARARE
4,565.48 8B 7T B2023F M AR B4, 71218 E TR D

B1% - ARME HEESXK (BREEEXLK|E
ERRABARE3I7498E T 16§ EEEBKAN
87.1% °

The primary source of SPB revenue is from the operation
of offline speciality pharmacies and medicine distribution.
Revenue from SPB is recognised at the point in time
when control of medicines and pharmaceutical products
is transferred to customers, generally on delivery of
medicines and pharmaceutical products.

BEEFEEBHTIZRARRELEFZ THEER KL
DIHEE o KT BB TSV U AT B O N B A 1 1
HERTEFPOREES (—RRRX M Em R BEEmM)
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Our procedures in relation to recognition of SPB revenue
included:

BPEBREEEXBRARRNIETEHE:

1> Performing tests of design and operating
effectiveness of relevant controls over recognition of
SPB revenue;
W BEERE X BWAEREBEGORTTETE
RUMEEITRIR ;

2> Performing analytical procedures on the SPB revenue
by different dimensions including customers, retail
pharmacies, major categories of products, regions
and months etc.;
REP ZTEEF FEZEEmBR R EKANFET
R EHFEEFEBERAETONER



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHE R &

FARFETEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEESEE

BRARBHEEERE ((BHEEERKE ] BA

We have identified recognition of SPB revenue is a key
audit matter as revenue is a key performance indicator
for evaluating the Group’s financial results. Furthermore,
due to the large volume of transactions and customers
involving in SPB revenue, the inherent risk of misstatement
in terms of revenue recognition of SPB is relatively high.

HRRARE ESEMBREMNRERENESR &
PIBRRF EEE XM AR S —HARET TR UL

S IR BEBEERBBA T RABRZNER R
BB XS ATER T | 5 R AER R AL &S

The Group’s disclosures relating to the recognition of SPB
revenue are included in note 2.4 “Summary of significant
accounting policies”, note 4 “Operating Segment
information”, and note 5 “Revenue, Other Income and
Gains”.

BEREEARREER FHRWAERNEEERHNIT2.4
[BERGFHE] M4 [KEDFER] RS [H
A B A R g ] e

BEMNENAEERRFTEE

Recognition of Speciality Pharmacy Business (“SPB”) revenue

3>

4>

5>

Testing samples of sales transactions against
prescription by doctors and acknowledgement of
receipts by customers, testing samples of sales
transactions against delivery notes and invoices for
revenue from medicine distribution;

BEEANET FREAUIRAFHEEZIRA -
REMDHBEAME REXEERERAAHFEE
RHEAR

Performing cut-off test of SPB revenue before and
after the year end, on a sample basis; and

PR AR A% FEGE T T4 SR 25 SRS UL A BV B LRI
&

Checking the adequacy of the disclosures made in
the financial statements regarding the SPB revenue.
BMEMBHRRTUFEEEXZRBAELNKEZ

BIRED°
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information above when it
becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

BB ET S
EHNEE

BPMBERRESHYBHRREBRS T
FE £ 70 R K 8E AR 1T 28 BUe) B A B8 RR R EX
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

190
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 18, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AHEREREMZERER

Year ended December 31, 2024 # E2024%12A31HILFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR¥T T AR®ET T
REVENUE A B 4,565,434 4,712,107
Cost of sales SHE A (4,179,001) (4,297,409)
Gross profit EF 386,433 414,698
Other income and gains H AU A R iz 5 37,541 76,469
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAXS (278,350) (292,320)
Administrative expenses THAX (323,967) (347,788)
Research and development expenses #1355 % (22,262) (45,947)
Impairment losses on financial assets £ RMEENAHEE
and contract assets under expected REHEEBEEER
credit loss model (‘ECL”), net ([EHEERE]) T
R (BB 1E F 58 23 (35,299) (9,965)
Other expenses Him 8 (99,186) (36,912
Restructuring costs FAKR 9 (22,295) =
Finance costs B A 7 (3,069) (3,489)
Share of profits and losses of an JE 1 — KBk R A9 g A
associate & EE 19 (187) (412)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRELAIE R 6 (360,641) (245,666)
Income tax expense FrisfiM 12 (1,191) (1,041)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAER (361,832) (246,707)
Attributable to: AT AT A
Owners of the parent UNCIE RN (323,736) (255,768)
Non-controlling interests PR M 2 (38,096) 9,061
Total 14 (361,832) (246,707)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ERERRREMZEKER

Year ended December 31, 2024 #H E2024F12A318 L FE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® Tt AREFT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ EftZ2EW A~ (Fix%)
(EXPENSE)
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or ] £ & B A E#F D 48
loss in subsequent periods: ZEHEMIEE
Exchange differences on translation of ¥ & /BN EFEHIE K =R
foreign operations 1,624 (117)
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit T~ & W& E B EFH D48
or loss in subsequent periods: ZEEMIEE
Exchange differences on translation of ~ #aE AN B E K =&
the Company - 14,970
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4 (A H 1 2 W A
FOR THE YEAR 1,624 14,853
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE TSR HBA X 4%
FOR THE YEAR (360,208) (231,854)
Attributable to: AT AT
Owners of the parent UNSIEZ RN (322,112) (240,915)
Non-controlling interests FEE IR I 2 (38,096) 9,061
(360,208) (231,854)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE S AFZTEREZZFAEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY BiEsRER
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 14
Basic and diluted AERREE
For loss for the year (RMB) FAFEE(AREK) (0.51) (0.40)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BHF IR R R

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®EF T AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E R L 15 10,301 13,495
Other intangible assets HEMmEREE 16 27,337 48,191
Prepayments, other receivables and TE AT FRIE - A FE UK
other assets N E A EE 24 7,413 7,475
Right-of-use assets % A3 Eé BE 17 47,440 67,611
Investments in an associate R—REE QBT E 19 8,326 8,513
Goodwill EES 18 16,555 50,653
Deferred tax assets RIAERIEE E 31 1,059 1,055
Time deposits TE BiTF 3K 26 106,471 175,573
Financial assets at fair value through BRFEFAER
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (MRAFEFABE])
Rl & E 20 60,263 =
Total non-current assets EMBEELE 285,165 372,566
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 7(? ‘E"i 21 193,525 246,058
Contract cost IR AR 164 1,660
Trade and bills receivables % % JE U 0B T e U 2R i 23 276,048 329,955
Contract assets BHEE 24 180,116 130,087
Prepayments, other receivables and Tﬁ IRRIE ~ HoAth FE YR
other assets N E A& E 25 154,621 150,516
Amounts due from related parties JFE Wi A Bt 75 3R IE 36 1,755 7,701
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAER
profit or loss (“FVTPL?) ([BAFEFAERE])
NEREE 20 571,518 478,348
Time deposits TE BRTF 3K 26 95,336 155,854
Pledged deposits EHEFFERK 26 105,439 147 115
Cash held on behalf of clients REPHAENRSE 22 148,688 299,755
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEYD 26 252,917 495,425
Total current assets MEEEMEE 1,980,127 2,442 474
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Trade and bills payables BORNNBRENER 27 412,803 464,269
Other payables and accruals H b B 5108 &F B A 28 413,713 466,998
Bank and other borrowings RITREAME R 30 - 2,000
Amounts due to related parties [~ BB 5 3RIR 36 126 477
Contract liabilities eHaE 29 188,746 181,898
Lease liabilities HE&E 17 19,730 26,218
Income tax payable FERTFT1S B 1,495 74
Total current liabilities MBBERTE 1,036,613 1,141,934
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 943,514 1,300,540
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT @& ERKH S &
LIABILITIES 1,228,679 1,673,106
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BHBRRE

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T AREFTT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HMEEE 17 25,762 39,339
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 31 1,331 2,616
Total non-current liabilities ERB B EEE 27,093 41,955
Net assets BEFE 1,201,586 1,631,151
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the BAEHEA ARGEZ
parent
Share capital f& s 32 518 516
Reserves {1 1,225,359 1,618,343
1,225,877 1,618,859
Non-controlling interests R ELS (24,291) 12,292
Total equity M EER 1,201,586 1,631,151
Mr. MA Xuguang Mr. LI Ji
BRELXE TEEE
Director Director
o EF

BRRERNEERAT —S-MEFH 195



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B ERBER

Year ended December 31, 2024 # E2024%12A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SAAREAER
Foreign
Share-based currency Non-
Share  Treasury Capital ~ payment Other translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares*  reserve* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* losses* Total interests equity
WG &
ERMEA SHEFE
Rx  EERG* EXRE R EftRE* e RiER Bt FEREZ EREE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tr AR%Tr AR%Tr AR%Tr AR%Tr ARETr ARETrT ARETxR
(note 32)  (note 32) (note 33)
(Ht32)  (HizE32) (Hz£33)
At January 1, 2024 1202451 18 516 (61,231) 9,101,012 799,643  (206456) (488,655 (7,435970) 1,618,859 12,292 1,631,151
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (323,736) (323,736)  (38,096) (361,832
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMLZERA - - - - - 1,624 - 1,624 = 1,624
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FRRE (AR)/ WALE
for the year 5 S S S S 1624 (323,7%)  (322,112)  (38,096)  (360,208)
Exercise of share rewards T6ERR 1 128D 2 2 28,282 (25,957) - - - 2,329 - 2,329
Share-based payment compensation DU GRS STl - - - 67,624 - - - 67,624 = 67,624
Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries R EREXEHIENHB LR
without change of control BEREY - - (2,799) - - - - 2,799) 1,513 (1,286)
Repurchase of the ordinary shares (note 32) EREER (M) - (138,024) - - - - - (188,024 - (138,024
At December 31, 2024 20245127318 518  (199,253) 9,126,495 841,310  (296,456)  (487,031) (7,751,179) 1,225,877 (24,291) 1,201,586
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
aOHESREER

Year ended December 31, 2024 #H E2024F12A318 It FE

Attriboutable to owners of the parent

SRAEE AER
Foreign
Share-based currency Non-
Share Treasury Capital payment Other  translation  Accumuiated controlling Total
capital shares* reserve” resenve’ reserve’ reserve” osses* Total interests equity
IR (R B
b4l os 3] SMEFTE
BA  ERRG BEAEE e HEpRe E ZHER & FERER  ERER
RMB'O0O0O  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFT ARETFT ARETT ARSTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETR
(ote 32)  (note 32) (note 33)
(Wiss2)  (FHse) (P3£33)
At January 1, 2023 1202351 818 517 (76) 9068712 747914  (296456) (503508 (7,180,202 1,836,901 (2,769) 1,834,132
(Loss)/proft for the year ER(BR) /&7 - - - - - - (255768)  (255,768) 0061 (246,707)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMLZERA - - - - - 14,853 - 14,853 - 14,853
Total comprehensive (expense)/income ERRE (L) /MR
for the year - - - - - 14853 (255768  (240915) 9061  (231,854)
Exercise of share rewards TR 17 2R - 9 49,154 (44,883) - - - 4,280 - 4,280
Share-based payment compensation SARRAD AR (4 A2 B - - - 96,612 - - - 96,612 - 96,612
Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries A EBEAIEHIENHELFE
without change of control BEEY - - (6,737) - - - - (6,737) 5,349 (1,388)
Acaqisition of subsidiaries WEREAR - - - - - - - - 451 451
Repurchase of the ordinary shares (note 32) BRLER (MF32) M) @164 (10117) - - - - (71,282) - (71,282)
Capital injection into a subsidiary by FERERAMBARTE
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 200 200
At December 31, 2023 20235127317 516 (61,231) 9,101,012 799,643 (296,456)  (488,655) (7,435,970) 1,618,859 12,292 1,631,151

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of =

RMB1,225,359,000 (2023: RMB1,618,343,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

ZERBREEAHUBRIARFTHEHE
{7 8 A R #51,225,359,0007T (20234 : AR
#1,618,343,0007T ) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHEERER

Year ended December 31, 2024 # E2024%12A31HILFE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR¥T T AR®ET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BRETHFEEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax bR %1 Bl ES 18 (360,641) (245,666)
Adjustments for: AT ZIEELAE:
Finance costs BEMKA 7 3,069 3,489
Interest income FEWA 5 (15,821) (31,340)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% BB REEITE
equipment 6 7,270 9,441
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 6 31,376 34,800
Amortization of other intangible assets - i £ fi2 & = # £ 6 10,129 8,727
Share-based payments compensation LA {7 & EE /i S - 69
o 33 67,624 96,612
Impairment loss on financial assets and & BEE N & HEERN
contract assets under ECL model, FEHREEEBEEAT
net B RE B 1R F R 6 35,299 9,965
Impairment loss on inventories, net of  F &FEEE - H1k:
reversal o] 21 908 2,246
Impairment losses on goodwill EEREEE 18 34,098 31,281
Impairment loss recognised on other  E- i £ Ji2 & = FE SR EY
intangible assets BEEE 6 5,026 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HE WM WME k&G
equipment, net B BI85 R 6 919 996
Loss on disposal of other intangible HEHEMEREERN
assets &8 6 23 4
Gains on lease termination, net RS W R 17 (923) (1,503)
Foreign exchange differences, net E N = EHEE 6 - 30
Gain on financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABRDY
BREE KR 6 (17,515) (17,357)
Loss on the disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR EE 17 825 -
Restructuring cost EHEKA 9 11,078 -
Loss on fair value changes in BN SAREBEZATE
contingent consideration payables HH)E1E - 523
Gain on remeasurement of the Group’s R E B BIEFH 8K
previously held equity interest at the SEELHIFANRE
acquisition date o Us 2 6 - 97)
Share of profits and losses of an JE(E —KEEE QA
associate = A KR EE 187 412
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2024 #H E2024F12A318 L FE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
Operating cash flows before LEESEHINLE
movements in working capital Hene (187,069) (97,437)
Decrease in inventories FERAD 21 48,322 35,923
Decrease in contract costs BRI D 1,496 930
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills & 5 & W 3018 & fE UL
receivables SERL(3Em) 23 32,680 (91,321)
Increase in contract assets B HREE N 24 (52,337) (37,133)
Increase in prepayments, other TERTROIA « E A FE YR
receivables and other assets T8 e EoAth & E L AN 25 (14,138) (1,259)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BB F R,
deposits (1) 26 41,676 (70,945)
Decrease in cash held on behalf of REPEENE 2R
clients 22 151,067 34,844
Increase in amounts due from related & Y B8 Bt 7 FRIE 8 hn
parties 36 (254) (618)
Decrease in amounts due to related &S RE S 5 SRR R
parties 36 (351) (3,107)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills & 5 & (< 518 [ fE+F
payables ZHE R ) 27 (47,562) 118,254
Decrease in other payables and H b fE A FRIB K FE AT
accruals BERmL 28 (38,833) (30,485)
Increase in contract liabilities EHaBEEm 29 6,915 11,174
Cash used in operations KEMmARE (58,388) (131,180)
Income tax paid BT TS (1,059) (2,315)
Net cash flows used in operating RETBHMARERE
activities B (59,447) (133,495)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2024 # E2024%12A31HILFE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR¥T T AR®ET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BRETHFEBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE BEME&E
equipment (8,464) (5,361)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEEMEREE (2,240) (388)
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BB IR A FEF ABZEH
EREE (1,637,341) (2,097,525)
Proceeds from withdrawal of financial ~ 12EUZ A F{E&t )\ Tﬁéﬁ?’i =)
assets at FVTPL TRIEEMSNK 1,501,423 1,636,534
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  WE K& 1% Fir
plant and equipment 1S58 716 179
Loans due from non-controlling JiE It WF GEEZ L E
shareholders of subsidiaries B 25 (13,181) (17,268)
Proceeds from withdrawal of loans due 2 EHX & Ui W% 723 7 FEFE A
from non-controlling shareholders of IR R E P15 RIE
subsidiaries 7,500 -
Loans due from an associate R —E & AR E R 36 - (6,000)
Proceeds from withdrawal of loans due  #2 Y & I — [ B 2 7
from an associate ERF1S5IA 6,000 -
Interest income F B U A 10,301 24,748
Purchases of time deposits with original B 2 ) 2 A 0B = 1
maturity of more than three months ) 7E HATE 3K (334,188) (767,903)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time BRI PEBA=MEA
deposits with original maturity of 87 BiF SR PTG FRIE
more than three months 469,710 517,903
Acquisition of an associate 1 B — fp B *é NC] = (8,925)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB LR (858) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS I B A m - 3,197
Net cash flows used in investing RETHFMARENRE
activities FE (622) (720,809)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2024 #H E2024F12A318 L FE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR® Tt AREFT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R ETBHFfEBSHESRKE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of share TR D B P IS KR

rewards 2,148 4,280
Payments of repurchase of ordinary R B B A% 3k

shares (138,024) (71,282)
Contribution from non-controlling IEERBRRIEE

shareholders - 200
Principal portion of lease payments MENZKONARE D 17 (30,379) (32,192)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEEBEINTOFNE 17 (3,069) (3,489)
New bank borrowings FTIRIRITE - 2,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEK (2,003) -
Payments of listing expenses T ETmHX - (1,864)
Advance payments received for BLAT 0 B AR A U ER B B 3K

exercise of share options - 2,522
Refund of advance payments received & & 5t 17 {5 B8 IS RE U ER AY

for exercise of share options 2K (11,450) -
Payments of dividend to non-controlling 37 1~ — &l Bff 8 /2 &) JE 5= A%

shareholders of a subsidiary RE A% B - (1,546)
Change in ownership interests in 7K &f B R SRR M B

subsidiaries without change of NAEB R

control (1,286) (1,388)
Payments of withholding tax for A< B (2] A 83 40 0] BE (B

repurchase of convertible B RTENRIE

redeemable preferred shares 32 - (17,789)
Net cash flows used in financing METBMARERE

activities FE (184,063) (120,548)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReERASEEYRD

CASH EQUIVALENTS FE (244,132) (974,852)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERIALEEY

beginning of year 26 495,425 1,455,454
Effect of foreign exchange rate [EXEHNTEIR

changes, net 1,624 14,823
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAESRBAETEEY

AT END OF YEAR 26 252,917 495,425
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R a Y o

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
(“Cayman”) under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket
Square, Grand Cayman KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) were principally engaged in (i) the business of specialty
pharmacy (the “Specialty Pharmacy Business”, including
specialty pharmacy network and the provision of pharmacist
service), (i) the business of physician research assistance (the
“Physician Research Assistance Business”, including the
provision of site management organisation services and services
for image management in clinical trials) and (i) the provision of
health insurance services (the “Health Insurance Services
Business”, including health management services). The Group’s
principal place of operations and geographical markets are in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on December 23, 2022. The Company has no controlling
shareholder.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date

of incorporation/

registration and place
Name of operations

NEEHR

BREEREEEERAR (227 A
BEREHSLZEEREHRS ([HE])
MM B R A R e AR R A
=&AL Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket
Square, Grand Cayman KY1-9010,
Cayman Islands °

FA-ARFREKEAR (FETR
SEDNEREBA  VFEEEXRK
(MFREEXY | BRBFEESPK
REE BRI AR ) ¢ (i) B EH T 1%
X% (TBEMEMBIER]  BHREEHR
HI5E BARRS KRR S R R E R
IR ¢ K (i) R 0 K B R AR AR
w(AxBRRrRERRBER 2
FEERS) ARENTELZMI
Eimm SR P EARLME ([H
Bl) -

KR BIR2022F12 A23H EFE BB AR
SHARAR ([BRFT])ER EHe R
NI 32 =

RN EQRANESR

RRATBEZMBARIFBOT :

Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity
share/registered
capital Company

attributable to the Principal

activities

Ay, HEMtERE EROTLEERRE

£ BUREE B HfMER AAREGEREINE FEER
Direct  Indirect
E# CF3
Sipai Health Science Technology Co., Hong Kong (‘HK”) HK$1 100% - Investment holding

Limited* B R BRI KM ER A 8] of PRC May 29, 2015

BREENMERMAR AR mEEE ([BE]) 18T - REEK
2015F5H29H
Siweite (Beijing) Healthcare PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.* B # August 16, 2017
(AR BRREBRERAR
BHEE (LR BRERERAA hE /RN AR #10,000,0007C REER
201798 H16H
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

1. QXFER (F&)
FRMBLINES (&)

Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity

registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SEMAY/ BEMbERE EROTZERRE
a1 R &5 dMEER FAAREEEZAIL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
B CiF3
Sichuan Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* 79/l PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Retalil of
BRREFERRA April 17, 2018 pharmaceutical
products
I BRAZEREERAA HE/ RE R AR #1,000,0007T BEERTE
2018F4R17H
Beijing Sijitang Pharmacy Co., Ltd.*dt 5 PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Retalil of
NEFAEEERETNA April 21, 2006 pharmaceutical
products
TRNEEAREEEREEAR RE /B A AR #10,000,0007T BREMTE
2006F4H21H
Guangdong Sipai Fuyuan Network PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100% Enterprise health
Technology Co., Ltd." R Bk T May 4, 2023 insurance
A4 R i B R A 7] (formerty known
as Xiamen Sipai Fuyuan Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* B 9 B R i 7 48
BEMARAR)
ERBEETABRMERAR hE/HEN AR #2,000,0007C rEERRR
(FIEEFMBKETEERMARAR) 2023F5H4H
Guangzhou Sipai Pharmaceutical Chain PRC/Mainland China RMB58,000,000 - 100% Retalil of
Co., Ltd.* BN SR B 5 & 8 September 11, 2015 pharmaceutical
BRAHE products
EMmBRELEHBR A hE/HEN AR #58,000,0007 BEERTE
2015F9A11H
Hunan Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB4,000,000 - 100% Retalil of
HEEBEAEEER AR April 18, 2018 pharmaceutical
products
HEBRAERERAA hE/HEN AR #4,000,0007C BEERTE
2018F4 A18H
Bixun (Shanghai) Medical Technology Co.,  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100% Site management
Ltd* bt ( £8) BEREARAR June 3, 2014 organisation
services
i (£8) BEREARRAF hE/HEN A #100,000,0007T RIS EREER
201456 A3H %
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

1. QXFER (F&)
REWBARNES (&)

Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity

registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SEMAY/ EMbERE ERTZERRE
a1 BUREE B ZMEEX FAAREERZASL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
H# &

Bixun (Guangzhou) Medical Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB290,000,000 = 100% Site management
Co., Ltd.* tLiE (M) BER AR April 29, 2019 organisation
NS serwces

i (BN BERBARATF RE /B A AR #290,000,0007T B5E R AR

201954 R29R a“%

Sipai Healthcare Investment Group Co., PRC/Mainland China USD400,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Ld*BREREXEEREARA March 8, 2019
] (formerly known as Sipai Healthcare
Investment Co., Ltd.* Bk FEE %

REBERRA)

BREREXREREERAA hE /R E R 400,000,000 7T REER
(FiERRRREXREERLAA) 201963 A8H

Sipai (Beijing) Insurance Brokerage Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100% Insurance
Ltd* Bk (GER) REBELBR DA November 18, 2004 brokerage
(formerly known as Yuantong (Beijing)

Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd." & 8
(R R ﬁ%%ﬁ[fﬁ )

Bk LR RBRELERD HE/HEAN AE¥100,000,0007T RBER
(BBEE (LR R A%«%E*ﬁ BAF) 20044117188

Sipai (Beijing) Network Technology Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB2,166,948.3 - 100% Investment holding
Ltdr Bk (b R) BB R AR AR March 28, 2014

BIR (LR BRBEERAT hE/HEN AE#2,166,948.37 BEER

201443 H28H

Guangdong Henggin Sipaizhonghe PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Technology
Technology Management Co., Ltd.* January 19, 2023 services
BEREREIANHERARA
&] (formerly known as Sipai Health
Technology (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.”

BIREEsm (EF)ERA )

EREERRAARKERED E HE/ RE R A& #10,000,0007C BT AR

(AR R (P AR A T) 2023F1A19R
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date
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BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

NAEFR (F)
FRMBLINES (&)

of incorporation/ Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity
registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities

AR EREERE SROLERRES

a1 BUREE B dMEER FAAREEEZAIL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# CiF3
Sipai Pharmacy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* &)k  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100% Retalil of
RERE (LB)BRRA October 8, 2005 pharmaceutical
products
BREAERE (H8)BRAR HE/ RE R AR #2,000,0007T BEERTE
2005F10H8H
Sipai Wisdom Technology (Guangzhou) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,600,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Co., Ltd* BIREERHEL (BM ) BR April 17, 2019
‘7l (formerly known as Sipai Wisdom
Pharmacy (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.*
BREERERE (BEM)BRRR)
BREERE (BM)ERAR (AIBE  FE/HERM A #1,600,0000007T REER

REEXER (EM)BRAR) 2019548178

The English names of these subsidiaries registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by management of the Company to
translate their Chinese names as these subsidiaries do not have official
English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

* i A R B R A1 A % S B B R B I R IE
HEXER BPEAXERBARAE
EEEERPXAMBEmNK-

FRINTREZRREBFEFAFANL
BRARBEEFANEIELDNAR
AMBAR -EERA REEMHKE
RANFHBEREHRIEBNITRK

BRRERNEBRAT —S-mEFH 205



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended December 31,
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognizes the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“lIASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, convertible redeemable preferred
shares and contingent consideration payables which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Contractual arrangements

Sipai (Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( Bk (1t 3 ) 448
B AR AR, “SBNT”) and its subsidiaries are engaged in the
business of insurance broking.

On May 10, 2021, Sipai Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd. ( Bk
fEREE¥REABR AR, “Spai WFOE”) entered into a series
of contractual arrangements with SBNT and its equity holders,
which granted Sipai WFOE the control over SBNT, which has
been treated as an indirect subsidiary of the Company during the
reporting period for accounting purposes.

The contractual arrangements mentioned in the paragraphs
above enable the Company to exercise effective control over
SBNT and its subsidiaries, have rights to variable returns from its
involvement with SBNT and its subsidiaries and the ability to affect
those returns through its power over SBNT and its subsidiaries.
Accordingly, SBNT and its subsidiaries’ results of operations,
assets and liabilities, and cash flows will be consolidated into the
Company’s financial statement as if they were subsidiaries of the
Company.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Contractual arrangements

In order to satisfy the current requirements on the ownership of
the operation of commercial internet information services under
relevant PRC laws and regulations, and to achieve the business
and operation purposes of the Company under the current PRC
regulatory framework, on December 7, 2023, the Company
announced new contractual arrangements would be adopted to
replace the existing contractual arrangements through the steps
below:

(@ On December 7, 2023, each of the individual shareholders
of SBNT agreed to transfer their equity interests in SBNT
to Mr. Li ji. The relevant parties terminated the existing
contractual arrangements among themselves and Sipai
WFOE, SBNT, Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji entered into
transitional contractual arrangements having terms and
conditions substantially the same as the existing contractual
arrangements at the same date. Upon the completion
of the step, each of Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji held
approximately 55.38% and 44.62% equity interest in SBNT.

(b) In December 2023, Beijing Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
(I RBIREFERMAR LA, “BSHT”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sipai WFOE injected approximately RMB1.08
million into SBNT and acquired 50% of the increased
registered capital of SBNT, and as a result, SBNT is now
owned as to approximately 27.69%, 22.31% and 50% by
Mr. Ma Xuguang, Mr. Li Ji and BSHT, respectively. Sipai
WFOE, SBNT, Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji have also
terminated the transitional contractual arrangements and
the relevant parties have entered into new contractual
arrangements having terms and conditions substantially the
same as the existing contractual arrangements in December
2023.

The Company has completed all the steps above as of December
31, 2023. As a result, the Company is interested in 50% of
equity interests in SBNT and its subsidiaries through BSHT’s
direct equity interest in SBNT and obtain control of the rest 50%
of the equity interest in SBNT and its subsidiaries through Sipai
WFOE’s contractual rights and, at its sole discretion, is able to
receive all the economic interest returns generated by SBNT
and its subsidiaries. Accordingly, SBNT and its subsidiaries’
results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows will be
consolidated into the Company’s financial statement as if they
were subsidiaries of the Company.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the*2020 Amendments’)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the" 2022
Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangerments

and IFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described
below:

(@ Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has
no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

22 SRS RIKE (&)

210

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at January 1, 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current
remained unchanged upon initial application of the amendments.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

()

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised

IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18
IFRS 19

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 21
Annual Improvements

to IFRS Accounting
Standards—Volume 11

2027

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments”

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7,
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7°

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026

Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2.3

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from IAS
1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss
into one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is
renamed as |AS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, IAS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments
to other IFRSs. IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to
other IFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analyzing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of IFRS 18 on the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRSs.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must
be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have
a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with
IFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a
financial asset or financial liability is derecognized and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognize a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment system before the
settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures for investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of
equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at the
same time or only the amendments related to the classification of
financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognized in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28 was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

214

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements
to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognized as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7
and paragraphs 1G1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and
recognize any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to
remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

° IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

o IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealized losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognized for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognized in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at December
31. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. An impairment
loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain financial instruments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, deferred tax assets and other non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognized
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognized impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

220

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(il

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 19%
Electronic equipment 19%-32%
Motor vehicles 12%-24%
Leasehold improvements 20%-33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognized in profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognized is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortized over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Licenses

Purchased licenses are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortized on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years. The useful life of 10 years for license is
estimated based on the duration of the license, as well as the
useful lives of similar assets in the marketplace.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortized on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 3 to 5 years. The estimated useful life of 3 to 5
years for software is determined by considering the period of
the economic benefits to the Group as well as by referring to the
industry practice.

222 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

24 EXEFEE (&)

BREE (BERI)

EFWRE R BT B ER V8RR K
AAB-REBAHTBWBENELEE
AR W B R R AFE-BLEE
B Al AR A HIRT (A S B IR SR © Al
AEHAERNETLEERBRRAIERE
EamAEE YERTRRABTE
E A] B R (E B BT (5 JRU{E » A £ A 4F 1
BIREVE B E R B HH R B R E
PRE M BEFE R AT

A

BE MR AR R ER B AR -
A ESENMEF AT E A FH0F A
5 © &F ] 9 A &£ A 4 HI105 JO IR B 7T Al
HEIR LA R 5 ERUE EMER S S
I

]t

BB EIHER AR EAIREERY IR -
WA E A5 AT 68 3 4 B3 =S NIZ H 47
VR o BT ) b BRI 6 R A HASES S
TR e E BAK B A S LB E A B
fR-WSEITHEPIMERE



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Software development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component and non-lease components, the Group adopts
the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease component and the associated
non-lease components (e.g., property management services for
leases of properties) as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

224

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@)

®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Buildings 1-10 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognized as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

©)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of motor vehicles
that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
and Dills receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortized cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognized, maodified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are
also recognized as other income in profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 24 EXEFER (&)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted
for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument
with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured
at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in
profit or loss. Reassessment occurs if there is a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognize the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, amounts due to related parties, bank and other
borrowings and contingent consideration payables.

The Group classifies financial liabilities that arise from a supplier
finance arrangement within trade and bills payables in the
statement of financial position if they have a similar nature and
function to trade payables. This is the case if the supplier finance
arrangement is part of the working capital used in the Group’s
normal operating cycle, the level of security provided is similar
to trade payables and the terms of the liabilities that are part
of the supply chain finance arrangement are not substantially
different from the terms of trade payables that are not part of
the arrangement. Cash flows related to liabilities arising from
supplier finance arrangements that are classified in trade and
bills payables in the statement of financial position are included in
operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Otherwise, the
financial liabilities are classified in interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings in the statement of financial position and the related
cash flows are included in financing activities in the statement of
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair

value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVTPL are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only
if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognized in profit or loss does not include any interest

charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (trade and
bills payables, other payables, bank and other
borrowings and amounts due to related parties)

After initial recognition, trade and bills payables, other payables,
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to related parties
are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate

amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate

amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or canceled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as warrants.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Group (treasury shares) are recognized directly in equity at cost.
No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4

234

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
country in which the Group operates.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilized, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilized.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognized as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group
will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognized under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@)

®)

Specialty Pharmacy Business

The primary source of the revenue from the Specialty
Pharmacy Business is generated from the operation
of offline specialty pharmacies and distribution of
pharmaceutical products to pharmaceutical companies and
other distributors. Revenue from the Specialty Pharmacy
Business is recognized at the point in time when control of
goods is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the medicines and pharmaceutical products.

The Group evaluates whether it is appropriate to record
the gross amount of sale of pharmaceutical products and
related costs or the net amount earned as commissions
for its distribution of pharmaceutical products under the
Specialty Pharmacy Business. When the Group acts as a
principal, that the Group obtains control of the specified
goods or services before they are transferred to the
customers, the revenues should be recognized in the gross
amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for the specified goods or services transferred.
When the Group acts as an agent and its obligation is to
facilitate third parties in fulfilling their performance obligation
for specified goods or services, the revenues should be
recognized in the net amount for the amount of commission
which the Group earns in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by other parties.

Physician Research Assistance Business

The primary source of revenue from the Physician Research
Assistance Business is generated from the provision of site
management organization services by providing integrated
services to pharmaceutical companies to assist them in
producing clinical trial data that meet the relevant regulatory
standards for the pharmaceutical companies to advance
to the next phase of clinical trial or solicit approval of a
treatment by the applicable regulatory body. The Group
recognizes the revenue when the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the service output is captured
in clinical data and documentation that are available for
pharmaceutical companies over the progress of clinical
trials.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(c)  Health Insurance Services Business

The primary source of revenue from the Health Insurance
Services Business is commissions from the provision of
insurance brokerage services. The Group provides insurance
brokerage services, including distribution of various
health and life insurance products on behalf of insurance
companies. As an agent of the insurance companies, the
Group sells insurance policies on behalf of the insurance
companies and earns brokerage commissions determined
as a percentage of premiums paid by the insured.

Revenue from the provision of insurance brokerage services
is recognized when the signed insurance policy becomes
effective since the Group has fulfilled its performance
obligation. The Group also generated revenue from health
management and claim processing services provided
to insurance companies, typically charging insurance
companies of a fixed fee per policy and revenue is
recognized over time during the service period as the Group
fuffills its performance obligation.

Other income

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets. They are reclassified to trade receivables when
the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

24 EXEFHEE (&)

WA (&)
KEFPADOHBA (F)
© BEREBRBRBEEY

BEBERRBRREEHENIER
AR R B R B AR 42 BR 15 PR 15
18 o AN SR B HR (R B AR 40 R 7% -

BRERARRBARDHESBRE
RASRBRER - ESRBR AT
REAN AERERRRBRARHEE
RE - REURZRA MR EX(E
BAOLEENELMAE-

RERBRELRBASRALED
BRERELVEER REEZAE
BEBITERNER AKEITTE
A fR B 2 AR A 2 B B 2R AR A M
BRERBEERA BERERR A
AIEUR S RRENEIEEM -

AR ERNEEETEORS
By 17 AR 765 4 A0 o By ) HE R T e 28

H A

AU E 18 & R S {4 51 R SR UCER Y 3R
TRE R T AR F I BIE I (10
BER)AEEMAEZ S /REERTIFE
R B R A ROR IR BT A&

27
o ©

BHREE

AR SR 1 R R I ES A R R E M
RER - EBAE P EEDEm ARG
JE#) RIS E A B IR ERERE
MEBE -ANEERETRERNG F
BERERSREERMENSBR
ERSHRENENKBERTR &4
BEBEH T BAESEYGIE

BIRREMNEERAT —B-mFEEH 230



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24 EXEFEE (&)

240

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalized as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfill a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalized contract costs are amortized and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share award schemes. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration and
rewards in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 33 to the financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognized. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognized as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is canceled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancelation, and any expense not yet recognized
for the award is recognized immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the canceled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the canceled
and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring cost involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Al
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting
events after the reporting period and update the disclosures that
relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For
non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will
not change the amounts recognised in its financial statements,
but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is different
from the Company’s functional currency, the United States
dollar (“USD”). As the major revenues and assets of the Group
are derived from operations in Mainland China, RMB is used as
the presentation currency to present the financial statements.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognized
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognized
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

244

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognizes the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognized in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

Consolidation of affiliated entities

The Group obtained control over certain PRC domestic
companies as detailed in note 2.1 by entering into a series of the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC domestic companies and
its shareholders. Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements and
other measures may not be as effective as direct legal ownership
in providing the Group with direct control over the PRC domestic
companies and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system
could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets
and liabilities of the PRC domestic companies. The directors of
the Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider
that the Contractual Arrangements among WFOE companies,
PRC domestic companies and its shareholders are in compliance
with the relevant PRC laws and are legally enforceable.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognized to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the losses can be utilized,
management’s judgement is required to assess the probability
of future taxable profits. Management’'s assessment is revised
as necessary and additional deferred tax assets are recognized
if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting period, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered. The provision for
ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECLs and the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
is disclosed in note 23 and note 24 to the financial statements.

The carrying amount of trade and bills receivables at December
31, 2024 was RMB276,048,000 (2023: RMB329,955,000). The
allowance for ECLs at December 31, 2024 was RMB32,935,000
(2023: RMB15,193,000).

The carrying amount of contract assets at December 31, 2024
was RMB180,116,000 (2023: RMB130,087,000). The allowance
for ECLs at December 31, 2024 was RMB7,967,000 (2023:
RMB5,659,000).

Inventories

The Group assesses periodically if cost of inventories may not be
recoverable based on an assessment of the net realisable value
of inventories. Allowances are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value
is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete
inventories requires the use of judgement and estimates on the
conditions and usefulness of the inventories and the net realisable
value has been determined based on the ageing and expiry dates
of the inventories, condition of the goods and contracted selling
price to be recognized less all estimated remaining costs to
completion and costs necessary to provide the service. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of the inventories in the year in
which such estimate changes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Inventories (Continued)

The carrying amount of inventories at December 31, 2024 was
RMB193,525,000 (2023: RMB246,058,000). The allowance for
inventories at December 31, 2024 was RMB948,000 (2023:
RMB2,481,000).

Useful lives and residual values of other intangible
assets

The Group’s management determines the useful lives, residual
values and related amortisation charges for its other intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of other intangible assets of similar nature
and functions and may vary significantly as a result of policy
changes and keen competitions from competitors, resulting
in higher amortisation charge and/or write-off or write-down
of technically obsolete assets when useful lives are less than
previously estimated. The Group will increase the amortisation
charges where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or will write-off or write-down obsolete assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

Leases — estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible
assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use.

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at December 31, 2024 was
RMB16,555,000 (2023: RMB50,653,000). Further details are
given in note 18.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments as follows:

Specialty Pharmacy
Business

Operation of specialty pharmacy stores
and distribution of pharmaceutical
products to pharmaceutical companies
and other distributors.

Physician Research
Assistance Business

Offering pharmaceutical companies
and other clinical trial institutions
site management organization
services, including site feasibility, site
initiation, patient recruitment, patient
management, data entry and document
management, on-site drug management
and bio-sample management, site
closure and others; and offering services
for image management in clinical trials.

Health Insurance
Services Business

Providing insurance brokerage services
to insurance companies and health
management services to insurance
carriers and enterprise clients.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment gross
profit. No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as
management does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are
presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

e ER ()

For the year ended December 31, 2024 HZE2024F12A31HILFE
Physician Health
Specialty Research Insurance
Pharmacy  Assistance Services
Business Business Business Total
REEE BLEMR HERR
% BEER RREBER @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®TR AR¥TR AR%®Tx
Segment revenue SEWA 3,974,866 397,610 192,958 4,565,434
Segment results DEEE 142,643 121,519 122,271 386,433
Reconciliation: HE:
Other income and gains Hp A &z 37,541
Seling and marketing expenses HEREHRAR (278,350)
Administrative expenses THRX (323,967)
Research and development expenses ER (22,262)
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEBEEATH
REEE (35,299)
Other expenses Hifx (99,186)
Restructuring cost BHEMA (22,295)
Finance costs AR (3,069)
Share of profits and losses of an associate  JEff — 5Bk & A Al 7
RE#R (187)
Group’s loss before tax AEBRTAIEE (360,641)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. &&oIpEwl (&)

For the year ended December 31, 2023 HZE2023F12A318 I FE
Physician Health
Specialty Research Insurance
Pharmacy Assistance Services
Business Business Business Total
HEER BEHA [BES-
%% WENEY REREEK @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETE ARETR

Segment revenue DEA 4,188,080 361,781 162,246 4,712,107
Segment results DEEE 195,958 114,617 104,123 414,698
Reconciliation: HiER:
Other income and gains Hi A Rz 76,469
Seling and marketing expenses HEREHRAR (292,320)
Administrative expenses THRX (347,788)
Research and development expenses HERS (45,947)
Impairment losses under ECL model EHEEBEEATH

REEE (9,965)
Other expenses Hifx (36,912)
Finance costs BENAR (3,489)
Share of profits and losses of an associate  fEfE —FK B < A A& F

RER (412)
Group’s loss before tax AEERTAERE (245,666)
Geographical information i EE R
During the reporting period, almost all of the Group’s revenues RIREERE NEB LT A RAHK
were derived from operations in the PRC and nearly all of the EFRFREEARNERBAIDIERH
Group’s non-current assets were located in Mainland China. No B EE L P A B A o o 3 BR B R B RS R
geographical information is presented in accordance with IFRS 8 HEER|ERIR L D IR T [R E R} o
Operating Segments.
Information about major customers EBRETEEFMNER
No further information about major customers is presented as WEZINFEZFENE—FER R
there was no single customer from which over 10% or more of RRREHETES - TP EREBK
the Group’s revenue was derived during the reporting period. AHI10% A £ o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows:
Revenue from contracts with customers

(@) Disaggregated revenue information

5. WA - Bt AR WK
WADHTIAT :
REZEFEHHKRA
(@ DEKRAEH

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFTT
Types of segmentation of business ¥ 5 @&
Specialty Pharmacy Business FFERBEE S TS 3,974,866 4,188,080
Physician Research Assistance BAEMMRHIES
Business 397,610 361,781
Health Insurance Services Business 7 3 B8 & (R % AR 75 £ 75 192,958 162,246
Total ] 4,565,434 4,712,107
Timing of revenue recognition ON AT
Recognised at a point in time RE—FFHEEER 4,157,479 4,350,326
Recognised over time RE—RFFEERER 407,955 361,781
Total revenue from contracts with KEBEFPELAHNRALLTE
customers 4,565,434 4,712,107

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognized during the reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of each reporting

TR IR S B A R R A A
TR BRSBE ASRERIN
BREEYEBREHRETHNE

period and recognized from performance obligations A ZFEFERTER
satisfied in previous periods:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFTT
Revenue recognised that was FFARE R H
included in contract liabilities at AHEBEHN
the beginning of the reporting ERRWA:
period:
Specialty Pharmacy Business PR B fE 575 5,900 14,375
Physician Research Assistance BEMMRHIES
Business 103,393 107,632
Health Insurance Services Business 7 2 & B (R B R 75 2 75 1,135 -
Total et 110,428 122,007
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -E AR W= (8)
(CONTINUED)
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Other income Hapdg A
Government grants* BT 8 B 2,943 25,326
Interest income FEHA 15,821 31,340
Total other income Hip g A 4258 18,764 56,666
Gains &=
Gains on financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFAEZNS R
BER 17,515 17,357
Gains on lease termination, net mIFHE W F R 923 1,503
Gains on remeasurement of the Group’s ~ R UEE B EiE Ht &
previously held equity interest at the REESLRFRB T
acquisition date % 4 B W 2= - 97
Others i) 339 846
Total gains W 4B &E 18,777 19,803
Total other income and gains Ha A Rz 4858 37,541 76,469

Government grants related to income that are received or receivables
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs recognized in profit or loss in the period upon actual
receipt.

* BB S RAERE EE X RIBIEN
WEHIANEBIRENE B FmHE
Yo ok FE 9 A - R 0 B K ER HA
B 18 25 T AR R SRAB B R A ©
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. BRBLAIEIR
AEENBHABRENE GEA)

NI EIEEFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 3,832,224 3,992,122
Cost of services provided P2 AR 7% A A AR 346,777 305,287
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- HERERETE
equipment (note 15)* (MF3E15) * 7,270 9,441
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE
(note 17(a))* (MF3E17(0)) * 31,376 34,800
Amortization of other intangible assets By EESE
(note 16)* (FtzE16) * 10,129 8,727
Government grants B 4 B (2,943) (25,326)
Interest income ) B U A (15,821) (31,340)
Foreign exchange difference, net HNE Z FRH R - 30
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEEREATH
BEEE 35,299 9,965
Impairment losses on goodwill (note 18)  FE&REEE (KIE18) 34,098 31,281
Impairment losses on HEREERERE
other intangible assets 5,026 -
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELRT Bl & 3,140 3,300
Expense relating to short-term leases and 2R HIFE RIKEBEELE
leases of low-value assets HEBBAMNREZ 9,132 6,366
Gains on financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFAEZN SR
BEWE (17,515) (17,357)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE WEREED
equipment [E518 919 996
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets H & EMER EEREIE 23 4
Provision (note 18) B (fIFE18) 44,385 -
Gains on remeasurement of the Group’s HRUWE BB EFAEAEER
previously held equity interest at the LRIFIA MR Y e
acquisition date - 97)
Restructuring costs EREND PN 22,295 -
4,345,814 4,328,199
Staff cost (excluding directors’and chief BIXNA(TBREEER
executive’s remuneration): BERITERABHH)
— Wages and salaries —TEEFS 570,680 566,428
— Pension scheme contributions —RIRSET B 40,104 44,654
— Share-based payment compensation — DAPE 5 7 LB ST A5F O 357 B 67,624 96,612

income.

The depreciation of plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use
assets and amortization of other intangible assets for each reporting
period are set out in “Administrative expenses”, “Selling and marketing
expenses” and “Research and development expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEKAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERKADHTIAT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(0)) MESENE (ME170)) 3,069 3,489
OTHER EXPENSES 8. Hthfix
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Impairment losses on goodwill (note 18)  EZREE B (KIE18) 34,098 31,281
Impairment losses of HEtEmEEEREBESE
other intangible assets 5,026 -
Impairment losses of inventories FEREERE 908 2,246
Donations to not-for-profit organizations ¥ 3F & K| 48 4% 79 45 B 3,104 1,332
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - HE K
plant and equipment HEHEE 919 996
Foreign exchange differences, net ME H 2= R HRR - 30
Fair value loss on contingent e SAREB 2 AT EEE
consideration payables - 523
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets H & H th # /2 & & #) 518 23 4
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBARMER 825 -
Provision (note a) B (Miska) 44,385 -
Others Eib 9,898 500
Total Bt 99,186 36,912

Note a: The provision pertains to potential fine and penalty in connection with
national basic health insurance schemes investigations by regulatory

authorities in 2024.

BBER0MFNEEREBE 2 ER
REE R BAMNEE R RE
548

K
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9.

10.

RESTRUCTURING COST

9. EAMA

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®ET T

Employee-related expenses EEHERX 10,480 -
Impairment losses on licenses hE RROR (B E5 18 8,387 =
Other losses Hingsia 3,428 =
Total 5 22,295 -

To align with company strategic upgrade, in 2nd half of 2024,
the management reorganized its resources and organizational
structure to focus on commercial health insurance and healthcare
management and improve operation efficiency. The Company
kicked off the restructuring project from the Specialty Pharmacy
Business by ceasing the operations of certain specialty pharmacy
stores at the third quarter of 2024 and expects to complete the
restructuring by 2025. The Group incurred a restructuring cost of
RMB22,295,000, mainly including employee-related expenses,
impairment losses on licenses and other losses from disposal of
properties and penalty for early termination of leases as a result of
closing the specialty pharmacy stores.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

10.

BEE R A B AR &I E R20244F
THFEHMBHERMALLEE E3
BPEAEEBRERRINBEREERE
B AE—TRABEERER-ARAED
B2024F FE=-FERELLEETE

B I IEHIR2025F ek EMH - N EE
ERF s B EmEE EHAMAARE
22,295,000t T ERIEREHEBAN S
RRAEEE DEMENEMEER
REKIHEEMNSH-

EEHM

R EWHRA - FE (RAHEG) B
383(1)(@) * (b) * (c) K (f) iR LA R (2 @] (3%
BEFNDZE ML) SR REEF
RERBF BT :

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF T ART T

Fees we 1,016 1,110
Other emoluments: Hib i<

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 3285 KB W& T 3,982 4,131

Performance-related bonuses KIFEBIELL - 441

Pension scheme contributions IR FT IR 83 101

Subtotal INEE 4,065 4,673

Total @t 5,081 5,783

256 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024



10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

10. EEHM (&)
(@) BYFHITES
FRXNTFBUENTES 2

the year were as follow: R (INE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥ETTT

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi CHANG Stanley Yi
(3R, alias K& ) (Note (a) (3R B BIRBE) L4

(Mt5E(a)) 141 378
Mr. He Haijian AR E 329 278
Ms. Huang Bei =EZ LT 273 278
Mr. Fan Xin (Note (b)) BRSEE 273 176
Total et 1,016 1,110

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2023:
Nil).

Notes:
(@  Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (385}, alias 5k 2 %) resigned as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on May 21,

2024.

(b) Mr. Fan Xin was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on May 10, 2023.

F AN B JE B FEBTTE B 79 H b B

% (20234 : #£) »

BT -

(@  CHANG Stanley Yi (3R} B FZRZE#) %
A 202445 A21 H B E AR B8 2 JEHN
TE=E-

(b) BRI ER2023F5 A10B EZ T ARR
AN IENITES -
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 10. EEHM (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) HITES - FEHITEER
and the chief executives BETHAE
Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme  Total cash in
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e ERR =EHEE Rifkesta BeEHM
ok ENEA Al 5 Fobc)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR ARET
2024 20244
Chief executive and ERTBAER
executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Ma Xuguang SHEELE - 2,101 - 16 2,117
Mr. Li Ji THELE - 1,881 - 67 1,048
Subtotal e - 3,982 - 83 4,085
Non-executive directors:  FHITEE:
Mr. Yao Leiwen HENLE - - - - -
Total st - 3,982 - 83 4,065
2023 2023
Chief executive and BEETHAER
executive directors: YTEE.
Mr. Ma Xuguang ERELE - 2,143 = 24 2,167
Mr. Li Ji LS - 1,988 441 7 2,506
Subtotal e - 4,131 441 101 4673
Non-executive directors: ~ ¥H{TEE:
Mr. Yao Leiwen wENEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ziguan (Note (a) KB4
(B3 (@) - - - - -
Subtotal INat - - - _ _
Total @t = 4131 441 101 4673
Notes: BT -

258

() Mr. Zhang Ziquan, who was a director of the Company, was
removed from the list of the directors of the Company on May

10, 2023.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

11.

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executives (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director,
supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included no
(2023: No) directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the five (2023: five) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

10. EEHM (&)

b) BITES ERTHEER
BETHAR (&)

FAMBES BFXRKSHTERA
EREIFAEREEAHESHL
e

1. 2B SHES

FARARESFEE I (2023F :
H|I)KRREE-FRNAR (2023F : A
BIEARAEESAESITTHRABNER
S EENEFHFBOT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREF T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & 285 & B W@ 8,597 7,466
Performance-related bonuses FIRMEEIEAL - 914
Share-based payment compensation VAR AR £ B 7 S 5 89 5 B 58,408 79,864
Pension scheme contributions IRIREFTEIE3R 100 120
Total Bt 67,105 88,364
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

11.

260

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

1. EBRESHEES (&)

FINTATBEFEERIERET
BAEREHERABMT

Number of employees

EEAE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 T E
3,500,000% 7T 2 =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 T E
4,500,000 7T 1 =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 T E
5,000,000% 7T 1 -
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 T &
7,000,000 7T - 1
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 L&
8,500,000 7T - 1
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 T &
9,000,000% 7T - 1
HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000 13,500,001& T &
14,000,000 7T - 1
HK$57,500,001 to HK$58,000,000 57,500,001 T &
58,000,000% 7T 1 -
HK$61,000,001 to HK$61,500,000 61,000,001 7T &
61,500,000 7T - 1
Total BEr 5 5

In prior years, share options and restricted shares were granted
to certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details
of which are included in the disclosures in note 33 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options and restricted shares,
which has been recognized in profit or loss immediately upon the
date of grant or over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.
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12. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is
not subject to tax on income or capital gains.

Hong Kong

On March 21, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”),
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on March 28, 2018 and was gazette on the
following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.
The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries with estimated assessable profits for its
annual reporting period ended on or after April 1, 2018.

Mainland China

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT
rate of the PRC subsidiaries was 25% during the reporting period
unless subject to tax concession set out below.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

12, FrB8%

AEEARBEBRELALRALNEE
B RBEM MG L ERDAE R
H R BB 1SR -

eSS

RENSHSRTAE FATBAR
U X 5 4 AR A

&t

R2018F3A21H BB L L2 EA
COTER (1BFT) (BT5)IKHIE
=) (I UEBIER) |) 5| AMARHIF
SRESE - ERPIEZE) K20185F3A
2BAEEM AERE  WHRIKBTIE-

EMRHFEHEFNET GERAF
) E2,000,0007%8 74 ) #5 1%8.25% M9 71
REF > 12,000,00058 7T JA 8% T #&
1216.5% M) B = B o /AR 1) 71 15 B R
FIEEANAEER2018F481H 5 Z
BEERNEERE B LTS ERT
mAEEEH BRG] -

B A it
RIEFECEMRMESHE ([REREH
ED R EEMREBOEE IS B

BRANBERENEEMEHRER
25%  FRIFER T X ESR -
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

12. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Mainland China (Continued)

12.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at
the statutory tax rates to the tax expense at the effective tax rate

Frie® (&)
B At (48)

BOEE B Rt E O E AR R AR
IR X BB R R EABRIAR

is as follows: HERWNT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Loss before tax B % Bl 5 18 (360,641) (245,666)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% i@ BT R 25% 5t E MR T8 (90,160) (61,416)
Expenses not deductible for tax TAIHIRE A =2 35,936 13,349
Different tax rates enacted b 75 1% B8 ) TE AT [R] B K
by local authority 36,785 31,059
Deductible temporary differences and tax A L1 i M 2= 82 K& R HER
losses not recognized or utilized S ARENAHIAEE 18,630 18,049
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate FERIERNEBER R RAE
for the year BT IE R X 1,191 1,041

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the

following items:

WARBA T S IBEREERIAEE

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T AR®ETTT

Tax losses HIEEBE 1,511,123 1,418,911
Deductible temporary differences AENEREER 53,973 29,356
Total Bt 1,565,096 1,448,267

The accumulated tax losses at December 31, 2024 were
RMB1,511,123,000 (2023: RMB1,418,911,000). The tax losses
in the PRC can be carried forward for five years to offset future
taxable profit. The tax losses of those companies in the PRC will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these
losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilized.
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13.

14.

DIVIDEND 13.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
the year (2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 14.
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
639,031,588 (2023: 644,081,816) outstanding during the year.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation has excluded the treasury shares held in trust of the
Company as detailed in note 32.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share
option scheme and the conversion of preferred shares had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts presented.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

% E
FA - AR FWES S ETIREE (2023
FE) o

fArEEBaiEE ARG
FREE

BEABESCEZFTRAE AR LR
%/‘\hﬁ/\r&miw&ﬁa&aﬁéﬂa
Ji% hn # < 15 £1639,031 588Hx (2023¢
644,081,816 )5t E st E A I
Hxﬂuﬁéﬂ?iﬁ%@%”ﬁ%u$®7 =5 fmﬁ
BB - BRI FE32 ©

AR ERE S REBRELRNTZES
FIE2PNEREABECHEEREEY
2 5y 3 A 220244 2023F12 A
31E¢$F£§|JE@tHxﬁMEﬂEi%ﬁ1’E
AR -

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on: FEREKREBEERAT&IE:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARETT
Loss [}
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders £ 2 7] & i@ #E 25 35 A A FE(S
of the parent (RMB’000) EE (ARETFIT) (323,736) (255,768)
Ordinary shares = iﬁﬂi
Weighted average number of ordinary EEREREEERDY
shares outstanding during the year used i NEBITE @R INET
in the basic loss per share calculation &R 639,031,558 644,081,816
Loss per share (RMB per share) SREE (ERARET) (0.51) (0.40)
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BERRHE

Furniture
Electronic and Motor  Leasehold Construction
equipment fixtures vehicles improvements in progress Total
BTt HBRREE RE HENEEE ERIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%T:
December 31, 2024 2024F12A31R
At January 1, 2024: 7202461 A1R :
Cost A 8,818 7,898 2,058 31,451 868 51,093
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (7,200) (5,234) (865) (24,299) - (37,598)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,618 2,664 1,193 7,152 868 13,495
At January 1, 2024, net of R2024F1A18
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 1,618 2,664 1,193 7,152 868 13,495
Additions nE 580 57 - 7,267 560 8,464
Disposals HE (548) (866) - (2,391) - (3,805)
Transfers B - - - 39 (867) (471)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHRITE
the year (981) (974) (258) (5,057) - (7,270)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF C)] ) - (97) - (112)
At December 31, 2024, net of 20245124318
accumulated depreciation MG RAE 660 875 935 7,270 561 10,301
At December 31, 2024: P2024F12A318
Cost KA 5,360 4,787 2,057 21,521 561 40,292
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (4,700) (3,912) (1,122) (20,257) - (29,991)
Net carrying amount REFE 660 875 935 7,270 561 10,301
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December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15. % - HE KR (&)

Furniture
Electronic and Motor Leasehold  Construction
equipment fixtures vehicles  improvements in progress Total
BTl HBRREE nE HEMERE ERIR CHy

RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000
ARETL  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

December 31, 2023 2023F12A31H

At January 1, 2023; #2023F1A1A8 :
Cost AR 8,334 10,452 1,008 42,622 365 62,781
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (5,990) (6,201) (719) (32,017) - (44,927)
Net carrying amount FmFE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854

At January 1, 2023, net of R2023F1A18

accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854
Additions NE 621 - 1,143 2,730 867 5,361
Disposals & (68) (361) 27 (719 - (1,175)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B AT 368 - - 528 - 896
Transfers B - - - 364 (364) -
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHRITE

the year (1,647) (1,226) 212) (6,356) . (9,441)

At December 31, 2023, net of  #2023F12A318 -

accumulated depreciation Nk EFIE 1,618 2,664 1,193 7,152 868 13,495
At December 31, 2023: P2023F12A318

Cost Y 7K 8,818 7,898 2,058 31,451 868 51,093

Accumulated depreciation ZEME (7,200) (5,234) (865) (24,299) - (37,598)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,618 2,664 1193 7,152 868 13,495
At the end of each reporting period, no property, plant and MNEREH R AEERFRREAY
equipment of the Group was pledged. EN N
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HibBLEE

Software Licenses Total
B4 B et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR® T AR®T T
December 31, 2024 2024%12H31H
Cost at January 1, 2024, net of 7202441 A1 BB A -
accumulated amortisation bk Rt 9,923 38,268 48,191
Additions NE 2,241 - 2,241
Transfers B 470 - 470
Disposals HE (23) - (23)
Amortisation during the year FNEE (2,570) (7,559) (10,129)
Impairment losses (note) BEEE (M) - (13,413) (13,413)
At December 31, 2024 1202412 H31H 10,041 17,296 27,337
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12 A31H
Cost 9N 18,172 63,066 81,238
Accumulated amortisation ST H#EE (8,131) (32,357) (40,488)
Accumulated impairment ZFHRE - (13,413) (13,413)
Net carrying amount BREFE 10,041 17,296 27,337
December 31, 2023 2023%F12H31H
Cost at January 1, 2023, net of 202341 A1 H KA 7 -
accumulated amortisation bR R AT 5 12,019 44,163 56,182
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — MM B AT - 740 740
Disposals & 4 - (4)
Amortisation during the year FNEE (2,092) (6,635) (8,727)
At December 31, 2023 HR2023F12A31H 9,923 38,268 48,191
At December 31, 2023 72023F12 A31H
Cost B 7R 15,484 63,066 78,550
Accumulated amortisation 2R (5,561) (24,798) (30,359)
Net carrying amount REFE 9,923 38,268 48,191

Note: This amount includes restructuring cost of RMB8,387,000 which is set

out in note 9 above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

17. LEASES 17. HE
The Group as a lessee REBEAEBA
The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. AREBGFHEEMREFIILHAESL -
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 1 and BFEHEENHEA—RNF1E10F - — K
10 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and BFERATN REBINSEHEESEEZENR

subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@)

Right-of-use assets

DHEREBAIERE -

() EMEEE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and AREBFEAEEENEREDELR
the movements during the year are as follows: FEREHHOT
Buildings
BF
RMB’000
AR® T
As at January 1, 2024 R2024F1H1H 67,611
Additions nE 31,534
Termination Ak (20,134)
Depreciation charge HEER (31,376)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAF (195)
As at December 31, 2024 72024512 318 47,440
As at January 1, 2023 7202351 H1H 71,009
Additions as a result of acquisition of
subsidiaries W B B JB R B B A BT I 1,648
Additions =T 40,346
Termination Ik (10,592)
Depreciation charge WEER (34,800)
As at December 31, 2023 72023F12 H31H 67,611
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

17.

268

LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the reporting period are as follows:

AEEFEREEA (H)

—~ =

HEEENEREERN RSN
BEUNT :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Carrying amount at the beginning FHEREE
of the year 65,557 67,764
Additions NE 31,534 40,346
Additions as a result of acquisition ~— WEMBARELEZRE
of subsidiaries - 1,734
Accretion of interest recognised F AR L2
during the year 3,069 3,489
Payments (NES (33,448) (35,681)
Termination Sl (21,123) (12,095)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEW B R R (97) -
Carrying amount at the end of FRREE
the year 45,492 65,5657
Analysed into: V=
Current portion mENEL Y 19,730 26,218
Non-current portion IETRBEBD 25,762 39,339

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
39 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KAEBERAFEBEA (E)
(€) The amounts recognized in profit or loss in © MEERERERANETE
relation to leases are as follows: nR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 3,069 3,489
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  {FREEENITEE M
assets 31,376 34,800
Gains on lease termination, net RIEHE W F R (989) (1,503)
Expense relating to short-term and HEHEEREKEEEE
low-value assets leases* HEFBEMRAY" 9,132 6,366

Total amount recognised in profit or R85 FERH 4L 58

loss 42,588 43,152
* Included in “Administrative expenses” and “Selling and marketing * FFAA O ER R E M2 IR
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and B TFTBR ) R (856 K& & 85
other comprehensive income. e
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 34(c) to (d) MER €M AR RN I B &k
the financial statements. FiE34(c) °
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

18. GOODWILL 18. BE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At January 1, 2023: 202341 A1A -
Cost X 7 79,823
Accumulated impairment ZERE -
Net carrying amount FREFE 79,823
Cost at January 1, 2023, 720231 A1 8 A RRA -
net of accumulated impairment bk 25HRE 79,823
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wb — T B A A 2,111
Impairment during the year FRBIE (31,281)
Cost and net carrying amount at December 31, 2023 202312 31 H BIKA & R E F (B 50,653
At December 31, 2023: 2023%F12 8318 :
Cost DN 81,934
Accumulated impairment RETRE (31,281)
Net carrying amount BRmEFE 50,653
Cost at January 1, 2024, R2024F1 A1 HBIRAS
net of accumulated impairment Ik Z25HRE 50,653
Impairment during the year FNRIE (34,098)
Cost and net carrying amount at December 31, 2024 202412 A31H &8I A & R E F (& 16,555
At December 31, 2024: 202412318 :
Cost B 81,934
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (65,379)
Net carrying amount REDFAE 16,555
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18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
Taiyuan Taikang Xinte Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (K REFEF A LR
B R A F], “Taiyuan Taikang”), Shenyang Sanheyuan Pharmacy
Co., Ltd. (/&5 =& & 2 E B[R A 7], “Shenyang Sanheyuan’),
Beiing Renbo Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (It R REEHRET A
7], “Beijing Renbo”) and Hubei Siweite as cash-generating units
(the “CGUSs”) for impairment testing.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to these CGUs are as
follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

18. &2& (&)

[k gz

BEREBAHKBNEESRKEEANRSE
R ABEEGRAR ([KRERE])
B —AKEFEERAR ([BRE=6
%) ERCBAREFAEREERA
(M-8 Rt B RERIREE
EEM([REEEEMN])ETRHER

An ©

DEEZERTELEUNBEREE
LN

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBET T

Taiyuan Taikang NIRFERE - 1,061
Shenyang Sanheyuan EE =A% 11,762 28,700
Beijing Renbo ERCiE 4,793 18,781
Hubei Siweite AL B - 2,111
Total BEr 16,555 50,653

Goodwill is tested by management for impairment annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The recoverable amount
of the CGUs has been determined based on a value in use (“VIU”)
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. The pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections ranged from 18.00% to 19.15% (2023: 18.00% to
19.30%). The revenue growth rates used to determine the cash
flows during the five-year period ranged from 0% to 2.90% (2023:
5.25% to 12.45%). The terminal growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond the period is 2.0% (2023: 2.3%). Such
estimation is based on management’s expectations for the market
development.

EEETFLERET (MEHFBRE
BB REEEURRE) UEBETH
BAR -ReEEBMNAIIREEEE )
ERFERAEE(FAEEDTEmME
TortEFERAEREEEMENRETR
FHEMNYHBEENRSREN-RE
ETERFTRARRTATRNIE RXBE A
18.00% %£19.15% (20234 : 18.00% =
10.30%) -FARBEERAFHERE RS
B U A 18 K R 5 B 20% £2.90% (2023
F:525%F12.45% ) - FARAHEET BRSNR
&M EHIKAE K E A2.0% (20234 :
23%) ZfAFTERNEEBHMHERE
RITEHA -
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Pre-tax discount rates — The discount rate used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine the
budgeted revenue is based on management’s expectation and
also expectation of the future market.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate is
based on management’s expectations and does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
CGUs.

According to the results of impairment testing, the
Group recognized impairment losses of RMB1,061,000,
RMB16,938,000, RMB13,988,000 and RMB2,111,000 in 2024
with respect to goodwill allocated to Taiyuan Taikang, Shenyang
Sanheyuan, Beijing Renbo and Hubei Siweite, respectively.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate and
growth rate are consistent with external information sources.
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RIRRIR R - AR AR B AN E
B2 o
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LR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

19. INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. RA—FXBE N TNKRE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Share of net assets EIEEEFE 7,439 7,626
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEHNEE 887 887
Total FE 8,326 8,513
Particulars of the material associate are as follows: BABES AR EWET

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Particulars of issued Place of registration attributable to
Name shares held and business the Group  Principal activity
rEEERL
£ FBERTRAFE dfkExuny AERERAIL FEXHB
Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Ordinary shares Taiyuan 25%  Retail of pharmaceutical
(LB REERRAF) products
WL7ERIREZE AR A A] TR KIR 25% BEEMTE
The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity REEBREZSNTIHNIRELBEANARE
shares held by Sipai Wisdom Technology (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. EMBARBIREZRIE (EN) AR
(BREERE (EMN) BB AR, awholy-owned subsidiary of NTVEEH HREZE IR D 4R K o
the Company.
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TRE A E B IEERIE K EEE A
of the Group’s associate that are not individually material: FIEMAB R &R
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Share of the associate’s loss and total E(REEE A RIBERFA
comprehensive expense for the year WA B%E (187) (412)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s A5 B A B & A Rl I & A
investments in the associate IR A %A 8,326 8,513
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RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. EAFEFAEZNEHE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T

Non-current: JEmE:
Structured deposits BEEETR 60,263 —
Subtotal INET 60,263 =

Current: e

Wealth management products O E 474,683 80,230
Structured deposits EEETR 36,692 281,073
Monetary fund BEEES 60,143 117,045
Subtotal N 571,518 478,348
Total ST 631,781 478,348

As at December 31, 2024, the financial assets at FVTPL
represented floating return monetary fund, wealth management
products and structured deposits issued by certain banks, with
expected return rates ranging from 2.08% to 5.26% per annum.

R2024F12 A31H I AFEF AER
e mEERS TIRITEITHIZE ER
EREe BEVMERREBMTR B
BB 37 R R B 42.08% £5.26% T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

INVENTORIES 21. &
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFTT
Trading merchandise Z 5% 194,473 248,539
Less: Provision for impairment ORI E R (948) (2,481)
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 193,525 246,058
Movements in provision for impairment of inventories are as FERERBESEHHOT
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
At beginning of year F 4 2,481 3,557
Provision for the year FNEE 908 2,246
Write-off for the year F (2,441) (3,322)
At end of year FR 948 2,481
CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS 2. REFHFENRE
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Cash held on behalf of clients REFEAMERS 148,688 299,755

The balance represents the premiums collected by the Group on
behalf of insurance companies from the insurance consumers in a
fiduciary capacity until it is disbursed to the insurance carriers.

BHREAKBEURESFHRRBRARIR
REOHEEWRNRRE BEERRER
RANARILE
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

23.

276

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

23. ESZ RN FRIEREBWRFEE

2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Bills receivable FEWFE & 14,729 429
Trade receivables H 5 EWGIA 294,254 344,719
Less: Allowance for credit losses S EEEEE (32,935) (15,193)
Net carrying amount BREFE 276,048 329,955

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for individual customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally from one month
to two months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
and bills receivables balances. The balances of trade and bills
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end
of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit losses, is as follows:

AEEEEEPHRHIERER QIR -

BEARP —RARINNK -EEH—
RNF—EAZMEAR - NEEZRKEY
HOR U 19 # R SR TR AR 455 B AR 2 7 - 7
KEEREEERR -BHRESRBSTR
EEETHEN AREYENE FE
Wk IR b JE R B A SR IS B R RT3
S H M5 IR i - E 5 EUWGRIE I
RN RIB AR TR -

WA s BRI R Y B 5 R YRR I B W
SEENEZAYYHKREREEESR
BERRRER DT :

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBETF T

Within 6 months 61& A N 249,638 311,170
6 to 12 months 62121 A 26,410 18,751
Over 12 months Bid12{E A - 34
Total st 276,048 329,955

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses
of trade receivables were detailed in note 24 to the financial
statements.
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

24. EHEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Contract assets BHEE 188,083 135,746
Less: Allowance for credit losses S EEEEE (7,967) (5,659
Net carrying amount BREFE 180,116 130,087

The contract assets primarily arise from the Group’s Physician
Research Assistance Business segment, representing the
Group’s right to consideration for services completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned upon the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified milestones as stipulated in the
contracts. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional.

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on
trade receivables and contract assets are as follows:

BHEETRRAKENE LT
EBomMEL KRAKERE XA
ARARRS WK EHEN - REZZ
REFIBURA A S BR RILIEK A K
ENREERBIENKRR - ANEE
FERZ R P A EAR AT S A E 5 R WK
18 o

B3I ROB R & A B S B
BRENEBIT

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFTT

At beginning of year F 4 20,852 16,125
Impairment losses, net of reversal BEEE R 22,000 5,303
Amount written off as uncollectible HE AE RN ER 2T (1,950) (576)
At end of year FR 40,902 20,852
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

24. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group determines the ECLs on these items by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on the financial quality of
debtors and historical credit loss experience based on the ageing
of the trade receivables and status of underlying projects related
to the contract assets, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current
conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. The
following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and
contract assets by ageing presented based on invoice date at the

end of each reporting period:

24. ENEE (&)

AEBEERREREETARERANE
HEEEBR REEBANMBERR
ERNEZRUARKRRESNEER
FAHMERA IR B I E L EREEER
ETHER AFLEERE URBRE
AR S0 B 6 2R SRR IR O B fil &t e TR
AN ERERRRIZERBHMZ25IM
RRREDNE S RBKIBERANEE
HEBR B -

As at December 31, 2024
H2024%12H31H

Expected Expected

Amount credit loss rate credit losses

BHEEEEE AHGEEER

RMB’000 % RMB’000

ARBT T AR¥T

Individually assessed: & Bl 54 17,348 100.00 17,348
Measured by provision matrix: fF AR ERELE

Within 6 months (note a) 6B AR (Msta) 426,534 2.70 11,508

6 to 12 months 6= 121E A 26,686 1.03 276

Over 12 months wBid121E A 11,770 100.00 11,770

Total MBEt 482,338 40,902

As at December 31, 2023
72023%12A31H

Expected Expected

Amount credit loss rate  credit losses
TEHEEREXR FEHEEEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AREFTT ARBEFTT
Within 6 months (note a) 6E AR (M3ta) 450,738 2.20 9,910
6 to 12 months 6= 1218 A 19,145 2.06 394
Over 12 months EBiE121E A 10,582 99.68 10,548
Total st 480,465 20,852

Note a: The contract assets were presented in the ageing bucket of “within
6 months” since they primarily relate to the Group’s right to the

consideration for work completed but not yet billed.
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BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

24. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 24. EHNEE (&)
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and TRAMIZEETESBEEIPNE S E
contract assets by class of credit rating: WRIEREHEEMRBRR

As at December 31, 2024
72024%F12H31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate credit losses

=8 BHEEEER AHGEERR

RMB’000 % RMB’000
AR® T AR® T
State-owned companies and BERKEE
institutions 202,783 10.15 20,581
Listed companies FWAF 216,891 4.14 8,985
Non-listed private companies and ~ 3F F AL & A A K E A
others 62,664 18.09 11,336
Total A 482,338 40,902
As at December 31, 2023
72023%12A31H
Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate  credit losses
k] TEHEEREXR HEHEEEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000
ARBFTT AREFT
State-owned companies and BERKEE
institutions 233,538 1.82 4,254
Listed companies Esil/NE] 194,576 3.79 7,384
Non-listed private companies and 3 F AL &R &) K& E A
others 52,351 17.60 9,214
Total HEt 480,465 20,852
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

280

TRIH - H R WK IR

ASSETS HMEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Non-current: FEE
Rental deposits MEES 7,413 7,475
Total HEE 7,413 7,475
Current: e :
Price adjustment compensation and ERARMERBERF
purchase rebate (note a) (MfzEa) 70,134 66,154
Fund receivables from external payment U IMNIB ST 1 A AR 1R (& &9
network providers (note b) B (ko) 7,950 4,932
Value-added tax recoverable AT YR BB (E R 5,623 11,862
Prepayments FA T RIE 38,547 28,514
Staff advances BT 8X 1,566 852
Loans due from non-controlling JiE WL BT B A B SR AR IR R
shareholders of subsidiaries (note c) ER (MsEe) 47,483 41,984
Consideration receivable for exercise of T E R (B
share options 181 -
Other receivables H A, i W kIR 2,014 2,241
Impairment allowance VERIERE (18,877) (6,023)
Total RS 154,621 150,516

Note a: The balance mainly represents purchase rebates receivable and
amounts due from pharmaceutical companies to compensate the
Group for the reduced sales price of drugs sold in the Group’s
specialty pharmacies under the centralized procurement policies.

Note b: The balance represents the receivables from payment processors
such as China UnionPay, WeChat and Alipay or aggregators that are
cash due from them for clearing transactions. The cash was paid
by individual customers of pharmacy stores through these payment
processors or aggregators for selling medicines in specialty by the

Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 25. JE{{ % B - HEWHE R

ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Note c: The Group had provided short-term loans to Taiyuan Xinzeyuan
Medical Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. (K R ¥7:2 8 &8 & % fi7
AiABRAR]), Liaoning Xinyi Pharmaceutical Trade Co., Ltd. (i
FERE®E 5 AFMR A A, Shenyang Yijiachen Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.(JEFE{E IR 28 52 AR A A]) and Shenyang Hengruisheng
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JLF51EIR F B 42 H R A7), which are
non-controlling shareholders of Taiyuan Taikang, Harbin Zhihe
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (% 88 B & 225 R A 7], “Harbin Zhihe”),
Jinzhou Sanheyuan Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (83 =& & ZEEHR A
A, “Jinzhou Sanheyuan”) and Anshan Sanheyuan Pharmacy Co.,
Ltd.(# 1L =& 4 % E AR 2 A), “Anshan Sanheyuan”), and Dalian
Sanheyuan Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (KiE=4& & 2E BB AR, “Dalian
Sanheyuan”) and Shenyang Sanheyuan respectively, amounting to
RMB47,449,000 in total. The short-term loans were secured by
pledged non-controlling equity interests in Taiyuan Taikang, Shanxi
Siweite Health Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (1L 75 B # 45 i
FEEEABMABR AR, Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (1L

BIRE B H R A R]), Harbin Zhihe, Jinzhou Sanheyuan, Anshan
Sanheyuan, Dalian Sanheyuan, and Shenyang Sanheyuan held by
these four non-controlling shareholders.

The allowance for expected credit losses related to receivable
from price adjustment compensation and purchase rebates, and
other receivables at December 31, 2024 were RMB18,877,000
(2023: RMB6,023,000).

The movements in the provision for impairment of receivable from
price adjustment compensation and purchase rebates, and other
receivables are as follows:

Ht&EE ()

izt : REEMARIZREBERMARNE
RAR - BEEBREEEZFRAR
LRENREEFR QR RILEER
ABEARAR (DB KNRFEE
MEEBEEER AR ([MEBER
M) BMN=EEEEERAF ([
M=k BL=ZA%FEFERL
A(BL=A%K]) RE=ZAKFERE
ERAB(TRE=6&]) MER=
BHEHFEERER) REHA AR
47,449,000 I E K - Z B HIE
FUARZI 2 FEE IR FF B B KR TR
BB R REEERABERA
A IIPBIREERR AR KA
BB =aK BL=A%K KB
ZABNMEG =R G IR EE
e

R2024F12 A31H - EE U B8 A EH
EEEANTEHEEBBREEMER
FRIE A A R #18,877,0007T (20234 : A
R #56,023,0007T ) °

P W (B 1 ) B M e B A FE SR TR 2 OB
ERENEZHNT

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
At beginning of year REH 6,023 1,673
Impairment losses, net of reversal WEEE (FBREER) 13,577 4,662
Amount written off as uncollectible B AEARE M SRR (723) (312)
At end of year RER 18,877 6,023
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

26. TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH

KR ER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5 REZEE
Time deposits EHIER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT T ARBT T
Time deposits over three months but less =1 B A _F{EER —FH)
than one year* T HATF 3 95,336 155,854
Time deposits over one year* —F LA M EBF R 106,471 175,573
201,807 331,427
Denominated in: AT E¥EE:
RMB AR 201,807 331,427
Total st 201,807 331,427
* Time deposits are made for depending on the immediate cash * TFHERRTFAEENRIRE S EZRkM

TE - W% % FE HAF AR R BREUH B - TE A
EREALHY EENELNEERI

requirements of the Group and earn interest at the time deposit rates.
The time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent

history of default. KIERITI o

Pledged deposits (iR e
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREEF T
Pledged deposits* EHEPE 105,439 147 115

Denominated in: AR SR EHE :

RMB AR 105,439 147,115
Total 5 105,439 147,115

* Pledged deposits are pledged for letters of credit and bills payables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

26. TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH 26. EHEFR B 17 B 3H
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) eRASEEY (&)
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Cash on hand FHER® 31 778
Cash at banks RITIRE 252,886 494,647
Cash and cash equivalents B NREEEY 252,917 495,425
Denominated in: AT E¥EHE
RMB AR 251,855 446,825
usD ET 464 42,141
HK$ BT 598 6,459
Total cash and bank balances Ba& MIBTT4 R ERE 252,917 495,425

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to

conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.

ARBARERABRBEMES - A
REBEFEAA OMNEESFIERG) K
E-BELRNEEERT)  AREEE
BBERERRIMNERBHRITAAR

BHBEMER-

RITIR UER T B IRITFRAEF
B R B RITHEBR LB BERTFRT
AT ER I 8 WO L V5B R AP ROERTT

Wo
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 27. EZERNRIEREMNRRE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFTT
Trade and bills payables B 2 EMN AR EN R 412,803 464,269
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of NEHREHE RN E 5 ENHTE N FER
each reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: FEBEEREZHHNERESITOT
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Within 1 month 1A AR 216,625 329,511
1 to 3 months 12318 A 98,870 124,903
3 to 6 months 3Z61dE A 64,077 5,834
Over 6 months 61E A LA E 33,231 4,021
Total want 412,803 464,269
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally féj S FET ,%\IE & ENEEAtE —
settled within three months. “EBARNGEE -
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December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HtiENRIERETEA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥ETTT
Salary and welfare payables FEf & RAEF 110,847 97,832
Insurance premium payables (note a) FERHRERE (Hiska) 148,688 299,755
Provision (note c) B (Mskc) 81,687 -
Other taxes payable HE b ERBIIR 29,663 23,577
Accrued expenses FEETR X 22,849 19,877
Accrued listing expenses JEET FTHX 2,153 2,153
Consideration and withholding tax BEHEERHRER
payables for repurchase of Preferred TR
Shares 5,164 5,164
Advance payments received for B3R B AR A W ER 9
subscription of share options (note b) B (iEb) 700 12,150
Others H A, 11,962 6,490
Total B 413,713 466,998
Note a: The balance represents the premiums collected by the Group on Mfiz¥a: EBEANEEUIZEIFNHRRRA T
behalf of insurance company from the insurance consumers in a MR EEEKRBERRE BEE AR
fiduciary capacity until disbursed to the insurance carriers. A NEISEN =T
Note b: The amount represented payments received from employees for Miz¥b : S EEIEIAHE0I7TEHEIESTE (F
subscribing vested shares under the 2017 Share Option Plan (as ERMGHRMENR BN ES
defined in note 33 to the financial statements). As at December 31, R T 7 2 B YT BX B9 3R I8 - 7A20244F
2024, these ordinary shares for these vested share options are yet 12A31H  ZEERBEERENTE
to be legally registered and the subscriptions received from these f& & AR A EERR 8% S EAKEL
individuals are recorded as advance payments. HRERIEIARE AR
Note c: The provision pertains to potential repayment of medical insurance Miz¥c: BEHIAFHEEHBERAETIEHE

settlement, fine and penalty in connection with the investigations of
national basic health insurance schemes by regulatory authorities in
2024.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing.

A& BRI AT B AERE RO B
BER SIRRETAR-

REBR

Hup e FIENGHR
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. 5 8E
2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Contract liabilities aHarE 188,746 181,898
Contract liabilities include advance payment of site management AN EEEREETIBAMRE RESD
organisation service and pharmaceutical products. AR
30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. RITRHEMER
2024 2023
20245 20234F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate(%) Maturity RMB’000 rate(%) Maturity RMB’000
BRAI= B FI=E
(%) ZH AR®T T (%) XI5 ARETT
Current BNER
Bank loans — BITER— - - - 4.05% February 23, 2,000
unsecured K 2024 2024
F2H23H
Total Bt - 2,000
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Analysed into: DA
Bank borrowings within one year —FERFRITERK - 2,000
Total BET - 2,000
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31. DEFERRED TAX

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

31. ELERIE

Deferred tax liabilities FEEHRIEEE
Total
et
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At January 1, 2023 72023F1H1H 1,335
Charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss reEEmkEMEEN SRR
and other comprehensive income 1,096
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ue B8 — KT B A A 185
Deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2023 and #2023% 12 A31H &2024F1 A1H
January 1, 2024 MIELEHBEAE 2,616
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss T A4RA B R E M2 E W R
and other comprehensive income (1,285)
Deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2024 R2024F 12 A31HHRER HE (& 1,331
Deferred tax assets FEEHRBEBEE
Total
mEt
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At January 1, 2023 7M2023F1H1H -
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss T A4RAEF R EMEE KR
and other comprehensive income 1,055
Deferred tax assets at December 31, 2023 and 72023512 31 H &2024F1 A1H
January 1, 2024 HIRER IR & 1,055
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 5+ A4R& 185 M E A 2 FE R R
and other comprehensive income 4
Deferred tax assets at December 31, 2024 MR2024F 12 A31H B IEE E 1,059
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31.

32.

288

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 31. IEEBIIE (&)
Deferred tax assets (continued) EEHIBEE (8)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MEINMs  ETEREHRBEENLAE
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. ERMBARRAKIEE TR ANERR
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the BFSsRE B VR IEER AR O T ¢
Group for financial reporting purposes:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Net deferred tax assets recognised in RirE B RIERE
the consolidated statement of financial EIEF IR B =R E
position 1,059 1,055
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in RirE B ARIERR
the consolidated statement of financial EIERIE B BT
position (1,331) (2,616)
SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 32. RAREFR®D
The Company was incorporated in May 2015 with an authorised A RIF2015F5 A sF A 32 0 0% TE IR
share capital of USD200,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 ordinary X /200,000 7T+ 9 £2,000,000,0008%
shares (“ordinary shares”) with a par value of USD0.0001 each. f% E{E0.0001E T L@k ([Zi8
Bl o
Shares &)
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFT
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRERT
764,182,114 (2023: 761,500,114) ordinary 764,182,114% (20234 :
shares of USD0.0001 each 761,500,1140%) &I EE
0.00013E T8 & AR 518 516
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BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 2. REAREFRS (&)
(CONTINUED) -
_ B ()
Shares (continued)
A summary of movements in the share capital is as follows: RAZEHENT
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERITRAHE &N
RMB’000
ARBF T
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1A1H 763,025,314 517
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note a) fEE T @Ak (MisEa) (1,525,200) (1)
At December 31, 2023 and R2023F12 A31H &

January 1, 2024 202441 A1H 761,500,114 516
Exercise of share options (note b) TR (MIsEDb) 2,682,000 2
At December 31, 2024 202412 H31H 764,182,114 518
Note a: In 2023, the Company repurchased and cancelled 1,525,200 ordinary Mizta: M20283F ARG MBREARYK

shares with a par value of USD0.0001 at total consideration of 10,117,0007T 5 [E] 37 5T §51,525,200/%
RMB10,117,000. FIEEA0.0001FTTH) LB -
Note b: In 2024, 2,682,000 ordinary shares with a par value of USD0.0001 MizEb : 720244 - A BB AR M E 1T My B 1T
were issued upon exercise of share options at total consideration of 2,682,0000% & % M {80.0001 3 JT ) I
RMB1,455,000. A% R E A A RA,455,0000T °
Treasury shares EFR %
On August 30, 2023, the Company adopted the 2023 Share R2023F8A30H * KX A 492023
Award Scheme (“2023 Scheme”). In 2024, the Company FRR EE) T8 ([2023F 51 8)) -
repurchased 25,682,200 (2023: 8,465,200) ordinary shares for 20244 - AN 2 A Bh20234F &t &) B f#
the 2023 Scheme at total consideration of RMB138,024,000 25,682,200/% (20234 : 8,465,200/% )
(2023: 61,164,000). None of the share reserved for 2023 Scheme TN ERE AR 138,024,0007T
has been granted as at December 31, 2024. As at December 31, (20234 : AR #61,164,0007T ) ° 722024
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury Shares (as defined F12A318 B EF2023F 52 TEE R
under the Listing Rules). A% 15 HE % H o FA2024F 12 A318 AR
AYEFEEENERRND (EER LT
AL -
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33.

290

SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN
2017 Share Option Plan

The Company adopted a share incentive plan (“2017 Share
Option Plan”) in 2018, as amended and restated in 2020 and
2021, for the purpose of attracting and retaining the best talents
who promote the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2017 Share Option Plan include the certain
directors of the Company, employees and consultants of the
Group. The Company may grant up to 131,580,321 share options

of the Company under the 2017 Share Option Plan.

Details of specific categories of options granted are as follows:

33. R B E
2017 B I REETH 2

AR R R2018F F 4 — Bk 10 SR Ep &
gl (To017F IR 8I) (20204
K202V BT RES]) - AR S| K& ¥ &
RERNEERNOREAA - 2017F
EREFENGER2EERELAR
AETESE A5EREREM-AQ
A Al IRIB2017F R TSR E &S
131,580,321 A~ B B A 4 o

RHr B R ERIFEWT

Number of Exercise price

Date of grant options granted per share Vesting Schedule

& A H REBREHE BRTEE HBEREX

May 2021 13,977,309 USD0.09000  Vesting in the portion of 15%, 20%, 30% and 35%
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the vesting commencement date

202145 A 13,977,309 0.09000%(7C  15%20%30% K%35% 7 Al B s A EE —
EZ FE-RFNAFTHER

May 2021 200,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 22.5%, 35%, 30% and
12.5% on the first, second third and fourth
anniversaries of the vesting commencement date

202154 200,000 0.09000Z Tt 22.5% *35%  30% N 12.5% 7 Bl 72 57 /8 7 16 H &
E— B FoZRFNAFTHR

May 2021 5,585,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 0%, 35%, 30% and 35%
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the vesting commencement date

202145 A 5,585,000 0.09000%(7C 0% *35% * 30% 35% 7 Al & B s B HigE — -
FZ FEZRFINAFTHR

May 2021 13,600,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in 48 equal monthly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

202154 13,600,000 0.00000F%7T BRI HBED48EAEESHEE

June 2021 19,996,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in 48 equal monthly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

202146 A 19,996,000 0.09000%7T HEMIKBE BEASESHEE

July 2022 2,208,553 USD0.22000 Vesting in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
vesting commencement date

20224 7AH 2,208,553 0.22000% 7T 35%30% Kk35% N RINFEHIEBHE - -F=
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

33. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED) 33. R REEHE (&)
2017 Share Option Plan (Continued) 2017 BB IR REST Bl (&)
Number of Exercise price
Date of grant options granted per share Vesting Schedule
REBH REUBRERE BRITEE HEREX
July 2022 200,000 USD0.22000 Vesting in 4 equal yearly instalments after the
vesting commencement date
20229F6 A 200,000 0.22000%7L HBERBAHEIFEELHHRE
October 2022 264,000 USDO0.33000 Vesting in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35% on

the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
vesting commencement date

2022101 264,000 0.330003 7T 35%30% M35% D RIN BRI HEE — 5=
RENBFRB
October 2022 462,500 USDO0.33000 Vesting in 4 equal yearly instalments after the
vesting commencement date
2022107 462,500 0.33000% 7t HERRABHEI4FEREHHRE
There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not FAEBEUNRASEE - ARBEELE
have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options. N eEEZ %ﬁ%ﬂﬂ& ALKE ?l%ZC_)W
The Group accounts for the 2017 Share Option Plan as an FRETEERREn BRI EETS
equity-settled plan. FTRIE
The following share options were outstanding under the share FRHR & EA AR B AR AT BRI AT
option plan during the reporting period: R SO 1 RT3
Weighted average Number
exercise price* of options
InEFEIGITREE BRERE
USD per share 000
BRET F1n
At December 31, 2023 and January 1, 72023 12H318 &

2024* 2024F1 /18~ 103,198
Forfeited during the year FrRRIK 0.1348 244
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.0559 5,764
At December 31, 2024* 720244512 4318 * 97,190
* As of December 31, 2024, underlying 90,210,735 shares under the * Bl £2024F12A31H  IRIF2017F B IR

options granted under the 2017 Share Option Plan had already been 8 5T B4 A0 BB AR 4 48 2 90,210,735
fully issued through treasury shares held in trust of the Company BB EBBARRERFANEFR
as detailed in note 32 and the remaining 6,979,017 options are stil D AE T (HBHANMEEI2) - MeR T
outstanding. 6,979,017 B ARAE ) i R 1T E
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33. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)

2017 Share Option Plan (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was nil
(2023: Nil).

2021 RSU Scheme

In June 2021, the Company adopted a restricted share unit
scheme (the “RSU Scheme”) to provide incentives for the
directors of the Company and the employees of the Group to
retain them, and to attract suitable personnel for the Group’s
further development. To implement the RSU Scheme, the
Company issued 10,004,000 ordinary shares to Sail Far Holdings
Limited in June 2021. On October 25, 2022, the Company
granted 10,004,000 restricted shares held in Sail Far Holdings
Limited under 2021 RSU Scheme to an employee of the Group.
The RSU shall be vested in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35%
on the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the vesting
commencement date. The fair value of each restricted share at
the grant date was determined by reference to the fair value of
the ordinary shares of the Company. 3,501,400 restricted share
units had been vested as at December 31, 2024.

The following restricted share units were outstanding under the
RSU Scheme during the reporting period:

33. R EREEE (&)
20175 B e s &l (4R)

R PR IR AT E AT (2023
) o

20215 Z [R F & 10 BB (v 51 &

R202156 A * AN Q R A X R & iz 19
BT ([ZBREIARMDELFTE]) - A
HEIRNARIEERAEE RS ABIER
L WAAEENE —FPERRS|EGHE
AT o BT EITZRHIRMDELTE
RN E) 202196 A [ Sail Far Holdings
Limited 2 7710,004,000/% & 3@ I% - A
2022 10A25R8 * A A AR #E20216F %
BREIRMDEMFTERAERN—RES
% ¥ 72 Sail Far Holdings Limited 3§ & Y
10,004,0000% 32 BB | f% 17 © 5 BR 1 % {9
BNERNEEBRBBHRE - -F=KE
PU 8 F 53 Bl #%35%  30% K235% HY Lt {7
FE-REHBH SRIREIRGNH
NEFETIZERARAEBRAORAFEE
7 ° A2024F12 A31H © 3,501,4000% &
PRI D BENLE IESR B ©

THIZ R B BRI IR E BRER IR X
BR Bl A ) BE L 5t B R R AT {68 -

Weighted average Number
exercise price* of RSU
hnfEF 13 5 Rl
TEE* ROENEE
USD per share 000
BRET T

At December 31, 2023 and January 1, R2023F 12 A31H &
2024 2024F1 414 0.00 10,004
Vested during the year FANRE 0.00 3,501
At December 31, 2024 202412 H31H 0.00 6,503
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2023 Scheme

In August 2023, the Company adopted the 2023 Scheme to (i)
recognize the contributions by certain eligible participants and
to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (i) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.
To implement the 2023 Scheme, the Company will purchase the
existing shares of the Company through on-market transactions
from time to time at the prevailing market price. The aggregate
number of shares awarded by the Company under the 2023
Scheme shall not exceed 3.00% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date, and the maximum number of
shares awarded to a selected participant shall not exceed 1.00%
of the issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month
period. In 2023, the Company repurchased 8,465,200 ordinary
shares for the 2023 Scheme. None of the shares reserved for
2023 Scheme had been granted as at December 31, 2024.

The Group recognized share-based expenses relating to 2017
Share Option Plan and 2021 RSU Scheme during 2024 amounts
to RMB67,624,000 (2023: RMB96,612,000).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

2023 51 &l

R2023F8 A » A Al ER #12023F 512 -
NORAETEEKRBEEZTR I
BREREER UWBEREAKESR
BB RE RERELD AR K(i) Rl
BEATHBAEEZE—SBE-A
B HE2023F 5T &) AR B TSRS
NRSGUARITHMEBE AR FIRBIG -
QA BIRIE2023F 51 8145 T A AR 10 42 2K
TEBBADFREMNABPEETRA
M3.00% F FETLEEN TS KRN
HH TEBBAR R PMEA121E B HAfE
B 31T I A H91.00% ° 20234 + KA A
20234 51 2/ 2] 3E8,465,200/% L 37 IX
20245128318 » B £ 52023F 1 2
TR MR MR -

NE B R2024F MR E2017F BB
HEEH &) K 20214 R # B D B 47 51
EEBUABRDAEROB I AA
R #67,624,0007T (2023%F : AR
96,612,0007T) °
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

294

CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(b)

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2024

34.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets of RMB31,354,000
(2023:RMB40,346,000) and non-cash additions to lease
liabilities of RMB31,354,000 (2023: RMB40,346,000), in

respect of lease arrangements for buildings.

EHBRERERHE

@ TEBFREXSZ

RERN  AEBEEBEFHELTH
MERAEEEERSEMABAR
#31,354,0007T (2023%F : A R#&
40,346,0000) R FHEB EIER S
# 10 A A R #31,354,0007T (2023
& AR¥40,346,0005T ) °

Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) METHERNEEE
activities (3]
2024 20244
Accrued Consideration
listing Advance and withholding
expenses payments tax payable for
includingin  received for Bank repurchase
Lease other payables subscription of and other  of Preferred
liabilities  and accruals  share options borrowings Shares
it LB X
(FTAH BEELRN
EAZER HIBEBRE  RORHE  KERER
HESRE EER)  WRNBX e RiH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETR  AR%Trn  AR®TR  AR%TR  AR%¥TR
At January 1, 2024 202441418 65,557 2,153 12,150 2,000 5,164
Changes from financing cash flows BB & EE (33,448) - (11,450) (180) -
Accretion of interest recognised ~ F REEREF| B3E 11
during the year 3,069 - - - -
New lease addition HAEEM 31,534 = - = -
Termination of lease RIFEE (21,123) - - - -
Disposal of subsidliaries HEHEBAR (©7) - - (1,820) -
At December 31, 2024 120245124318 45,492 2,153 700 - 5,164




34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H
4. EHEESRERMETE (E)

(b) %ﬁiﬁiﬂgﬁkﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁ

activities (Continued) (&)
2023 2023%F
Accrued Consideration
listing Advance and withholding
expenses payments tax payable
including in received for Bank  for repurchase
Lease  other payables  subscription of and other of Preferred
liabiities ~and accruals  share options borrowings Shares
JEst FRX
(GtARA EOExRN
EAFER HABERE  BORER  RERER
HEak EER)  WReBR &R B
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT  ARETR ARETR  ARETT  ARETET
At January 1, 2023 20231418 67,764 9,164 9,628 - 22,953
Changes from financing cash flows BERE L REE (35,681) (1,864) 2,522 2,000 (17,789)
Changes from operating cash flows &8 & FEEH - (5,147) - - -
Accretion of interest recognised
during the year FERBERHHN SN 3,489 - - - -
New lease addition AMEEEm 40,346 - - - -
Termination of lease RIIEE (12,095) - - - -
Acquisition of subsidliaries Wk B 1734 - - - -
At December 31,2023 12023124318 65,957 2,153 12,150 2,000 5,164
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF M. EHEESHRERMNE (&)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEHRESRHAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement FARERERNEERSRD
of cash flows is as follows: BWEEANTS ¢
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Within operating activities BRI EE 9,132 6,366
Within financing activities BREEEE 33,448 35,681
42,580 42,047
35. COMMITMENTS 35. H&IE
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end MEIREEAR - REF G A TE L) RIE:
of each reporting period:
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETF T
Contracted, but not provided for: REENEESZT-E
Purchases of property, WEME - BWEREF
plant and equipment 28 141
Total st 28 141
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BB ARS
(@) Names and relationships (@) BBRER
Name of related parties Relationship with the Group
BT 2R EA KB R ER
Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (1L 78 Bk 225 R A F)) Associate*
I RIREZEAR AR i l/N
Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent**
RINT A ERRGAR DA Fi 6 A 12 1 >
Tencent Music Entertainment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent**
B ELIREE ORIDBRAR F [ AR % il
Tencent Cloud (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent**
BAEHE (LR)BEREERA P [ AR 4% i)
Tencent Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent**
AR ORY) AR F] P 6 FLI%E ol
Tenpay Technology Company Limited Controlled by Tencent**
MR NEEAR QA P 6 FLI%E ol
Tencent Technology (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent**
PR (B#E) AR A F] P [ AR 4% i)
Hainan Tencent Internet Hospital Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent™
B E R AEERER AR F [ R % il
Tencent Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent**
BRI (LE8)BRATF P 8RR % i)
Guangzhou Tencent Technology Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent™*
BN B SRR A PR A A F 88 SR % i)
Tencent Healthcare (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent™*
BB EER ORIDBRAR P 8 AR % il
Tencent Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent™*
EAEE (ER)BRAF P [ AR 4% il
Tencent Music Entertainment Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tencent™*
AFLRERE ORI BRAF P [ R % i)
* Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. had become an associate * 1L 78 B B8 855 R 2 /) §20234F3
of the Group since March 7, 2023, R7THEKAREE B E AR -
**  Tencent was a major shareholder of the Company which owned * FA2024%F [2023%F - fEF B AR ]
over 20% voting rights of the Company during the years 2024 I EZERR  #EE AR A HEiE20%
and 2023. EIR R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. A RXZ (&)

(b) Significant related party transactions (b) EXBHARS
The Group had the following material related party REBRE E2024%12H31H 1k
transactions during the year ended December 31, 2024: FECETUTERBEBARS:
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR TR ARBTT
Rendering of services R
Controlled by Tencent Fh g SR @) 2,769 10
Purchase of technology BERMXFRSE
support services
Controlled by Tencent B e aRE Sl (b) 1,678 1,687

Purchase of payment services & E X {1 R 1§

Controlled by Tencent R g AR E &l (b) 4,256 4,242
Purchase of products BEEM

Associate i Rl/N (b) 12,119 8,047
Loans to an associate m—REEATER

Associate i El/NC] (© - 6,000
Interest income FE WA

Associate /N (© - 200
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The service rendered to entities controlled by Tencent was based
on arm’s length negotiation between the Group and entities
controlled by Tencent on a cost-plus basis with reference to the
expected cost of promotion work that Group have completed.

The purchases of services and products from an associate
and entities controlled by Tencent were based on arm’s length
negotiation between the Group and an associate or the Group
and entities controlled by Tencent with reference to market rates.

The loan is short-term loan to Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. amounting to RMB6,000,000 in total with an annual interest
rate of 6.00% and the due date is June 14, 2024.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

36. Bt LS (&
b) EXBABAIXRS (&)

GEZ

(@ A E B AR B RO B BB IR R0 IR 7B
Ty P N 5 6 B o SR L RO BB
BERAINPOS  B2EREED T
BRH) B TR RO TR A P Bk
PEEE

b A REEAF A BRES
ERBEERBLERDRAEKE
B RS N R AEE E g
AEHNEBSENSERER

© ZEFAMLUARRBEGRA
AIEEREEBHEN BEAARE
6,000,0007T * £ FI| % /6.00% ' |
HIE A202496 4148 °
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. A RXZ (&)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (c) B T 2B K& B
BREE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes Nature RMB’000 RMB’000
P& & ARET R ARETT

Amounts due from related FE Wi B 5 SR0E

parties:
Trade and bills receivables ESENERERER
Controlled by Tencent F A trade
(@) 25 824 1
Other receivables HinEKFRIE
Associate B RE (o) non-trade
*E5 - 6,200
Prepayments BAME
Controlled by Tencent F B A trade
) g5 931 1,490
1,755 7,701
Amounts due to related FE{S BEE T S
parties:
Other payables HibERAFE
Controlled by Tencent B B AL trade
(d) 25 49 110
Trade and bills payables ESEARERERER
Associate k=N trade
() =) 77 367
Total @it 126 arr
The balances with related parties are unsecured and BT oA AERER
non-interest-bearing. "B
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

)

(d)

Outstanding balances with related parties
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)  The outstanding balances are receivables for the rendering of
health insurance services.

The outstanding balances were short-term loans to Shanxi Sipai
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. amounting to RMB6,000,000 in total
with an annual interest rate of 6.00%, which were settled in
2024.

(c) The outstanding balances are prepayments for the purchase of
cloud servers.

The outstanding balances are payables for the purchase of cloud
servers.

(e) The outstanding balances are payables for the purchase of

products.

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2024 2024%12831H

36. AL X5 (&)

() ERRAEE S M REBF
BREE: ()

GEZ

@)

RAEERHBHRERERRRS
) 8 YR IR @

REEEHRAMLABRIRELES
MR A E R A £ A R #6,000,000
TCHIAE B E B A 2 56.00% -

B IR20244F #5575 ©

RAEERHBABEZRIREHIE
BESEE

REERBRHBEBRARHE
B A5 3R IR @

RAEERBABEERNBMNRX
Ho

d ZEBFTEEEAEN
A -

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e B4 RN

benefits in kind EiE A 3,982 8,354
Pension scheme contributions RIREE SR 83 143
Share-based payment compensation S BN & EL A 2 A5 7Y 5 B - 63,730

Total compensation paid to key SNTEEERABNTH
management personnel B 42 %8 4,065 72,227

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.

BREZERERITBRABHMAN

W —

10 °

FEREBEN M REME
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
b S E

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

37. RERHE S THNEMIA
ZHREeMTARSREHROEMED

instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets ERMEE AR¥T T ARBET T
Financial assets at FVTPL: BERAFEFTAEBRED
Monetary fund EBES 60,143 117,045
Wealth management products B EE W 474,683 80,230
Structured deposits EEMEER 96,955 281,073
Subtotal /INET 631,781 478,348
Financial assets at amortised cost: BN AR A RS
Trade and bills receivables H 5 EWGIE Kk ERE R 276,048 329,955
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t AFEA Z0IE - H i fE Uk
other receivables and other assets HIEREMEER
TREE 117,864 117,615
Time deposits TE BRTF 3R 201,807 331,427
Pledged deposits [ iRER N 105,439 147,115
Cash held on behalf of client REFFENRE 148,688 299,755
Amounts due from related parties JiE U BA B 5 5K I8 824 6,211
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREeEHEY 252,917 495,425
Subtotal NEF 1,103,587 1,727,503
Total st 1,735,368 2,205,851
Financial liabilities EA =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHEN AT 20
SRAE:
Trade and bills payables B ENFBRENEE 412,803 464,269
Financial liabilities included in other BT A E b FE S RRIE K
payables and accruals EErERANEHRAE 267,339 328,275
Amounts due to related parties J& 1~ BABS: 75 3RI8 126 477
Bank and other borrowings RITREME R - 2,000
Total MET 680,268 795,021
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, cash held on behalf of client, time deposits, pledged
deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, amounts due to
related parties, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the financial director
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At the end
of each reporting period, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors review
the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments
periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The Group invests in unlisted investments, mainly composed of
wealth management products and monetary fund provided by
banks in Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair values
of these unlisted investments by using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments
with similar terms and risks.

38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

TENRAFERRFE

gl k>
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EEEMERAS BEMASEED:
REFKANRS EHEFR CHER

FR-BEHRRFAREBKRER B5
JE A FROR e e B 9B St ATR A FRR
Hit YRR R EEEN S REE -
& e [ Bt 0 KR PR RA B DT SRR - A
ARMENFELEFERNSHEE

M&ﬁﬂ&ﬁm%ﬁm AHEEEARE
ERE TERARZEIANHRK
i

REBPKE (R BBEERE)BE
BTemT AAFETEMBENER -
REREHR BTN ERITEN
BEEZE VETHARGEENTEZEHA
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FrEER ETH RS-

TREENBENATERIAESR
B ZBAMETR S (T RIEERHIHE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group’s financial instrument:
Assets measured at fair value:

As at December 31, 2024

L SMIAMATERATE
B ()

AT EER
TRGAAREESBTANRFEFE
Z

BRATVEFENEE:

20245F12831H

Fair value measurement using

ERATSENRFEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERT IS EATEE EAFTER
HE BARE BABE
(F14R) (%24) (%3%) Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTR AR%BTR ARETR
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABZENEHEE - 631,781 - 631,781
As at December 31, 2023 72023F12H31H
Fair value measurement using
FERANTEENRTETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BT BAAHE BATIER
WE BARE BABR
(F18) (F28R) (E3%) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEHABENEREE - 478,348 - 478,348

During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2023: Nil).
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, pledged deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL and convertible redeemable preferred shares.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade
and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarized below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from financing activities by subsidiaries in currencies other
than the subsidiaries’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of each
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the USD and
HKD exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s loss before tax (arising from USD and HKD denominated
financial instruments) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in
the fair value of forward currency contracts).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

39. TRl EREREEEREXK

AEENTIESRTIAGERE KRS
FEY THEX CHERER BLF
BFF AREM S B E & K 7] E R A] g Ol
BER- ZEERMIANTIEANER
AEBENELEERES AREHEES
BEMEMEENBE WEERRALS
ELENE HRUGRIEREREEARE
ZENFIBAL BN ER -

AEBoR T AEENT ERRAINE
R EERBRERDECRAR -ESF
SEHNYREEE L& RARABER
BRABCRBRT -

S BEE JeRL B

AEBEERZEEEER - AR R
BRI P B8 2 BI PAB BB 2 B Th B2 & LA SN
EREITRE RS MESL

TRINRN & &S B R P A H ] &
AEERFTENBER T NEBEBRT
AR (AXTRABTHEN S/ TR
EX)RAEENES (RERERS
MR TFEEFMB)EETRBTE
KHB SRR F B GURE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 390. £ BiE M EE A B R B XK

POLICIES (48)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) INEE R P (48)
Increase/
(decrease) (Decrease)/
in rate increase (Decrease)/
of foreign in loss increase
currency before tax in equity
EREH A BRBE AT & 1R Ex
(TH) (TB) /" LtH (TE) Lt#H
% RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

2024 20244

If RMB weakens against USD M AR ETRE 5 (17) (17
If RMB strengthens against USD il A R#E 3 X T FHE (5) 17 17
If RMB weakens against HKD M AREREBILEE 5 (219 (219)
If RMB strengthens against HKD  fifi A R #E 338 T FHE (5) 219 219
2023 20234

If RMB weakens against USD M ARERETRE 5 (20) (20)
If RMB strengthens against USD il A R#E W X T FHE (5) 20 20
If RMB weakens against HKD M AREHEBILEE 5 277) @77
If RMB strengthens against HKD  fisi A R ¥ 5B T FHE 5) 277 277
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 390. 2 RiEMEEBEERKE
POLICIES (CONTINUED) (48)
Credit risk ZERE
An impairment analysis was performed at reporting period using a RPERRE NG A REEEETR
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision Bof U EBHEEEE -BEXR
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various TR ERNIEEIA S EESELEEERE
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects N ZEEEAEE =& L= N
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money and AR SEEEEBENLRNRNTSE BER
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the EESWNEBBESEH 2R LRk
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts AR IR S IR N BB ER -
of future economic conditions.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EeEBENERERER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRKIERAAI2AIIEBNEEEEZLER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which AREBZERENESZERE (FE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information HRN@ HE K B IE 8 E 8 % Ak AN 5k %%
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging JIBN RIS H M B B LA R FF R AT EE P&
classification as at 31 December. EEPnfE-
At December 31, 2024 12024F12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A 78 59
FEBR FEOEHEERSE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1P B FRER HIREER K @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TE AR¥Tn AR¥TR AR¥Tz AR%Tx
Trade and bills receivables* EoRUFEREKEE" - - - 308,983 308,983
Contract assets* BWEE" - - - 188,083 188,083
Financial assets included in AR FE  Eb R
prepayments, other receivables  FUB R E i & EH)
and other assets TREE 117,864 - - = 117,864
Amounts due from related parties &R B E 5 2B 824 - - - 824
Time deposits THER 201,807 - - = 201,807
Pledged deposits EERER 105,439 - - - 105,439
Cash held on behalf of clients REFHEMRS 148,688 - - = 148,688
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHEEEY 252,917 - - - 252,917
Total Bt 827,539 - - 497,066 1,324,605
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. £ BiEKREE A ERBX

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EoREEEERFEREBR
(Continued) (&)
At December 31, 2023 7M2023F12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A A
FEBE FENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIER FEER RIER B @t

RVB'OO0O ~ RVMB'O00 ~ RMB'O00 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Trade and bills receivables* B RNFER EREE - - = 345,148 345,148
Contract assets* BREE" - - - 135,746 135,746
Financial assets included in AR E bk
prepayments, other receivables  FUB R E i EEH
and other assets SREE 117,615 - - - 117,615
Amounts due from related parties &4 B % 5 2B 6,211 - - - 6,211
Time deposits TEHER 331,427 - - - 331,427
Pledged deposits EERER 147,115 - - - 147,115
Cash held on behalf of clients REPHANRE 299,755 - - - 299,755
Cash and cash equivalents Be MBS EEY 495,425 - - - 495,425
Total Bt 1,397,548 - - 480,894 1,878,442
* For trade and bills receivables and contract assets to which the Group * MAEBFERBHAETHRENE S
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on FEWRENEWEZERANEEMS
the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 23 and 24 to the financial E R E 5B [ 59 & R D B R B 16 3R 5% MY
statements, respectively. FT23 2445 55 o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor
° a breach of contract such as a default or past due event

° it is probable that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment
of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in
the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records and past
experience. The Group recognized allowance for financial assets
other than trade and bills receivables based on 12-month ECLs
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

39.
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December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

310

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated
cash flows from operations and lease liabilities. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has

adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities and lease
liabilities as at the end of each reporting period, based on the

9. ¢ MAKREEEERKE

(%)
REE = @k

AEEN B R EBERRIEENE

2ReREMMERARE

TN AE

1

Az R R - AR B E e

NETRESMN  URRESR BRI
BERBETEMBGEE-

REBREHR AEBEeRBENREE
BEERSHORMBANRNIHRBE NN

contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows: S8
Group NEE
2024
20244
Less than 3to 12 1to5 More than
3 months months years 5 years Total
TE3MEA  3E12(8A 1Z5% HEB5E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AR%Tr AR%Tr AR%Tz AR%Tx
Trade and bills payables E 5 RIE R ER
FiE 412,803 - - - 412,803
Financial liabilities included in other 5 A\ L4t & 1~ 5008 J& JE 5t
payables and accruals ERAMERAE 267,339 - - - 267,339
Amounts due to related parties FES BB 7 70R 126 - - - 126
Lease liabilities HEEE 6,147 16,372 27,965 160 50,644
Total FE 686,415 16,372 27,965 160 730,912
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

0. ¢MAREEEBERKE

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#8)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELSRE (&)
Group AEE
2023
20234
Less than 31012 1t05 More than
3 months months years 5 years Total
AE3EA  3E1208A 1256 HR@SE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TrT ARETT ARETr ARETr
Bank and other borrowings FATRE SR 2,000 - - - 2,000
Trade and bills payables BORNFBERENER 464,269 - - - 464,269
Financial liabilities included in other 5t A KL fth B {4 208 [k fE 5+
payables and accruals ERmEmAR 328,275 - - - 328,275
Amounts due to related parties FE< BB 7 70R 477 - - - 477
Lease liabilities HERE 7,002 21,803 40,561 653 70,019
Total Fey 802,023 21,803 40,561 653 865,040

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

EXEHE

AEBEREANEEZRRARERE
R - UXHBEEBRSEREERA
(o

AEBRBEEEMRRE N RABEERN
RS EEEARBIYEHRARE A
IS AREAEE AEEAEAE
MR TS - AR R E B A
BATHRAD c REBAF T M EF 58 H0
B E R B SRA) R - A 220244 2023
FI2ABIBLLFE EBERANERZR:

BERSIEF I EE S -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 39. £ BiE MR EE A ER B X

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Capital management (Continued) EXRERE(E)
The asset-liability ratios as at the end of each reporting period are RERE RN EEAGBLE RN :
as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Total assets BEE 2,265,292 2,815,040
Total liabilities wmBeE 1,063,706 1,183,889
Asset-liability ratio BEAGBLE 47% 42%
Note: Asset-liability ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets s BEARLREEEBERINBEERFE
and multiplying the product by 100%. LA100% 515 ©
40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 40. EHEREE
No significant event occurred after the reporting period. REBAB W EE AT EAEIE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41. R B BT T

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the AN BRI A HI R B B #5003/ B R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: NS
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB R RMIRE 3,892,405 3,824,780
Financial assets at FVTPL-non & A F{Ezt A8 1
current SREE—IERE 60,263
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 3,952,668 3,824,780
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables T8/~ FXI8 « E b FE UL
and other assets RERHEMEE 180 119
Amounts due from subsidiaries  J& Uz Fft B A 7 A 42,332 42,632
Cash and cash equivalents RehASEFED 1,088 48,583
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFABERRN
TREE 96,836 117,045
Total current assets MEEERE 140,436 208,379
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Other payables and accruals HiEMNRIBEREGEA 210,907 11,952
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATH B A R RTE 153,173 213,941
Total current liabilities mENBERTE 364,080 225,893
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ 7B (&) &EEFE
ASSETS (223,644) (17,514)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,729,024 3,807,266
NET ASSETS BEFHE 3,729,024 3,807,266
EQUITY =
Share capital A% 515 513
Reserves {1 3,728,509 3,806,753
Total equity 4R 3,729,024 3,807,266

BRRENEARAT —B-mEER 313



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2024 2024412A31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

M. AAFBBEMRRET (8)

The balances of the Company’s (deficits)/reserves and the

WEHN - RRFE (B, REERR

movements therein for the reporting period are presented as KM EEEFD RO
follows:
Foreign
Share-based currency
Treasury Capital Other payment translation Accumulated
shares reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
NRGRER
ERRB EXiE Hftfife WXARE MEFERE 2itE# @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%ETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1A1H - 8,981,052 (312,322) 747914 (484,569)  (5,142,140) 3,789,935
Total comprehensive ~~ FRZEAKRA/
income/(expense) for (B )&
the year = = = = 4303 (17,087) (12,784)
Repurchase of the BOEER
ordinary shares (61,164) (10,117) - - - - (71,281)
Exercise of share options 17152 36 J i - 49154 - (44,883) - - 4211
Share-based payment A3 AR (4
compensation e - - - 96,612 - - 96,612
At December 31,2023 720234128318
and January 1, 2024 202451 B 1A 61,164 9,020,089 (312,322) 799,643 (480266)  (5,159.227) 3,806,753
Total comprenensive  ERZERA/
income/(expense) for  (Fi%) &%
the year - - - - 1623 (11,794) (10,171)
Repurchase of the BEEER
ordinary shares (138,024) - - - - - (138,024
Exercise of share options T Bk 1E 2 28,282 - (25,957) - - 2,327
Share-hased payment  WR(R BERE T 4
compensation i - - - 67,624 - - 67,624
At December 31,2024 FA2024%12 3318 (199185 9,048,371 (312,322) 841,310 (@78643  (171021) 3728509

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. #tEM KR E

KA FE MR F2025F3H18H K EEE
HefE N R T3 o

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue
by the board of directors on March 18, 2025.
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DEFINITIONS
B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the RARFHA BXERBAIEIN THFAZR

following expressions shall have the following meanings.

“AGM”
[BRBFEANE]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEZEg]

“Board of Directors” or
“Board”

EL3 1

“BVI”
[(REBRELES]

“CG Code”
[XER<TAl

“China” or “PRC”
[H B
“Company”, “our

Company”
AN

“Director(s)”
(&%)

“Global Offering
[EBREE]

“GP(s)”
(2R L]

” oo

“Group”, “our Group”,

“OUY”, “We”, or nusu

[AR&EE ] =k [P

“Hong Kong”

(&%

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[l

“IFRS”

BATEE-

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, June 20, 2025
RRARER2025F6 H20R (2H ) BITHRRBEFRE

the audit committee of the Board
EEgERLEE

the board of Directors

58

IS

the British Virgin Islands
RERIES

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

EAR RIS CIERTE M [ EE AR

the People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
PEARANE BAFHRLEHMRZ2EN S  TEEEE RFILAE

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd., an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on May 19, 2015 )
BIRERERAR AR R2015F5 108 R ERERS EEAMN LN EREE
[RA7A]

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

ARRABEFHEFEIA—RES

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
EEAHBEENERZEE

the general practitioner who treat common medical conditions and refer patients to
hospitals and other medical services for urgent and specialist treatment

AEERARLEEABD SR LARRRNSRELTREREMARN2
8

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities, or any
one of them as the context may require or, where the context refers to any time prior
to its incorporation, the business which its predecessors or the predecessors of its
present subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may require, were or was
engaged in and which were subsequently assumed by it
RRBIAREMENB AR R EGEMBER AR EA—FHAR (MXEMIE)
sk (AR IR B MR S AR (RIS ) BRI B s HIR BB A RI& AT & - s E
ER—EAR (MXEME) RERHERHARNER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B E B R RITT R

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
DRRETREN FEEEEH

International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued from time to time by the
International Accounting Standards Board
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DEFINITIONS
B=

[ B B 7% e & 22 R

“Listing”
Mshil

“Listing Rules”
[ R 8]
“Model Code”
[1E <7l

“New Contractual
Arrangements”

[#& D HE ]
“Reporting Period”

[ ¥ 5 5

“Prospectus”

[ ER ]

“RMB”
[AR® ]

“Share(s)” or
“Ordinary Share(s)”
[ ] sk [ EimAk ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“SMO”
[SMO |

“Stock Exchange”
6 52 Ffr |

“Tencent”
[ Em ]

“Tencent Group”
[EAEE]

“United States” or “U.S.”

SN

"US§’
EH

ll%”
[% |

316 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO

B % & 51 2 B 3% =5 & A B AR A O BRI R B 7 o o E R

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PAD OB A2 P E AR TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)
BEABMERIMAERAARZ S AR (K TEHERT - # s A= 75 HER)

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. o )
FARRIMERCIME [ LM BT AZERETESF X MRS

the series of contractual arrangements entered into between, among others, the Sipai
Healthcare Investment, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the as detailed in the
announcement of the Company dated December 7, 2023 and as amended, restated,
renewed, reproduced or joined from time to time

B(EFREE BREREE GABBERIUN—RIEG0TH #FRARRA
B A2023F 12 A7TEI A S K TKEET 8| FH - ERHSE A

for the year ended December 31, 2024
HE2024F12A31B L FE

the prospectus of the Company dated December 12, 2022
RAFIHEAR20226F12A12B M BRER

Renmjinbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR HBEEESE

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the
Company -
AN AR AN & AR EE0.0001 35 7T H 3 3@ AR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFE A

site management organization, an organization that provides clinical trial related
services to medical device companies having adequate infrastructure and staff to meet
the requirements of the clinical trial protocol

B ERAER RBEREMAREEGERARBEREHEE ZIRBEREBTER
KRBT RERNRTEERRBRAR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERIMAERATR

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 700) ) )

BEFIERR B R AR — KM AERZFT ETH A A (AR5 700)

Tencent, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities

BB Ar RHREEEE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction B

EFBERE EEL B ASXERAEENTEHE

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XBUEEE®

per cent
Bkt

., LTD. Annual Report 2024
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